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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF BYBLOS BANK SAL

Qualified Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Byblos Bank SAL (the “Bank™) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2016, and the
consolidated income statement, consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in gquity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes 10 the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, except for the effects of the matter described in the “Basis for Qualified Opinion™ section of our
report, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present Fairky, in all material respects, the consolidated
financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2016 and its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
{IFRSs).

Basis for Qualified Opinion

As disclosed in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements, during 2016, the Group did not recognize in the
consolidated income statement an amount of LL 126,682 million in gains realized from certain lransactions on
financial insttuments with the Central Bank of Lebanon, The Group recognized this amount under “Deferred
revenues” within “Other liahilities” in compliance with Central Bank of Lebanon's Intermediate Circular number
446 dated 30 December 2016. Furthermore, as disclosed in note 37 1o the consolidated financial statements, the
Group recorded excess provisions amounting to LL 102,480 million under “Provisions for risks and charges” in
arder to comply with the provisioning requirements of Central Bank of Lebanon's Intermediate Circular number 439
dated 8 November 2016, The Group's accounting for the above-memtioned transactions depanis from the
requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs). Had the Group properly accounted for these
transactions, events and conditions, in accordance with Intermational Financial Reporting Standards, the effects on
the consolidated financial statements would have been as follows:

o Netincome for the year ended 31 December 2016 would have increased by LL 229,162 millien through an
increase in “Net gain from financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss” by LL 108,392 million,
an increase in “Net gain from sale of financial assets at amortized cost”™ by LL 40,692 million, a decrease in
“Provisions for risks and charges™ by LL 102,480 million and an increase in “Income tax expense™ by LL
22,402 million;

+  Total liabilities as at 31 December 2016 would have decreased by LL 229,162 million, through a decrease
in “Deferred revenues” (reflected under “Other liabilities™) by LL 126,682 million and a decrease in
“Provisions for risks and charges” by LL 102 480 million; and

« Equity as at 31 December 2016 would have increased. through an increase in net income, by LL 229,162
million,

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (1SAs). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the “Awditors * Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statemenis'' section of our reporl. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants” Code of Ethics for Professional Accamtants (IESBA Code) wgether with the
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in Lebanon, and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sulficient and appropriate 1o provide a basis for our qualified opinion.
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Other Information Included in the Group's 2016 Annual Report
Other information consists of the information included in the Group's 2016 Annual Report other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditors’ report therean, Management is responsible for the other

infarmation. The Group's 2016 Annual Report is expected to be made available to us afier the date of this auditors’
report,

Qur opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we will not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the conselidated financial statements or our knowledge ebtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

When we read the Annual Report, if we conclude thar there is a material misstatement therein, we are required to
communicate the matier to the audit committee and we will exercise professional judgement 1o determine whether we
need 1o take appropriate action o seek 10 have the uncorrected misstatement appropriately brought to the attention of
users for whom the auditors’ report is prepared.

As described in the “Basiv for Qualified Opinion” section above, the Group did not recognize certain gains and
recorded excess provisions for risks and charges in the consolidated income statement. When we read the Annual
Report, we will consider whether the other information included in the Annual Report is also materially misstated for
these matters. 1f we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the matier
1o the audit commirttee and we will exercise professional judgement to determine whether we need 10 take
appropriate action to seek to have the uncorrected misstatement appropriately brought 1o the attention of users for
whom the auditors’ report is prepared.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the vear ended 3| December 2016, In addition to the matter deseribed in the
“Baxis for Qualified Opinion" section of our repott, we have determined the matters described below 1o be the key
audit matters to be communicated in our report. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate

opinien on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in
that context,

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the “Anditors ' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consalidated
Financial Statements” section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included
the performance of procedures designed to respond 1o our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our qualified audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial
statements,

impatrment of Loans and Advances

Due o the inheremtly judgemenal nature of the computation of impairment provisions for loans and advances, there
is @ risk that the amount of impairment may be misstated. The impairment of loans and advances is cstimated by
management through the application of judgement and the use of subjective assumptions. Due 10 the significance of
loans and advances and related estimation uncertainty, this is considered a kev audit visk. The corporate loan
portfolio generally comprises larger loans that are monitored individually by management. The assessment of loan
loss impairment is therefore based on management’s knowledge of each individual borrower. This includes the
analysis of the financial performance of the borrower, historic experience when assessing the likelihood of incurred
losses in the portfolios and the adeguacy of collateral for secure lending. However, consumer loans generally comprise
much smaller value loans 1o a much greater number of customers. Provisions aré not calculated on an individual
basis, but are determined by grouping by product into homogeneous portfolios. The portfolios are then monitored
through delinguency statistics, which drive the assessment of loan loss provision.
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Key Audit Matters (continued)

Impairnent of Loans and Advances (contined)
The risks outlined above were addressed by us as follows:

»  For corporate customers, we tested the key controls over the credit grading process, to assess if the risk
grades allocated to the counterparties were appropriate. We then performed detailed credit assessment of all
loans in excess of a defined threshold and loans in excess of a lower threshold in the watch list category and
impaired category together with a selection of other loans.

¢ Where impairment allowance was calculated on a collective basis for performing corporate loans, we tested
the completeness and aceuracy of the underlying lean information used in the impairment model by
agreeing details to the Group's source systems as well as re-performing the caleulation of the modelled
impairment allowances. For the key assumptions in the model, we assessed whether those assumptions were
appropriate in the circumstances,

¢  For consumer loans, specific and collective impairment allowances are caleulated using a simple model,
which are bused on a percentage of repayments due but not yet paid. We understood and critically assessed
the model used and checked that no undue changes had been made in model parameters and assumptions.
We tested the completeness and accuracy of data from underlying systems that is used in this model, We
also re-performed the calculation of the modelled impairment allowance.

Responsibilities of Management and the Audit Commitiee for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in
accordance with [FRSs, and for swch internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement. whether due to fraud or
2ITOT,

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability 1o
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of aceounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no
realistic alternative but 1o do s0.

The audit committee is responsible for everseeing the Group's financial reporting process.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonabsle assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and 1o issue an auditors’ report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordunce with 15As will always detect a material misstatement when it exists, Misstatements can arise from frand
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated Mnancial statements.

As pant of an audit in accordance with 1SAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit, We also:

o ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate 1o provide a hasis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentitions, or the override of internal contral.
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Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
+  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an apinion on the effectiveness of
the Group's imternal contral,

¢ Lyvaluate the appropristencss of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by management,

s  Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obfained, whether a material uncertainty exists relaled to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
apinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease o continue as a going cohcern.

#  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
evenls in a manner that achieves fair presentation,

»  Obtain sulficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the censolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audil committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audir.

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards,

Fram the martters communicated with the audit committee, we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters, We
describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public diselosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determing that a matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
commiunication,

The partners in charge of the audit resulting in this independent auditors’ repont are Wazih Borghol for Emst &
Young and Antoine Gholam for BDO, Semaan, Gholam & Co,

(s / ((%m P
Emst & Young BDG,Memaan.ﬁﬁula & Co.

31 March 201
Beirut, Lebanon



Byblos Bank SAL

('DNSD[:T DATED INCOME STATEMENT
For the year ended 31 December 2016

Interest and somlar income
Interest and similar expense

NET INTEREST INCOME

Fee and commission income
Fee anid commission expense

NET FEE AXND COMMISSION INCOME

et gain from financial instruments at fair value theough profic or loss

Mel pain from sale of financial pssels at amortized cosl

Dividend income from firancial assets af fair valoe through other
compiehensive mcome

Other operating income

TOTAL OPERATING INCOME

Met credit gaing {losses)
Impairment losses on financial (nvestments

NET OPERATING INCOME

Personnel expenses

(Hher operaling expenses

Depreciation of property and equipment
Amortisation of intangibles assels
Impairment of goodwill

TOTAL OPERATING EAPENSES

OPERATING PROFIT

Provisioms for risks and charges
Fereign currency translation losses on deconsolidation of subsidiaries
Net gain on disposal of property and equipment

FROFIT BEFORE TAX
Incoms tax expense
FROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Aftributahle
Equity holders of the parent
Mon-controlling interests

Earnings per share

Equity sharehalders of the parent:
Basic earnings per share
Dihned eanings per shire

Nafey

§
9

I

12

x

4

%)

15
I%

2016 2015

LL mitfion LL mitlon
1,545,922 1,489,087
{1,176,124) (L0277
© 369798 386,306
134,122 134,515
[12,515) (12 564)
121,607 121,951
79,970 67,443
417,699 86,930
4,413 4,383
17,803 20,935
1,021,290 637,967
8,925 (47,908)
(49,676) .
980,539 H40,059
(195,787) (180,792)
(145474) (139,187)
[22,415) {23,466)
(113) {159)
{12,427) -
(76,2260 (343,604
604,313 206,455
(102, 450) .
(137,890 i
1 33
363,954 296,520
(114,719) i53,083)
149,135 243437
132,672 228,185
16,563 15,252
249,235 243,437
LL L

Ry RS 31918
31018 0371

The attached notes | to 54 form part of these conselidated financial statements.
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Byblos Bank SAL

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the vear ended 31 December 2016

2016 2005
Notes L milfion LL miillion

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 249,235 243,437

OTHER COMPRENENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
frewms i be reclassiffed fo e incomee statement in subsequent pecipds:
Exchange difference on translannn of foreign operations (68,161) 41,114y

Net other comprehensive loss to be reclassified to the income statement in

subsequeni periods (68,161) (41,114
Feeams not to be reclossiffed to the ficome statesient in swbsequent periods: =
Net uneealized toss from Ninancial asseis at feie value theongh other comprehensive

income 44 (1,306) (503)
Income tax eifect £ 194 73
(1,112) (428)
Re-measurement (losses) gains on dedined benefit plans 37 {a) (99) 474
Net other comprehensive (10ss) income nof o be reclassified 10 the income
statement in subsequent periods (1,211 46
OTHER COMPRENENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX {69,372) {41,068)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR TIE YEAR, NET OF TAX 179,863 202,369
Antributable o
Equity holdees of the parem 190,591 198,746
Mon-coniralling interests {10,728) 3623
179,863 202369

The atached notes 1 1o 34 form part of these consolidmed fnancial statements.

&



Byblos Bank SAL

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSﬁ]DN
At 31 December 2016

2016 205
Notey LE rmilitton LEL miitfon
ASSETS
Cash and balances with cenlral banks 1% 8,783,002 7,236,217
[ue from banks and financial institutions 10 1657,429 2,518,303
Loans (o banks and financial institotions and reverse repuichnse agreentents 21 964,066 1. 197,047
Financinl assets given as colfateal 22 124,044 1,405
Denvative linancial instrumesis 23 4420 1,844
Financial asscts al fair value thiough prafit or loss 4 789,172 295845
Met loans and advances to cestomers at am-orized cost 2% 7,787,175 7,359 641
Wetloans and advances to relped parties al amortized cost 4h 714 35,275
Diebtors by acceptances 123883 244,705
Financigl assels at amortized cost 20 9,416,979 10,516,514
Financial assets al fair value through other comprehensive income 7 101305 1olanT
Property and equipment 28 TS5 255,125
Intangihle assels 24 350 493
Assets obtaened in settternent of debi an 43,199 42,006
Ohtfier assels il IR[IERES 108 601
TOTAL ASSETS 31,373,501 13054 410
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Liatiliries
Chue to central kanks 32 332971 117412
[rue to banks and financial (nstitetions i3 TTd.035 744,554
Derivative Nnancial instoenients 23 1,106 2,445
Customers’ depasits al amortized cost 34 15415634 24,654,108
[eposits from related parties al amortred cost 46 366,027 425,749
Dbt issued and other borrowyed funds 35 444,072 445199
Engagements by acceprances 213,843 244,705
Oher Liabilities kL 399,813 147,567
Provisions [or risks and charges 7 178,390 171,538
Subardinated debe 33 420,165 417400
TOTAL LIABILITIES 28,654,156 11370967
EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE TARENT
Shure capital - common shares 9 684,273 634,273
Share capital - preferred shires 19 1,540 4,840
Share premaum — conimon shanes 39 229014 220014
Share premium — prefemed shares 19 SOL083 SO1.083
Mon distribuiable reserves &0 B433M0 815884
Distributable reserves 4 103,346 a1
Treasury shares iz {5,161) (6,807)
Retained camings 67,518 fil 232
Revaluation reserve of neal esiate 41 5684 S68Y
Change in fair value of financial assets al fair value through olher
comprehensive incoms 14 (9081 ) (1.961)
Met pesults of the financial period - profit 231672 228,185
Foreign curmency translation reserve {65.341) (193.842)
21692072 2,511,401
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 37,363 72,042
TOTAL EQUITY 1.719435 2 581 443
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY M 373591 19954410

The consolidated financial siotements were authorized for 1ssue in accordance wilh the resolution of the Board of Dircetars

on 31 March 2017 by:

Ziad EI Zoghbi
Head of Finance and Administralian
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Byblos Bank SAL

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31 December 2016

OPERATING ACTIVIIIES
Prafic before tax
Adjustments o receacile profit befoog 125 1o et cash flows
Depreciation and amartisation
{Write-back of provision) provision for loans and advances and disech wiite alfs, net
{Wiitehack of prnissen) provizion for balances with central banks, net
Write-back ol provision Tor finang bal assefs af amonired cos, nel
Galmea disposal of prapery end equipmen
Gainan disposal of assets oblained in seifement of debt
Provisions for risks and charges, net
Upiegalieed fair value bosses on Minocial instniments st fairsadue through profitor Joss
Riealized gaing fiom fnencisl asseds
Derivative financial instruments
trnpainment losses on fnancial fmvestrienta
[mpatrment of goodwill
Foreign eustency trarstation Yosses on devonselidation of subsidiznies

Operating profit befoee widking capital changes

Clhangz4 tn operating assets ard labilitics
[Fue Tramn ¢entral hanks '
Droe tocenieal banks
True from banks and finane iz) instinaions
Financial assets given & collalerl
Finaneial gssets at fair value theough prafie or Toss
g b banks ard finarcial insntutrons
Mel loans and advarces to custorners and related partics
Aseets obtained in senlement of debe
Proceeds from sale of gxers obtained in seqtfemant of debe
Other asseis
Customers’ and related pames” deposis
Citkeer liabifines

Cazh {uwed in from eperationd
Prowfsion for nsks and charges paid
Taviation paid

Ml cash {used in} from operafing activities

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Financial asseis al amorlized cost

Financial assets at fair vadug through ethar comprehensive income

Lusins o banks and finarctsl inetitutions and reverie repuschase agreaments
Purchase of property and equipiment

Procesds om ssle of propenty and equipmen

Netcash outllow Mom decorsclidnion of subsidiaries

Avcquisinon of 8 subsidiany, nelofcash acgideed

Netcaih from (used in) Investing activifies

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Delis iesupd and other bomowed funds
Subarfinafed debt

Treasury shares

Dividends paid o equily holders of the paren
Dividends patd 10 non=controlling interests
Acquisiion of additional non-contralling inferets

Nel cash used in Minancing activities

INCREASEL {DECREASE] IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Ml effect of foreign ene hange

Cash ard cash equivalents at | Januany

CASH AND CASHEQUIVALENTS AT 31 DECEMBER
Operational cash fows from [nteresd and dividends

Intérest paid

Irberest vecelved
Dividend tecenved

Niafen

mE
14
1t
14

13

30

n

53

45

The attached notes | to 34 form part of these consolidated financial statements.

2016 2085
L eniiftian LL wistlion
361,554 196,520
11,5358 23815
(7,347 13,850
{1.574) 15 620
. (1.571)
{11} (65}
(4,13} {826)
128,710 29,066
3727 5,200
{397,821} P8R E88)
{2,923) 1,869
49876 .
12,427
137,850
306,119 316,599
(1,563,261 ) (508,137}
126,518 42,451
12,532} 6,866
{212,639} 5,600
(S16,138) {145 714)
61,285 {37,252
{316,469} (321,579)
(1,836} ($.784)
5679 1,341
(17,3073 (4,598)
16,361 |,389.545
134,569 417
LI 73948
13,487} 13,115}
{54.374) (65042
i1.348,602) &71,000
L7840 (167,485
(1,006 13,715
120,841 1386,418)
{35,011 145,977
i 233
(132,555) i
(83,559)
LAULTE6  (EDALTET)
{11z27) (188]
1,768 2810
1,528 {(394)
(161,0408) (161,103
(3,183 {5,508)
{1,861} .
{162,908) {164,573y
279,286 197,040}
{58.374) {33578
4,766,200 159,812
087112 2765300
{1,168,156) {1,102.999)
1,566,513 1,474,227
£019 4356
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Byblos Bank SAL
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2016

1 CORPORATE INFORMATION

Byblos Bank SAL (the “Bank™ ), a Lebanese joint stock company, was incorporated in 1961 and registered under
No 1130 af the commercial regisiry of Beirut and under Mo 39 on the banks® list published by the Cenfral Bank
of Lebanon, The Bank's head office is located in Ashrafieh, Elias Sarkis Street, Beirul, Lebanon. The Bank's
shares are listed on the Beirut Stock Exchange and London SEAQ.

The Bank, together with its affiliated banks and subsidiaries (collectively the “Group™), provides a wide range of
banking and Insurance services, through its headquarters and branches in Lebanon and 9 locations abroad
(Cyprus, Belgium, United Kingdom, France, Svria, Sudon, Iraq, Democratic Republic of Congo and Armenia),
Further information on the Group's structure [s provided in note 4.

Eftective 31 December 2016, the Group deconsolidated Byblos Bank Syrin 8. A, and Byblos Bank Africa sinee it
na longer meets the accounting criteria for consolidation.

i ACCOUNTING POLICIES

21 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial ststements have been prepared on a historical cost basis éxcept for: a) the restatement
of certain tongible real estate praperties in Lebanon according to the provisions of Taw No 282 dated 30
Degember 1993, and b the measurement atl fair value of derivative financial instruments, financial assels at fair
value through profit or lass and financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income.

The carrying values of recognised assets and labilities that are hedged ltems in fair value hedges, and otherwise
carried at amortised cost, are adjusted 1o record changes in fair value atributable to the risks that are being
hedeed.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in l.ebanese Lira (1L} and all values are rounded to the
nearest LL million except when otherwise indicated.

Statement of complianee

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in aecordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (1FRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (1ASB), and the regulations of the
Central Bank of Lebancn and the Banking Contral Commissian (“BCCT).

Presentation of financial statements

The Growp presents its statement of financial position broadly in order of liguidity. An analysis regarding
recovery ar settlement within one year after the statement of financial position date (current) and more than one
vear alter the siatement of financial position dote (non-current} is presented in the notes.

Financial assets and financial Habilities are oftset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position only in the ordinary course of business, in the event of default, in the event of inselveney or
bankruptey of the Group andfor its counterparties or when there s a legally enforceable right 1o offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a nel basis, or to realise the assets and setile the liability
simullanesusly without being contingent an & fulure event. Only gross settlement mechanisms with features that
eliminate or resull in insignificant eredit and liquidity risk and that process receivables and payables in a single
seltlement process or evele would be, in elfect, equivalent to net settlement, This 1s not generally the case with
master felting agreements, therefore the related assets and liabilities are presented gross in the consolidated
statement of financial position. Income and expense will not be offset in the consolldated income statement
unless required or permitted by any accounting standard or Interpretation. as specilically diselosed in the
accounting policies of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATEDR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2016

1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Basis of consalidation
The consolidated NMnaneial statements comprise the financial statements of the Group and its subsidiaries as at 31
December 2016, Cantrol is achieved when the Group is exposed. or has rights, to variable rewrmns fram s
involvement with the invesiee and has the ability to affect these returns through its power over the investee,
Specifically, the Group controls an investee it and only if the Group has:

#  Power over the investee (1.6, existing rights that give it the current ahility to direct the relevant activities

of the 1nvestec),
¥ Exposure, or rights, 10 variable returns from its invalvement with the investee, and
#  The ahility 10 use its power over the investee to affect its retumns

Giencrally, there is a presumption thal a majority of voting rights results in control, However, under individual
circumistances, the Group may still exercise contral with less than 50% sharcholding or may not be able w
exercise control even with ownership over 30% of an entity™s shares, When assessing whether it has power over
an investee and therefore controls the variability of Hs returns, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstiances. including:

# The purpose and design of the investee,

# The relevant activitics and how decisions abou those activities are made and whether the Group can
direct those activitices,

Coatractual arrangements such as call rights, put rights and liquidation rights, and

Whether the Group 1s exposed, ar has rights, to variable retumns from its involvement with the investee,
and has the power 1o affeet the variahility af such retums

b

The Group re-assesses whether or nol it contrals an investee 1 facts and clrcwmstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidatien of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses centrol of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities,
income and expenses of a subsidiary aequired or disposed of during the year are included in the statement of
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains conwral until the date the Group ceases o control the
subsidiary.

When necessary, adjustments are made 1w the linancial statemenis of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies Inta line with the Group’s accounting policies. All intrasgroup assets and lighilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation,

Non-controlling interests

Noo-controlling interest represent the pertion of profit or loss and net assets of subsidiaries not owned by the
Giroup. The Group has elected 1o measure the non-controlling interests in acquirees at the proportionate share of
each acquiree's [demifiable net assets. Interests in the equity of subsidiaries not atiributable 1o the Group are
reported in consolidated equity as non-controlling Interests, Profits or losses atiributable to non-comtrolling
interests are reported in the consolidated income staternent 8s profit or loss atributable o non-controlling
interests, Losses applicable to the nonscomtralling interest in o subsidiary are allocated to the non-controlling
interest even if daing so causes the nan-controlling interest to have a deficit balance

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests as transactions with equity holders of the Group, For
purchases from non-coniralling interests, the difference between any consideration paid and the relevant share
acquired of the carrving value of net assets of the subsidiary is recarded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals o
non-controlling interests arc also recarded in equity.

Pul options granied 1o non-controlling interests give rise to a fpancial lighility for the present value of the
redemption amount, Non-controlling interest continues 1o be recognised within equity, with changes in the
carnying amounting arising from: a) an allocation of the profit or loss for the year: b) a share of changes in
appropriate reserves; and ¢} dividends declared before the end of the reporting peried. Al the end of each
reporting period, the non-controlling interest is then derecognised as if it was acquired at that date. The liohility
is recognised at the end of the reporting period at its fair value, and any difference between the amount of non-
controlling interest derecognised and this lishility is accounted for within equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Basis of consolidation (continued)

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, withoot a loss of contral. is accounted for as an equily
transaction. I the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related assets (including goodwill),
liabilities, non-controlling imerest and other components of equity. white any resultant pain or loss is recognised
in prafit or loss. Any invesiment retained is recegnised at fair value at the date of loss of control.

Deconsolidation of the subsidiary Byllos Bank Syria

The subsidiary Byblos Bank Syria. which is 539.87% owned by the Group. 15 engaged in commercial banking
activitics, mainly deposits waking and loan granting. in Syria. Starting March 20011, Syria has wilnessed an
extremely violent and crippling civil war between the regime and various opposition groups in dilterent parts of
the country. The war has turned into a humanitacian disaster resulling in Syria being ranked number one on the
list of the mest dangerous coundries in the world, In addition, this has led several imernational bodies and
countries {e.g. ELLand L'SA) to set and implement several sanctions and restrictions on dealing with Syria,

The Syrian pound has lost o least 90% of its value against the US Daollar since 2011, The Syrian government has
maintained currency controls and has created exchange mechanisms, which have become extremely illiquid over
time, resulling in an other-than-temporary lack of exchangeability between the Syrian Pound and US Dallar, The
supply of foreign currencies in the markel remains strueturally well below demand and there are no obvious
limits &% to how low the Syrian currency can fall,

Sanctions and the war, combined with the lack of exchangeability between the Syrian Pound and US Dollar, have
significantly affected Svria’s financial system. Banks are largely isolated from the international banking market,
being shut-off from the international payment and setilement systems, as well as the credit markets. There was a
major flight of deposits as Syrians have reallocated o sater assets: Syria’s economy has contracted considerably
in real terms since 2011, which has significantly affected the demand for eredit focilities and the investment
opportunities available for banks inside Syria. Banks are unable to repatriate funds outside the country and end up
placing their funds in non-incame generating assets, wilh the Central Bank of Syria and other local commercial or
state-owned banks, The negative evolution of the macroeconomic situation limited the Group's ability o
elfectively manage the subsidiary, In addition, regulntory resirictions, such as foreipn exchange controls, import
authorization contral, interest rates conlrals, and foreign currency credit facilities controls, have added to the
limitations already existing on the significant activities of banks, preventing Tunher the Group from developing
and implementing decisions on the relevant zetivities of the subsidiary. Recently issued regulations requiring
board meetings o he held in the Syrian territory and attended by the board members in person have also
significanly impacted the Group's ability to attend the meetings and make and execule key operational and
financial decisions regarding its Sytian operations.

Az a result of these factors, which are expected to continue for the foreseeable future, effective 31 December
2016, the Group concluded that it no longer met the accounting criteria for comsolidation of its Syrian subsidiary
due toa loss of contral, and therefore it deconsolidated its Syrian subsidiary effective as of 31 December 2016,
The Group has determined the fair value of Uis investment in its Syrian subsidiary to be insignificant based on its
expectations of dividend payments in fulure perinds.

The deconsalidation of the subsidiary resulted in the recognition of a negative impact an the consolidated income
stadement for the year 2016, in the amount of LL 144,304 million, which includes:

- negative Impact of LL 107,282 million deriving from losses from the translation into Lebanese Lira of
the financial statements of the subsidiary previously recognized under equity and reclassified w the
consolidated income statement; and
negative impactof LEL 37,222 million due to the Tull-write ofl of the net assets of the subsidiary.

Cash and cash equivalents of the subsidiary Byblos Bank Syria wpon deconsolidation amounted 1o
LL 93,783 million.

As a cansequence of the deconsolidation, effective 1 January 2017, the Group shall no longer inelude the results
al the Syrian subsidiary in its consolidated financial statements. Furlher, dividends and inter-bank interest will be
recorded as income and expense upon receipt or payment. The Group will moniwr the extent of its ability w
control its Syrian operalions as its current sitwation in Syria may change over time and lead wo consolidation at a
future date.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
. Basis of consolidation (continued)

Deconsolidation of the subsidiary Byblos Bank Africa

Fhe subsidiary Byblos Bank Africa, which is 56.86% owned by the Group, is engaged in commercial banking
activities, mainly deposits taking and loan granting. in Sudan. Sudan, one ol the largest and most geographically
diverse states in Africa, pained independence on the first of January 1956. Since then. (he country has
experienced alternating forms of democratic and awtheritarian governments. Cross-border violence, political
instability, poor infrastructure, weak property rights, and corruption has led several international bodies and
countries (e.g. EU and LSA) to set and implement several sanctions and restrictions an dealing with Sudan, In
addition, the business environment of the couniry has been wapped by business regulmions that inhibit
regisiration and a rigid labor market that discourages formal hiring and Sudan was ranked as a repressed ceonomy
by Heritage Foundation.

Ihe Sudanese Pound has lost at least 84% of its value against the LS Daollar since 2011, when South Sudan
seceded, taking with it three-guarters of the country's oil oulput. the main source of foreign currency used to
support the Sudanese pound and to pay for food and other imports. Low foreign exchange rescrves resulted in
illiquid foreign currency markets and other-than-temporary lack of exchangeability between the Sudanese Pound
and LIS Dollar, The official exchange rate was 100% below the parallel black market rate.

As a result of these factors, which are expected 1o continue [or the (oreseeable lulure, effective 31 December
2116, the Group concluded that it no longer met the accounting eriteria for consolidation of its Budanese
subsidiary due 10 2 loss of conteal, und therefore it deconsolidated its Sudanese subsidiary effective as of 31
December 2016, The Group has determined the [air value of its [nvestment in its Sudanese subsidiary 1o be
insignificant based on its expectations of dividend payments In future periods.

The deconsalidation of the subsidiary resulted in the recognition of a negative impact on the consolidated income
statement for the year 2016, in the amount of LL 43,062 million, which includes:
pegative impact of LL 30,608 million deriving from losses from the translalion inte Lebanese Lira of the
linancial statements of the subsidiary previously recognized under equity and reclassified 1o the
consolidated income statement; and
negative impact of LL 12,459 million due 1o the full-write aff of the net assets of the subsidiary.

Cash and cash equivalents of the subsidiary Byblos Bank Africa upon deconsolidation amounted o
I.L 36,782 million.

As a consequence of the deconsolidation, effective 1 January 2017, the Group shall no longer include the resulls
of the Sudanese subsidiary In its consolidated lnaneial statements. Further, dividends and inter-bank interest will
be recorded as income and expense upon reccipl or pavimenl, The Group will monitor the extent ol its ability o
control its Sudanese operations as ils current situation in Sudan may change over time and lead to consalidation at
a future date,

23 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

Mew and amended standards and interpretations
The Group applied for the first time ceriain standards and amendments, which are effective for annual perfods
beginning on or afler | January 2006

IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts

IFRS 14 is an optional standard that allows an entity, whose setivitics are subject to rate-regulation, 1o continue
applying most of s existing accounting policies Tor regulatory deterral account balances upon its first-time
adoption of IFRS, Entities that adopt IFRS 14 must present the regulatory deferral accounts as separate line items
on the staterment of financial position and present movements in these account balances as separate ling items in
the statement of profit or loss and OCL. The standard requires disclosure of the nature of, and risks associated
with, the entity’s rate-regulation and ihe effects of that rate-regulation on its financial statements. [FRS 14 is
effective Tor annual periods beginning on or after | January 2016, Since the Group is an existing IFRS preparer
and is not invelved in any rate-regulated activities, this standard does not apply.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.3 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

Amendments to IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements: Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests

The amendments 1o IFRS 11 require that a joinl operator aceounting for the acquisition of an interesl in a joing
operation, in which the activity of the joint eperation constitules a business, must apply the relevamt IFRS 3
Rusiness Combinations principles for business combination accounting. The amendments also clarify that a
previously held imerest in o joint operation Is not remeasured on the acquisition of an additional interest In the
same joint aperation if joint control is retained, In addition, a scope exclusion has been added to IFRS 11 1o
specify that the amendments do not apply when the parties sharing joint control, including the reporting entity,
are under common control of the same ultimae comrolling party. ‘The amendments apply 10 both the acquisiton
of the initial interest in a joint operation and the acquisition of any addilional interests in the same joint operation
and are prospectively effective For annual periods beginning on or afier | lanuary 2006, with early adoption
permitted. These amendments do not have any impact on the Group as there has been no interest acquired in a
juint operation during the year,

Amendments to IAS 16 and 1AS 38; Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and
Amortisation

The amendments clarify the principle in 1AS 16 Property, Plant and Eqriipment and 1AS 38 lutangible Assety
that revenue reflects a pattern of economic benefits that are generated from operating a business (of which the
asset is o part) rather than the economic benefits that are consumed through use of the asset. As a result, a
revenue-based methed cannot be used o deprecinte properts. plant and equipment and may only be used in very
limited eircumstanees o amortise inangible assets. The amendments are effective prospectively for annual
periods beginning on or after | January 2016, with early adoption permitted. These amendments da not have any
impact 1o the Group given that the Group bas nol used o revenue-based methad 10 depreciate its noneareent
assels,

Amendments to 1AS 16 and IAS 41 Agriculture: Bearer Plants

Ihe amendments change the accounting reguirements for hiological assets that meet the definition of bearer
plants. Under the amendments, biological assets thal meet the definition of bearer plants will no longer be within
the scope of 1AS 41 Adgricwinere, Instead, 1AS 16 will apply. After initial recognition, bearer plants will be
measured under 1AS 16 a1 accumulated cost (before maturityy and using cither the cost model or revaluation
madel (after maturity), The amendments also require that produce that grows on bearer plants will remain in the
scope of TAS 41 measured at fair value less costs o sell. For povernment grants related to bearer plants, [AS 20
Avcarnting for Government Grants ond Disclosure of Government Assisionce will apply. The amendinents are
retrospectively effective for annual perinds beginning on or after | January 2010, with early adoption permiiled.
These amendments do net have any impact 1o the Group as the Group does not have any bearer plants.

Amendments to 1AS 27; Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements

The amendments will allow entities to use the equity method to account for investments in subsidiaries, joint
ventures and associates in their separate finoncinl statements. Entities already applying IFRS and electing 10
change to the equity method in their separate linancial statements will have to apply that change retrospectively,
First-time adopiers of IFRS electing to use the equity method in their separate financial statements will be
required to apply this methed from the date of transition to IFRS, The amendments are elfective for annoal
periods beginning on or after 1 January 20016, with early adoption permitied. These amendments do not have any
impact an the Group's consolidated financial statements,

Annual Improvements 2012-2014 Cycle
These improvements are effective for annual petiods beginning on or after 1 January 2016, They include:

IFRS 5 Non-current Asseis Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations

Assets {or disposal groups) are gencrally disposed of cither through sale o distobution W owners, The
amendment elarifies that changing from one of these disposal metheds w the other would not be considered a
new plan of disposal, rather it is a continuation of the original plan. There is, therefore, no interruption of the
application of the requirements in IFRS 5. This amendment must be applied prospectively. These amendments do
not have any impact on the Group.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
23 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures

(i) Servicing contracts:

The amendment ¢larifies that a servicing contract that includes a fee can constitute cominuing involvement in a
financial assel. An entity must assess the noture of the fee and the arrangement against the guidance for
cottinuing invelvement in IFRS 7 in order to assess whether the disclosures are required. The assessment of
which servicing contracts constitule continuing involvement must be done retrospectively. However, the required
disclosures would net need to be provided for any period beginning befiore the annual period in which the entity
first applies the amendments.

{it) Applicability of the amendments to 1FRS 7 1o condensed interim financial statements;

The amendment clarifies that the offsetting disclosure requirements do not apply to condensed interim linancial
statements, unltess such disclosures provide a significant update to the information reported in the most recent
anmual report. This amendment must be applied retrospectively.

These amendments do not have any impact on the Group.

1AS 19 Employee Benefits

The amendment clarifies that markel depth of high guality corporate bonds is assessed based on the curreney in
which the obligation is denominated, rather than the coumtry where the obligation is lecated. When there is no
deep market for high quality corporate bonds in that currency, government bond rates must be used, This
amendment must be applied prospectively. These amendments do not have any impact on the Group,

IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting

The amendment clarifies that the required interim disclosures must either be in the interim financial statemems or
incorporated by cross-reference between the interim finaneial statements and wherever they are included within
the interim financial report (e.g., in the management commentary or risk report), The other information within the
interim financial report miust be available 1o users on the same terms as the interim financial statements and a the
same tme. This amendment must be applied retrospectively, These amendments do not have any impact on the
Ciroup.

Amendments to LAS 1 Disclosure Initintive

The amendmens to IAS | clarify, rather than significantly change, existing JAS 1 requiremeiits, The amendments
clarify:

* The materiality requirements in LAS |

« That specific line items in the statement(s) of prafit or Joss and OCH and the statement of financial position may
be disapgregated

+ That entities have Nexibility as 10 the order in which they present the notes 1o financial statements

* That the share of OCI of associates and joinl ventures accounted for using the equity methad must be presented
In ppgregate a5 a single line ftem, and classified bewween those ilems that will er will nol be subsequently
reclassified o profitor loss

Furthermore, the amendments clarify the requirements that apply when additional subtotals are presented in the
slatement of linaneial position and the statement(s) of profit or loss and OCL These amendments are effective for
annwal periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016, with early adoption permived. These amendments do not
have any impact on the Group,

Amendments to ITFRS 10, IFRS 12 and 1AS 28 Investment Entitics: Applying the Consolidation Exception
The amendments address issues that have arisen in applying the investment entities exception under IFRS 10
Consalidated Financial Statements. The amendments to [FRS 10 clarify thet the exemplion from presenting
consolidated financial statements applies W a parent entity that is a subsidiary ab an investment entity, when the
investiment entity measures all of its subsidiaries at fair value. Furlhermore, the amendments 1o IFRS 10 elacify
that only a suhsidiary of an investment entity that is not an investment entity itself and that provides support
services to the investment entity is consolidated, All other subsidiaries of an investment entity are measured at
fair value. The amendments 1o 1AS 28 fivestmenis in Associates ond Joimt Venfures allow the investor, when
applying the equity method, to retain the air value measurement applied by the investment entity associale or
joint venture 1o its interests in subsidinries. These amendments must be applied retrospectively and are elfective
for annual periods beginning on or after | January 2016, with early adoption permitted, These amendmenis do not
have any impact on the Group as the Group does not apply the consolidation exception.
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1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
24 Standards issued but not vet effective

The standards and interpretations thi are issued, but net yet effective, up to the dite of issuance of the Group's
financial statements are disclosed below. The Group intends to adopt these standards. if applicable, when they
become effective,

IFRS 9 Financiul Tnstruments

In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments which reflects all phases of the
financial instruments project and replaces 1AS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and all
previous versions of IFRS 9, The standard imroduces new requirements Tor classification and measurement,
impairment, and hedge accounting. In prior years the Group has early adopted IFRS 9 (2011) which includes the
requirements for the classification and measurement. IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or afier
| January 2018, with early application permitted. Retrospective application is required, bul comparative
information is net compulsery. The adoption of IFRS 9 will have an elfect on measuring impairment allowances
and on the classification and measurement of the Group’s financial assets, but no impact on the classification and
measurerment of the Group's financial lishilities. The Group is eurrently assessing the impact of [FRS 9 and plans
to adopt the new standard on the required effective date,

IFRS I Revenne from Contraces with Customers

IFRS 15 was issued in May 2004 and establishes a new five-step mode] that will apply to revenue arising from
contracts with customers. Under IFRS 15 revenue is recognised at an amount thet reflects the consideration to
which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. The principles
in IFRS 15 provide a more structured approach 1o measuring and recognising revenue, The new revenue standard
is applicable o all entities and will supersede all current revenue recognition requirements under IFRS. Either a
full ar medified retrospective application is required for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017 with
carly adoption permitted. The Group is currently assessing the impact of [FRS 15 and plans to adopt the new
stendard on the required efieetive date.

IFRS 16 Leaves

The 1ASH jssued the new standard for accounting for leases in January 2006, The new stundard does not
significantly change the accounting for leases for lessors. However, it does require lessees to recognise most
leases on their balanee sheels as [ease liabilities, with the corresponding right-of-use assets, Lessees must apply a
single model for all recognised leases, but will have the oplion not o recognise “short term® leases and leases of
lowsvalue’ assets, Generally, the profit or loss recognition pattern for recognised leases will be similar 1o today s
finance lease accounting, with Interest and depreclation expense recognised separately in the consolidased
statement of profit or loss. Early application is permitted provided the new revenue standard, IFRS 15, §s applied
on the same date. Either a full or modificd retrospective application Is required for annual pericds beginning on
or after | January 2009 with early adoption permitted. The Group is currently assessing the impact of IFRS 16
and plans o adept the new standard en the required effective date.

148 12 Income Taxes

The amendments clarify the following recognition of & deferred tax asset if the loss is unrealized is allowed, it
certain conditions are met, and (hat the bottom line of the tax return is not the “future taxable profic for the
recognition test, The TASH amendments clarily the accounting for deferred 1ax assets for unrealised losses on
debt instruments measored at fair value, The current approach of vsing the expected bottom line on the tax return
— i future taxable income less tax-deductible expenses, will no longer be appropriate instead the taxable income
before the deduction will be used, (o avold double counting. Either a full or modified retrospective applicmion is
required for annual periods Beginning on or after 1 January 2017 with early adoption permitted. The Group is
vurtently assessing the impact of [AS 12 and plans to adopt the new standard on the required effective date,
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (eontinued)
24 Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)

IAS 7 Stotement af Cash Flows

The amendments issued introdyce additional disclosure requirements intended to address investors’ concerns as
eurrently they are not able 1o understand the management of an entity’s financing activities. require disclosure of
information enabling users o evoluate changes in liabillties arising from fnancing activities, including both
changes arising from cash Mows and non-cash changes. do not preseribe a specific format for disclosures but
indicates that we can fulfil the requirentent by providing a reconciliation between opemng and closing balances
for liabilities arfsing from financing activities, and are also applicable w financial assets that hedge liabilities
arising from financing activities, Either a full or modilied retrospective application is required for annual periods
beginning on or afier 1 January 2417 with early adoption permitted. The Group is currently assessing the impact
of 1AS 7 and plans to adopt the new standard on the required effective date.

L5 Summary of significant accounting policies

Foreign currency translation

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Lebanese Lira which is the Bank’s presentation currency.
Each entity in the Group determines its own funetienal currency and items included in the financial stolements of
cach entity are measured using that functional currency. The Group uses the direct methed of consolidation;

{f) Transactions and balances
Transaciions in foreign eurrencies are initially recorded by the Group's entities at the functional currency spot
rate-of exchange ruling at the date the transaction first qualifies for recognitien.

Monetary assets and liobilities denominated in foreign currencies aré retransluted a1 the functional curreney rate
of exchange at the date of the statement of financial position, All Jifferences are 1aken to “Net gain (loss) Trom
financial instruments at fair value through profit or less™ in the consolidated income statement,

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms ol historical eost in a foreign currency are transhated using the
exchange rates as al the dates of the initial transactions. Non-maonetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
eurrency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the (air value was determined. The gain or loss
arising on retranstation of non-maonetary items is wreated in line with the recognition of gain or loss en change in
fair value of the item (i.e., translation differences on items whose fair vilue gain or loss is recognized in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recopnized in other comprehensive income or prolit or loss
respectively),

{ii) Growp campanies

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of subsidiaries and overseas branches are translated into the Bank's
presentation carrency at the rate of exchange as at the reporting dale, and their income statements are transkited
at the weighted average exchange rates for the vear. Exchange differences arising on translation are taken directly
o a separate component of equity. On disposal of o foreign entity, the deferred cumulative amount recognised in
equity relating to that particular foreign operation is reclassified te the consalidated income statemnent.

Any poodwill arfsing on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying
amounts of assets and liahilities arising on the acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the forcign
operations and translated at closing rate.

Financial instruments —classification and measurement

(i) Date of recognition

Al financial assets and lobilities are initially recognized on the trade date, i.e. the date that the Group becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. This includes “regular way trades”: purchases or sales of
financial assets thal require delivery of assels within the time frame generally established by regulation or
convention in the market plivce,
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES {cantinued)

2.5 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments —lassification and measurement {continued)
fii) Classification amd measurement of fletancial instriaments

iL Financiaf asseis

The classification of financial assets depends on the basis of the entity's business model for managing the
financial assets and the contraoctual cash fow characteristics of the financial asset. Assets are initially measured
al fair value plus, in the case of o financial assel not at faie value through profit or loss, particular transaction
cosls. Assels ane subsequently measured at amortised cost or fair valie,

An cnlity may, al initial recognition, ireevocably designate a financial assel as measured at fair value through
profit or loss if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency
{samctimes referred to as sn "accounting mismateh’) that would otherwise arise from measuring assets or
liabilities or recognising the gains and losses on them on different bases. An entity is required o disclose such
linancial assels separately from those mandatorily measured al fair value.

Financial assets af amoriized cost

Debt instruments are subsequently measured at amortized cost less any impairment loss {except for debl
instrumemts that are designated at fair value through profit ér loss upon initial recognition) it they meet the
following two conditions:

*  The assel is held within 8 business model whose objective is 1o hold assels in onler to collect contractual
cash flows; and

¢ The contractual terms ol the instrument give rise on speeificd dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount eutstanding.

These financial assets are initially recognized at cost, being the fair value of the consideration paid for the
aequisition of the investment. Al trapsaction costs directly atiributed o the acquisition are also ineluded in the
cost of investment. After initial measurement, these financial asseis are measured a1 amortized cost using the
elfeetive interest rate method (EVR), less allowance for impairment. Amortized cost is caleulated by taking into
account. any diseount or premium on acquisition and fees and costs that are an Imegral part of the effective
interest rate. The amortization is included in “Inferest and similar income™ in the consolidated income siatement.
The tosses arising from impairment are recognised in the consolidated income statement in *Met credit losses™,

Although the objective of an entiny’s business moedel may be to hold linancial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows, the entity need not hold all of those instruments until maturity.  Thus an entity's business model can
be 1o hold financial assers o collect contractual cash flows even when sales of financial assets occur. However,
if more than an infrequent number of sales are made ow of a portfolio, the entity needs to assess whether and
how such sales are consistent with an objective of collecting contractual cash flows. I the objective of the entity’s
husiness meklel for managing those financial assets changes, the entity is requirved to reclassify financial asses,

Gains and lusses arising from the derecognition of financial assets measured o amortised cost are reflected under
“Net gain (lossh from sale of inancial asscls at amortized cost™ in the consolidated income staement,

Balances with cemteal banks, dug from banks and fingncicl instiineions, loans to bauks ond Sacncial insiitwions
atel logus and advances ro cusiveners and velated parties — ol anortized cost

Adter initial measurement, “Balances with central banks”, “Due from banks and financial institutions™, “Leans 1o
banks and finaneial institutions™ and “Loans and advances to customers and refated parties” are subsequently
measured at amoertised cost using the EIR. less allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is caloulated by aking
into gocount any discount or premium on acquisition and fees and costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The
amortisation is included in “Interest and similar income’ in the consolidated income statement. The losses arising
from impairment are recognised in the consolidated income staterment in “Net eredit losses™,
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1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
1.5 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments —classification and measurement (continued)

{ii} Classification and measarement of finencial fnstraments {contimied)
i Financial assefs (continued)

Finunnciel asseds af file value through prafit or foss

Included in this category are those debt instruments that do not meet the conditions in “ar amoriized cost ™ above,
debt instruments designated at fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition and equity instruments at
fair value through profit or loss.

i Db instriments ol foie velie throgh profit or loss
These finaneial assets are recorded in the consolidited statement of financial position al fair value, Changes in
fair value and interest income are recorded under “Met gain (loss) from financial instruments at fair value through
profit or loss” in the consolidated income statement showing separately, those related W financial assels
designated ot fair value upon initial recognition feam those mandatorily measured o fair value,

Gains and losses arising from the derecognition of debt instruments at fair value through profit or loss are also
reflected under “Met gain (Joss) froon financial instruments at Tair value through profit or loss™ in the consolidated
income stalement showing separately, those related o financial assets designated at fair value upon initial
recagnition rom those mandatorily measured at fair value.

i, Equity instraments al fadr value throagh profit or foss
Investments in equity instruments are classitied at fair value through profit or loss, unless the Group designates at
initial recognition an investiment that is not held for rading as at fair value through other comprehensive income.

Ihese financial assets are recorded in the consolidated statement of financinl position at fair value. Changes in
fair value and dividend income are recorded under “Net gain (loss) from financial instruments at fair value
through profit or loss™ in the consolidated income statement.

Gains and losses arising from the derecognition of equity instruments at fair value through profit or loss are also
reflected under “Net gain (loss) from financial instruments al fair vilue through profit or losg™ in the consolidated
income statement,

Financial assets at falr vadue threugh other comprehensive inceme
Investments in equity instruments designated at initial recognition as not held for wading are classified a1 fair
value through other comprehensive income,

These financial assets are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs, Subsequemtly, they are measured
at fair value, with gains and losses arising from changes in fair value recognized in other comprehensive income
and accumulated under equity, The cumulative gain or loss will not be reclassified to the consolidated income
statement on disposal of the investments,

Diavidends on these investiments are recognized under “Revenwes (rom financinl asseis ot fair value through other
comprehensive income™ in the consolidmed income statement when the entity’s right 1o receive pavment of
dividend is estahlished in accordance with IAS 18: “Revenue”, unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery
of part of the cost of the investment.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

1.5 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments —classification and measurement (continued)

fif} Classification amwd measirement of financial fnstruntents (confinmed)

b Financial liabilitles
Linhilities are inigally measured at fair value plus, in the case of a finncial liability nol at fair value through
profit or loss, particular transaction costs. Liabilities are subsequently measured at amorlised cost or Tair value.

The Group classifies all lnancial liabilitics as subsequently measured al amortised cost using the effective interest
methed, except for:
financial liabilities a1 fair value through profit or loss Cincluding derivatives);
financial liabilities that arise when a transfer of a financial asset does not quality Tor derecognition or when the
continuing involvement approach applics,
financial guarantee contracts and commitments W provide a loan st a below-market interest rate which alter
initial recognition are subsequently measured at the higher of the amount determined in accordance with 1AS
37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assels and the amount initially recognised less, when
appropriate, cumulative amertisation recognised in accordance with TAS 18 Revenue.

Fair valtwe aption

An entity may. at inilial recognition, irrevocably designite a financial lability as measured at fair value through

profit ar loss when:
doing so results in more relevant inlormation, becausg it either eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency {sometimes referred to as 'an accourting mismateh') that would
olherwise drise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising the gains and losses on them on difterent
hases; or
a group of financial lsbilities or financiol assets and financial liabilities is managed and its performance is
evaluated ona fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk management or investment sirategy, and
information about the group is provided intermally on that basis to the entity’s key management personnel.

The amwunt of changes in fair value of' a financial liability designated at fair value through profit or loss at initial
recognition that §s attributable to changes in credit risk of that liability is recognized in other comprehensive
income, unless such recognition would create an accounting mismatch in the consolidated income statement.
Changes in [air value attributable to changes in credit risk are not reclassified W consolidated income statement.

Debi issned and other barvowed funds and subordinated deb

Finaneial instrumenis issued by the Group, which are not designated at fair value through profit or loss. are
classified as liabilities under “[eM issued and other borrowed funds™, where the substance of the contractual
arrangement results in the Growp having an obligation either to deliver cash or another financial assel (o the
holder, or to satisfy the obligation other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or arother financial asset
for a fixed number of own equity shares.

After imitial measurement, debt issued and other borrowings are subsequently measured al amortised cost using
the effective interest rate method. Amortised cost is caleulated by 1uking into aceount any diseount or premium on
the [ssue and costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate method.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

25 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments —classification and measerement (continued)

fii) Classiffcation and measurement of financial instriments (coniinned)
b, Financial Nabilitfes fcomtinied)

Diebr isswed and ather borrowed finds aned subordinated debs (comineedy

A compound financial instrument which contains both a liability and an equity component is separated an the
issue date. A portion of the net proceeds of the instrument is allocated to the debt component on the date of issae
based on its fair value {which is geperally determined based on the quoted markel prices for similar debt
Inatruments). The equity companent is assigned the residual amount after deducting from the fair value of the
instrument as @ whole the amount separately determined for the debl compoenent. The value of any derivative
features (such as a call option) embedded in the compound financial instrument other than the equity component
is included in the debt component.

e to ceniral banks, die to banks and financial instintions, crstomers ' deposits and related pavties deposits
After initial measurement, due to central banks, due to banks and financial instilwtions, customers” and related
parties’ deposits are measared at amortised cost less amounts repaid using the effective interest rale method.
Amortised eost is caleulated by taking into account any discount or premium on the ssue and costs that are an
integral part of the effective interest rate method,

o Berivatives recorded af fair vilwe through profit or loss
The Group uses derivatives such as interest rate swaps and futures, eredit default swaps, cross curreney swaps,
forward foreign exchange contracts and options on inlerest rates, foreign currencies and equities,

Derivatives are recorded at Ffair value and earried a5 assels when their fair value s positive and as liabilities when
their fair value is segative. Changes in the fair value of derivatives are recagnised In “Net gain (loss) from
fitancial mstrunents at fair value through profit or loss™ in the consolidated income statement.

An embedded derivative is separated from the host and accounted for as a derivative if, and only if:
{a) the hybrid contract conlains a host that is not an asset within the scope of [FRS 9
(b} ke cconomic characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative are not closely relsted to the economic
characteristics and risks of the host
(e} & separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a
derivative; and
{4y the hybrid contract is net measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss

(i) Dy 1 profit or loss

When the transaclion price differs from the fair value of other observable current market transactions in the same
instrument or based on a valuation technigue whose varfables include onfy data from observable markets, the
Group Immediately recognizes the difference between the transaction price and fair value (a “Day 17 profit or
loss) in the consolidated income statement. Tn cases where fair value s determined using data which is not
observable, the difference between the transaction price and model value is only recognized in the consolidated
income statement when the inputs become observable. or when the instrument is derecognized.

fiv) Reclassification of financial asseis

The Group reclpssifies financial assets if the objective of the business model for managing these financial assets
changes, Such changes are expected 1o be very infrequent. Such changes are determined by the Group’s seniar
management s a result of external or internal changes when significant to the Group’s operations and
demonstrable 1o external parties.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.5 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments —classification and measurement (continued)

fiv) Reclassification of financial assels feontinned)

[T linancial assets are reclassilicd, the reclassification is applied prospectively from the reclassification date,
which is the first day of the fiest reporting period following the change in business model that results in the
reclassification of linancial assels, Any previously recognised gaing, losses or interest are not restated,

If 4 financial assel is reclassified so that it is measured ot fair value, its fair value Is determined at the
reclassification date. Any gain or loss arising lrom a dilference between the previous carmving amount and Gair
value is recognised in profit or loss. I a financial asset is reclassitied so that it is measured at amortised cost, iis
fair valwe at the reclassilication date becomes ils new carrying amount.

Derecognition of financial assefs and financial liabilities

fi) Financial assefs
A linanclal asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of @ group of similar financial assets) is
derecognized when:

o  The rights to receive cash llows lrom the assel have explred,

8  The Group has transferred its tights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to
pay the received cash flows in full withoul materal delay to a thied party under a “pass-thraugh”
arrangement; and either!

»  The Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or
»  The Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asscl but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained substantinlly all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred conteal of the asset, the assel {s recognized to the extent of the Group’s continuing invelvement in the
assel. In that case, the Group also recognizes an associated labilits. The transferred assel and the associmed
liahility are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained,

Continuing invalvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of
the original camrying amount of the asset and the maximum ameunt of consideration that the Group could be
required to repay,

(i} Financiel labilities

A finaneial lighility is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires,
Where an existing lnancial liabality is replaced by another from the same [ender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing lahility are substamtially modificd. such an exchange or modification Is treated as a
derecognition of the oniginal liability and the recognition of 2 new liability. The difference between the carrving
value of the origingl financial lability and the considermion paid is recognized in the consolidated income
stalement.

Repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements

Securities sold under agreements to repurchase al a specilied fuwre date are not derecognised from the
consolidated statement of financial position as the Group retaing substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership. The corresponding eash received is recognised In the consolidated statement of financial position as
an asset with a corresponding obligation 1o return it including accrued interest as a liability within “Due to banks
and financial institutions”, reflecting the transaction’s economic substances as a lean o the Group. The
difference between the sale and repurchase prices is treated as interest expense and is acerued over the life of the
agreement using the EIR, When the counterparty has the right 1o sell or repledge the secorities, the Group
rechissifies those seeurilics in its statement of financial position to “Financinl assets at fair value through pratit or
loss pledged as collateral™ as appropriate.
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1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
15 Summary of significant accounting policies {continued)

Repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements (confinued)

Conversely, seaurities purchased under agreements to resell al o specified future dave are not recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position, The consideration paid, including acerued interest 18 recorded in the
consolidated statement of financial position within “Due Irom banks and financinl institutions and reverse
repurchase agreements”, reflecting the transaction’s economic substance as a loan by the Group. The difference
between the purchase and resale prices is recorded in “Met interest ineome” and is accrued over the life of the
agrecment using the EIR,

I securities purchased under agreement 1o resell are subsequently sold 1o third parties, the obligation to return the
securities is recorded as a short sale within “Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss™ and measured
at fair value with any gains or losses included in *Net gain (loss) from financial instruments at fair value through
profit or loss™ in the consolidated ncome statement.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures linancial instruments, such as. derivatives, and financial asseis at fair value through profit or
loss and financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income, at fair value at each balunce sheet
date. Also, fair values of financial instruments measured at amortised cost are disclosed in the notes.

Fair volue 15 the price that would be received tosell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
belween markel participants al the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption
that the transaction to sell the asset or ransfer the liability 1akes place either:

= n the principal market Gor the asset or lability, or

F In the absence of a principal market. In the most advamageous market for the asset or Hability

The principal or the most advaniageous markel must be avcessible by the Group, The Tair value of an assel or a
liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liahility,
assuming thal market pariicipants acl in their cconomic best interest,

A fair value measurement of a non-finaneial assel takes info account a market participant's ability to generate
cconomic benelits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by sclling it 1 another market participant thai
ol use the asset inits highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufticient data are
availahle to measure fair valug, maximising the vse of relevant ohservable inputs and minimising the use ol
unobservable inputs.

Al assets and Babilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial stalements are categorized
within the fair valoe hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level ingut that is significant to the Tair
vialue measurement as a whole:

#  Level | — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical asseis or liahilities

# Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is directly or indirectly observable

#  Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input thal is significant o the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liahilities that are recognised in the Ninancial statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorization (based on the
lowest level input that is signilicant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting perind.

The Group’s mansgement determines the policics and procedures for both recurring fair valuee measurement,
such as unquoted financial assets, and for non-recurring measutement, such as assets held for distribution in
discontinued operation.
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) ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
L5 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

At cach reporting date, the mane gement analyses the movements in the values of assets and linbilities which are
required 1o be re-measured or re-assessed as per the Group’s accounting policies. For this analysis, the
management verifies the major inputs applied in the latest valuation by agreeiog the information in the valuation
computation o contracis and other relevant documents:

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of
the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hicrarchy as explained

above,

Impairment of financial assets

Ihe Ciroup assesses at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial assel or a group
of financial asseis is impaired. A linancial assel or a group of financial assets is deemed o be impaired if, and
only if, there is objective eviderce of impairment as a resull of one or more events that has oceurred after the
initial recognition of the assel (an incurred “loss event™) and that loss event {or events) has an impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the financial assel or the group of tfinancial assets that can be reliahly estimated.

Evidence of impairment may include indications thet the borrower or a group of horrowers is experiencing
significant financial difficulty, the probability that they will enter bankrupley or other financial reorganization
defaule or delingquency in interest or principal payments, and where observable datn indicates that there is a
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions (hat
correlute with defaulis.

i) Financial assets carried af antortised cost

For financial assets carried at amontised cost, the Group irst assesses individually whether ohjective evidence of
impairment exists for lnancial assets thatare individually sipnificant, or colleetively for linaneial assels that are
ot individually significant. I the Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an
individually assessed financial assel, it includes the assel in a group of financial assets with similar crediy risk
characteristics and collectively assesses them for impaimment. Assets that are individually assessed for
impairment and for which an impairment loss Is, or continues to be, recognised are not included in a collective
assessment of impaimment,

IT there is objective evidence that an impairment [oss has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated futre cash flows (excluding
future expected credit losses that have not yel been incurred). The carrying amount of the asset is reduced
through the wse of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognized in the consolidated income
statement.

Loans together with the assoctated allowance are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery
and all ¢collateral has been realised or has been transferred to the Group. If, in a subsequent year, the amount of
the estimated impairment loss fncreases or decreases because of an evenl occurring after the impairment was
recognised; the previously recognized impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance
aceount, I a future write-ofl s later recovered, the recovery is credited to the "Met credit losses™ in the
consolidated income statement,

The present value of the estimated Twure cash Mows is discounted at the lnancial asset’s original effective
interest rate, 1 a loan has a variahle interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment toss is the
current effective interest rate. The caleulation of the present value of the estimated future cash flows of a
collateralized financial asset reflects the cash flows that may result from foreclosure less costs of obtaining and
selling the eallateral, whether or not the foreclosure is probahle,
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2.5 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

{11 Fincneial gssers carvied of amortived cost feontined)

For the purpose of a calleetive evalvation of impairment. financial assets are grouped on the basis of the Group’s
imternal eredit grading system, that considers credit risk characterisiics such as asset type, industry. geographical
|oeation, collateral ype, past-due staws and other relevant factors.

Future cash Mows on a group of financial assets that are collectively evaluated for impaimuent are estimated on
the hasis of historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics similar to those in the group,
Historical loss experience is adjusted on the basis of current observable data to reflect the elfects of cument
conditions on which the historical loss experience is based and to remove the effects of conditions in the
histarical period that do not exist currently.

Estimates of changes in future cash flows reflect. and are directionally consistent with, ¢hanges in related
observable data from yedr o year (such a3 changes in unemployment rates, property prices, commodity prices,
payment status, or other factors thm are indicative of ncurred losses in the group and their magnitude). The
methodology and assumptions bsed for estimating future cash fows are reviewed regularly W reduce any
differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience,

i) Renegotiated loans

Where possible, the Group secks to restructure loans rather than to take possession of collateral. This may invalve
extending the payment arrangements and the agreement of new loan conditions. Once the térms have been
rencgotiated any impairment s measured wsing the original effective interest rate as caleulated before the
modification of terms and the loan is no longer considered past due. The loans continue 10 be subject to an
individual or collective impairment assessment, caleulated using the loan’s original effective interest rate,

fifid Collateral repassessed

The Group occasionally acquires properties in settlement of loans and advances. Upon initial recopnition, those
assels are measured at fair value as approved by the regulatory authorities. Subsequently these propenies are
measured at the lower of carrying value or net realisable value.

Upon sale of repossessed assets, any gain or loss realized s recognized in the consolidaed income statement
under “Olher operating income™” or “Other aperating expenses™. Gains resulting from the sale of repossessed
pssels are transferred 1o “Reserves [or capital increase™ in the following financial year.

Hedge accounting

The Group makes use of derivative instruments o manage exposures 1o jnterest rate, foreign curréncy and credit
risks, including exposures arising from forecast transactions and firm commitments, In order to manage particular
risks, the Group applies hedge accounting for transactions which meet the specified criterin,

At inception of the hedge relationship, the Group formally documents ihe relationship between the hedged item
and the hedging instrument, ineluding the nature of the risk, the objective and strategy for underaking the hedge
and the method that will be used to assess the effectiveness of the hedging relationship.

At each hedge elfectiveness assessment date, a hedge relationship must be expected 1o be highly effective on a
prospective hasis and demonstrate that il was effective (retrospective effectiveness) [or the designated period in
order to qualify for hedpe accounting. A formal assesament is undertaken o ensure the hedging instrument is
expected to be highly effective in offsetting the designated risk in the hedged iem, both at inception and at cach
quarter end on an ongoing basis. A hedge is expected 1o be highly eflective i the changes in fair value or cash
flows auribumable to the hedged risk during the period for which the bedge is designated are expected to oflset in
a range of 80% w 125% and are expected 1o achieve such offser in future perieds. Hedge ineffectiveness is
recagnized in the consolidated income statement in “MNet gain (loss) from financinl instruments at fair value
through profit or loss”. For situations where that hedged item is a forecast transaction, the Group also assesses
whether the transaction is highly probable and presents an exposure W variations in cash lows that could
ultimately aftect the consolidated income stmement.
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25 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Hedge accounting (continued)

(i} Fair value fiedges

For designated and qualifying fair value hedges, the cumulative chunge in the fair value of a hedging derivative is
recognised in the consolidated income statement in “Net gain (loss) from finaneial instruments at fair value
through profit or loss™, Meanwhile, the cumulative change in the fair value of the hedged item attributable to the
risk hedged is recorded as part of the camying value of the hedged item in the consolidated statement of financial
position and is also recognised in “Net gain (loss) from financial instruments ai fair value through profit or Joss™
im the consalidated income statement.

If the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or where the hedge no longer meets the
criteria for hedge accounting. the hedge relationship is discontinued prospeetively, For hedged items recorded i
amortised cost. the difference between the carrying value of the hedged item on termination and the face value is
amortised over the remaining wrm of the original hedge using the recaleulated effective interest rate (EIR)
mcthod. 10 1he hedged item is derecognised, the unamortised fair value adjusiment is recognised immuediately in
the consolidated inconme statement,

fii) Cash flow hedees

For designated and qualifying cash flow hedges, the effective portion of the gain or loss en the hedging
instrument is initially recognised directly in equity in the “Cash flow hedge” reserve, The ineffective portion of
the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised immediately in the consolidated income statement.

When the hedged cash Now affects the consolidated income statement, the gain or loss on the hedging instrament
15 recorded in the corrésponding income or expense line of the consolidated income statement. When the forecast
transacltion subsequently resulls in the récognition of a non-linancial asset or a non-financial liability, the pains
and losses previously recognized in other comprehensive income are removed from the reserve and included in
the initial cost of the assel or lability.

When a hedging instrument expires, or is sold, werminated, exercised, or when 2 hedge no longer meets the
criteria for hedge aeeounting, any cumulative gain of loss existing in other comprehensive income at that time
remains in other comprehensive income and is recognised when the hedged forecast transaction is ullimately
recognised in the consolidated income statement. When a forecast transaction is noe longer expected (o oceur, the
cumulative gain or loss that was reporied in other comprehensive income is immediately transferred to the
consolidated income statement.

(it} Hedge of a net vesiment

Hedges of net investmaents in a foreign operation, including a hedge of a monetary item that is accounted for as
part of the pet investment, are accounted for in a way similar to cash Mow hedges. Gains or losses on the hedging
instrument relating to the effective portion of the hedge are recognised directly in other comprehensive ineome
while any gains or losses relating to the inellective portion afe recognised in the consolidaled income statement,
On disposal of the foreign operation, the cumulative value of any such gains or losses recognised directly in other
comprehensive statement s transferred to the consolidated income statement.

Leasing

The determination of whether an arrangement is a lease or it contains a lease, is based on the subsianee of the
arrangement and requires an assessment of whether the ulfiliment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of
a specific assel or assets and the arrangement conveys a right 1o use the asset.

Girawgp as a lessee

Leases which do not transter 1o the Group substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the
leased items are operating leases, Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the consolidated
income statement on a straight line basis over the lease term. Contingent rental payahle are recognised as an
expense in the period in which they are incurred,




Byblos Bank SAL

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2016

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
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Leasing (continued)

Crranip as o lessor

Leases where the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are
classified ns operating leases, Initial direcl costs incurred in negotiating operating leases are added w the carrying
amount of the leased asset and recognized over the lease term on the same basis as rental income, Contingent
rents are recognized as revenue in the peried in which they are earned.

Recognition of income and expenses

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it s probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the
revenue can be reliahly measured. The fallowing specific recognition criteria must also be met betore revenue is
recognised.

i) Interest and similar income aind expense

For all financial instruments measured al amortized cost, interest income or expense is recorded using the EIR,
which is the rate that exactly discoums estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expecied life of the
financial instrument or & sherler period, where appropriate, to the net earrving amount of the financial assel or
financial liahility. The calculation takes into account all eontractual terms of the financial instrament and includes
any fees or incremental costs that are directly attributable to the instrument and are an integral part of the
effective interest rate, but not future credit losses,

The carrving amount of the financial asset or financial lakility is adjusted if the Group revises its estimates of
payments or receipts. The adjusted carrying amount is caleulated based on the original effective interest rate and
the change in the earrying amount is recorded as “Interest and similar income™ for financial assets and “Interest
and similar expense” for fimancial lahilities.

e the recorded value of a lnencial asset on @ group of similar firancial assets has been reduced due 10 an
impairment loss, interest income continue to be recopnized using the rate of interest used o discount the fure
cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss,

{ii) Fee and commission income
The Group earns fee and commission income from & diverse range of services it provides to its customers, Fee
income can be divided into the following two categories:

Fee income earned from services that are provided over g cerfnin period of time
Fees earncd for the provision of services over a period of time are accrued over (hat perlod. These fees include
commission income and asset management, custody and olher management and advisory fees.

Loan commitment fees for loans that are fikely w0 be drown down and other credit related fees are deferred
{together with any incremental costs) und recognized as an adjustment (o the EIR on the loan, When it is unlikely
that 8 loan be dravn down, the loan commitment fees are recogni zed as revenues on expiry,

Fee income from providing tranvaciion services

Fee arising from negotiating or participating in the negotistion of o iransaction for a third party, such as the
arrangement of the acquisition of shares or other securities or the purchase or sale of businesses. are recognized
on completion of the underlying transaction. Fee or components of fee that are linked 10 & certain performance
are pecognized after tulfilling the corresponding criteria.

Fee and commission income fFom providing insurance services

Insurance and investment contract policvholders are charged For policy administration services. Investment
management services, surrenders and other contract fees. These fees are recognized as revenue over the period in
which the refated senvices are performed. 17 the fees are for services provided in future periods. then they are
deferred and recognized over those fulure periods,
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
15 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Recognition of income and expenses (continued)

(it} Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive the pavment is established.

fiv) Net gain floss) from financiof instruments af falr value through profit or loss

Results arising from fnancial insiruments at lair value throsgh profit or loss, include all gains and losses from
changes in fair value and related ineome or expense and dividends for financial assets at fair value through profit
ar loss. This includes any inelfectiveness recorded in hedging transactions.,

{vi) Insurance revenue

For the insurance subsidiaries, net premivims and aceessories (gross premivms) are taken Lo income over the
terms of the policies o which they relate using the provate temporise method for non-marine business and 23% of
gross premiums for marine business. Uneamed premiums reserve represents the portion of the gross premiums
writlen relating to the unexpired period of coverage.

If the unearned premiums reserve is not considered adequate to cover future claims arising on these premiums a
premium deficicney reserve is ereated.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents as referred 1o in the cash flow statement compeise balances with original maturities of a
period of three months or Tess including: cash and balances with the central banks, depasits with banks and financial
institutions, and deposits due o banks and financial institutions.

Property and equipment

Property and equipment is stated at cost excluding the costs of day-to-day servicing, less aceumubated depreciation
and accumulated impairment in value. Such cost includes the cost of replacing part of the property and equipment
il the recopnition criteria are met, When significant paris of property and equipment are required o be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly. Likewise, when a myajor inspection is performed, its cost is recognised in the carrying amount of the
equipment as a replacement 1 the recognition criteria are satisfied. All other repair and maintenance cosls are
recognised in the consolidated income statement as ineurred, The present value of the expeeted cost for the
decommissioning of an asset after its use is included in the cost of the respective asset if the recognition criteria
for a provision are met,

Changes in the expected useful life are accounted for by chanaing the depreciation period or methed, as appropriate
and treated as changes in accounting estimates,

Depreciation is calculated using the straight Tine method W wiite down the cost of property and equipment 1o their
residual values over their estimated useful lives. Land is not depreciated. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Buildings S0 years

DMfice equipment and furniture 666 — 1 2.5 years
Computer equipment and soflware 3.33 — 5 years
Gieneral instatlations 5 years

Vehicles 4 years

Property and equipment is derecopnised on disposal ot when no fulure economic benefits are expected from its
use. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (caleulated as the difference belween the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) s recognized in “Net gain (loss) on disposal of fixed assews™ in the
year the asset is derecognized,

The asset’s residual lives and methods of depreciation are reviewed ot cach fnancial year end and adjusted
prospectively ifapplicable,
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
5 Summary of sipnificint accounting policies (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinpions are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured at acquisition date fair value and the amount of any non-
contralling interests in the aequiree. For cach business combination, the Group elects whether 10 measure the
non- controfling interests in the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s idenifiable
net Bssels. Acquisition costs incurred are expensed and ineluded in administrative expenses,

When the Group makes an acquisition meeling the delinition of a business under IFRS 3, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriste classification and designation in accordance with the contraciual
terms, econemie eircumstances and pertinent conditions as @ the acquisition date, This includes the separation of
embedded derivatives in host comtracts by the deguiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured
al falr value at the acquisition date through the consolidated income statement. It is then considered in the
determination of goodwill,

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Subsequent changes to the fuir value of the contingent consideration which is deemed 1o be an asset or
lighility will be recognised either in profit or loss or as a change 1o other comprehensive income. 1T the contingent
consideration is classified as equity, it should not be remeasured until it is finally settled within equity,

Goodwill is initially measured at cost. being the excess of the agerepate of the considerition transferred and the
amount recognised for nen-contralling interests, and any previous interest held, over the nel identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed. IF the fair value of the net assels acquired is in excess of the aggregate
consideration \ransferred, the Group re-assesses whether it has correctly identified all of the assets acquired and
all of the liabilities assumed and reviews the procedures used 1o measure the amounts o be recognised at the
acquisition date. If the re-assessment still results in an excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over the
agerepate consideration transferred, then_the gain is recognised in profit or loss.

Following initial recognition, geodwill is measured at cost ess any accumulated impainnent [osses, Goodwill is
reviewed for impairment annually, or more frequently, if events or changes in cireumsiances indicate that the
carrying value may be impaired. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in @ business
combination is, from the sequisition date, allocated o each of the Group's cash generating units (CGLs) or group
al CGLUs, which are expected to benefit lrom the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other
assets or labilities of the acquiree are assigned o those units, Each unit 1o which the goodwill is allocated
represents the lowest level within the Group @t which the goodwill is monitored for internal management
purposes, and is not Inrger than an operaling segment in accordance with IFRS 8 "Operafing Segments .

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and part of the eperation within that unit is disposed of, the
goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrving amount of the operation when
determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured
based on the relative values of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained,

Intangible assels

An intangible asset is recognized only when its cosi can be measured reliably and it is probable that the expected
future economic benefits that are atiributable to it will Now 1o the Group.

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost, The cost of intangible assets
gequired in & business combination is their fair value as at the date of acquisition, Following initial recognition,
intangible assets are carried at cost less any aceumulated amortisation and sccumulated impairment losses,
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.5 Sommary of significant accounting policies {continued)

Intangible assets {confinued)

Ihe wseful lives of intangible assels are assessed to be either finite of indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives
are amertised over the useful econemic life, The amorlisalion peried and the amortisation method for an
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed ul least ot each financial year-end. Changes in the expected
useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are
accounted far by changing the amorlisation period or method, as appropriate, and trealed as changes in
accounting estimates. The amortization expense on intangible assets with finite lives Is recognised in the
consolidated income statement,

Amortisation is caleulated using the straight=line method 10 write down the cost of intangible assets o their
residual values over their estimated vseful lives as follows:

+  Keymoney 10-15 years

Intangible assets with indefinite wseful lives are not amortised, but are tested for impairment annually, either
individually or at the cash-generating unit level. The assessment of indefinite life is reviewed annually 1o
determine whether the indefinite |ife continues to be supportable. [ not, the change in usefu] life from indefinite
ta finite is made on a prospective hasis,

Ciains or losses ansing from de-recognition of an imangible asset are measured as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in the statement of profit or foss when
the asset is derecopnised.

The Group does not have intangible assels with indefinite economic life.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Bank assesses gl each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. IT any
indication exists. or when snnual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group estimates the asse’s
recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value
less costs to sell and {15 value in use. Where the carrying amount of an assel or cash-generaling unit exceeds its
recoverable amuunt, the asset 15 considered impaired and {5 written down 1o its recoverable amount. In assessing
vitlue in use, the estimated future cash Mows are discounted o their present value using a pre-lax discount rate
that reflects current markel assessments of the Hme value of wmoney and the risks specific o the asset. In
determining fair value less costs to sell, an approprizte valuation model is used. These calculations are
corraborated by valuation multiples, quoted share prices for publicly traded subsidiaries or other available fair
value indicators.

For assels excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporing date as to whether there is any indication
that previeusly recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased, If such indication
exisls, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there hos
heen a change in the estimates used o determine the nsset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss
wits recognised, The reversal is Hmited so that the earmyving amount of the asset does not exceed its recoverable
amount, nor exceeds the carrying amount that would have been determiined, net of depreciation, had no
impairment loss been recognised for the assel in prior years. Such reversal s recognized in the consolidated
in¢onte statement.

Impairment losses refating to goodwill cannot be reversed in future periods,
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)
15 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial guarantees

In the ordinary course of business, the Group gives financial guarantees, consisting of letters of eredit, guarantees
and acceplances. Financial guarantees are initially recognised in the financial statements (within “Cther
linhilities")y at fair value, being the premium received. Subsequent W initial recognition, the Group's liability
under each guaraniee is measured 81 the higher of the amount initially recognized less, when appropriate,
cumulative amonization recognized in the consalidated income statement, and the best estimate of expenditure
required to settle any financial obligation arising as a resull of the guarantee.

Any increase in the liability relating to linancial puaranices is recorded in the consolidated income statement in
“Net eredit losses™, The premium recelved is recagnised in the consolidated income statement on a straight line
basis over the life of the puarantee in “Net fee and commission income™.

Pensions and other post-employment bencfits

The Group operales defined benefit pension plans, which requires contributions to be made 1o scparately
administered funds. The cost of providing benefits under the defined benefit plans is determined using the
projected unit credit method which invelves making actuariadl assumptions about discount rates, expected rates of
reluen on assets, Mulure salary increases, monality rates and future pension increases, Those assumplions are
unhigsed and mutually compatible.

Re-measurements, comprising of acwarial gains and losses, the effect of the asset ceiling, excluding net interest
and the return on plan assets (excluding net interest), are recognived Immediately in the statement ol financial
position with a corresponding dehit or credit to retained earnings through OCI in the period in which they ocour.
Re-measurgments are not reclassified 1o profit or loss in subsequent periods,

Past service costs are recagnised in profit or loss on the earlier of!

#  The date of the plan amendment or curtailment. and
7 The date that the Group recognises restructuring-related costs

Met interest is caleulated by applyving the discount rate to the net defined benefit lability or asset, The Group
recognises the following changes in the net defined benefit obligation under “Persormel expenses™ in
comsolidated statement of income:

#  Serviee cosls comprising current service costs, past-service costs, gains and losses on curtailments and non-
rouline seltlements
F  Netinteresl expense or income

Provisions for risks and charges

Provisions are recognised when the Group has-a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, and it is probable that an outflow of resources embadying economic benefits will be required 10 seutle the
obligation and a relishle estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The expense relating o any
provision is presented in the consolidued income statement net of any reimbursement,

Taxes
Taxes are provided for in accordance with regulations and laws that are effective in the countries where the
Croup operates.

(i} Crirrent tax

Current tax asseis and Habilities for the current and prior years are measured a1 the amount expected to be
recovered from or paid 1o the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used o compute the amoum are
those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.
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1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

15 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Taxes (continued)

(if} Deferred tax

Deferred tax s provided on temporary differences at the reporting date between the tax bases of assets and
lighilities and 1heir carying amounts for financial reporting purposes. Deferred tax Habilities are recognised for
all taxable temporary differences, except:

o Where the deferred tax lisbility arises (rom the initil recognition of goodwill or of an asset or Habilit
in & transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, atfects neither the
accounting profit por taxable profit or loss.

+  Inrespect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates,
where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and i is probable that the
tepporary differences will not reverse in the foresceable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused 1ax credits
and unused tax losses, to the extent that it s probable that 1axable profit will be available against which the
deduetible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised except:

#  Where the deferred tax assel relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the jnitial
recognition of an asset or lability in 4 transaction that is nol a business combination and, at the time of
the ransaction, aftects neither the accouming profil nor taxable profit or loss.

o In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidinries and
associates, deferred tav assets are recognised only w the extent that it is probable that the lemporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be ulilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at cach stalcment of linancial position date and reduced 1o
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax assel 10 be wilised. Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at each statement ol linancial
position date and are recognised to the extent that it hes become probable that fowre taxable profit will allow the
deferred tax asset to be recovered,

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the
asset is realised or the lability is settled, based on tax rates (and fax laws) that have been enncted or substantively
enacted at the stalement of financial position date.

Current tax and deferred tax relating to items recognized directly in other comprehensive incame are also
recognised in other comprehensive income and not in the conselidated income statement.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are ofisel if a legally enforceable right exists 1o set ofl current tax
assels against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation
authority.

Treasury shares

Own equity instruments of the Group which are acquired by it or by any of its subsidiaries (ireasury shares) are
deducted from equity and accounted for a1 welghted average cost, Consideration paid or received on the purchase
sale, jssue or cancellation of the Group's own equity instruments is recogmized direetly in equity. No gain or loss
is recognized in the consolidated income stalement on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group's
oW equity fnstruments,

When the Group holds own equily instruments on behall of its clients, those holdings are not included in the
Group's consolidated statement of fnancial position,
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
25 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Treasury shares (continued)

Contracts on own shares that reguire physical settlement of a fined number of own shares for a fixed
consideration gre classified as equity and added to or deducted from equity. Contracts on own shares that require
netcash settlement ar provide a choice of settlement are elassified as trading instruments and changes in the fair
value are reported in the consolidated income stalement.

Assets held in custody and under adminisiration

The Group provides custody and administration services that resull in the holding or investing of assets on behall
of is elients. Assets held i custedy or under administeation, are not treated as assets of the Group and
accardingly are recorded as of T fi nancial position items,

Dividends on ordinary shares

Dividends on ordinary shares are recognized as a lability and dedyucted from equity when they are approved by the
Bank’s shareholders, Interim dividends are deducted from equity when they are declared and no longer gt the
discretion of the Bank.

Dividends for the year that are approved alier the reporling date are disclosed as an event after the reporting date.

Customers” acceptances

Customers' acceptances represent term documentary credits which the Group has committed o settle on behalf of
its clients against commitments by these elients (acceplances). The commimments resulting from these
acceplances are stated as a liability in the statement of Mnancial position for the same amount.

Segment reporting
The Group's segmental reporting is based on the following operating segments: consumer banking, corporate
banking, and treasury and capital markets,

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of the Group's consolidated financial stalements requires monagement o make judpements,
estimates and assumptions that pifect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the
accompanying disclosures, and 1he disclosure of contingent liabilities, Uncertainy abowt these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adiustment to the carrying amouni of assets or labilities
affected in finure periods.

Judgements

fn the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements,
apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect in the amounts recognised in the
financial statements:

{ioing concerd

The Group’s management has made an assessment of the Group™s ability Lo continue as & going concern and s
satisfied that the Group has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future, Furthermore,
management is not aware of any material uncerainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Group's ability o
continue as a going concern, Therefore, the consolidated fnoncial statements continue o be prepared on the
poing concern basis.

Business mode

In making an assessment whether a business model’s objective Is o hold assets in order to collect conractual
cash flows, the Group considers at which level of its business aclivities such assessment should be made,
Generally, & business model is a matter of fact which can be evidenced by the way business is managed and the
information provided to management, However, in some circumstances it may not be clear whether a panticular
activity involves one business model with some infrequent asset sales or whether the anticipated sales indicate
that there are two different business models.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)
Judgements (continued)

Business model fcontinied)
In determining whether its business medel for managing financial assets Is to hold assets in order w collect
contractual cash flows the Group considers:

- management’s stated policies and ohjeetives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in

practice;

- how management evaluates the performance of the portfolio;

- whether management’s sirategy focuses on eaming contractual interest revenues;

- the degree of frequency of any expected asset sales;

= the reason for any assed sales; and

- whether sold assets are held for an extended period of time relative o their conteactual maturity.

Canractual cash fows of financiol assers

The Group exercises judgement in determining whether the contractual terms of linancial assels it originates or
acquires give rise on specifie dates o cash flows that are solely pavments of principal and Interest on the
principal outstanding and so may qualify for amortised cost measurement. In making the assessment the Group
considers all contractual terms. including any prepavment terms or provisions to extend the maturity of the assets,
terms that change the amount and timing of cash flows and whethet the contractual terms contain leverage.

Deconsolidation of Byblos Bank Syria and Byblos Bank Africa as ar 31 December 2016

The Group proceeded with the deconsolidation of the subsidiories Byblos Bank Syrin and Byblos Bank Africa,
effective as of 31 December 2016, The decision o proceed with the deconsalidation was mainly due 10 the loss of’
contral over the subsidiaries and the Group™s inahility o direct the relevamt activitics of the subsidiaries, The
violent and erippling civil war, the imernational sanctions, the lack of exchangeability between the Syrian and
Sudanese Pounds from one side and the US Dallar from the other, combined with other restrictive regulations.
have limited the Geoup’s ability o effectively manage the subsidinries, Given this scenario, which 1s expected 1
endure for the foreseeahle future, it was considered thal the requisite conditions of IFRS 1 have not been met in
order for an accounting control o be carried out on the subsidiaries, Therefore, the deconsolidation of the
subsidiaries was proceeded with. Given the complexity of the Syrian and Sudanese scenarios, the previously
suthmarised considerations and assumptions inevitably relied on complex and subjective assessments and
estimates based on historical experience, and are considered reasonable and realistic in the circumstances, These
assessments and assumptions resulted in significant overall eifects on the consolidated financial statements of the
Croup. Please refer to note 2. *Deconsalidation of the subsidiary Byblos Bank Syria™ and “Deconsolidation of the
subsidiary Byblos Bank Africa™ For mere details on these effeets.

Estimates and assumptions

The key assumpiions concerming the future and other key sources of estimation uncertointy at the reporting date,
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial vear, are described below, The Group based its assumptions and estimates on
parameters available when the eonsolidaled linancial stwtements were prepared, Existing circumstances and
assumplions about (uture developments, however, may change due to market changes or circumstances arising
bevond the contral of the Group, Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when they oceur.

Fair valve af financial Tnsiruments

Where the tair values of financial assets and Iinancial liabililies recorded on the statement of finaneial position
cannot be derived from active markets, they are determined vsing a variety of valuation techniques that include
the use of mathematical maedels. The inputs o these models are derived from observable market data where
possible, bul where observable market data are not available, judgement is required o establish fair values, The
jndgements include considerations of liquidity and model inputs such as volatiliyy for tonger dated derivatives
and discount rates, prepayment rates and default rate assumptions for asset backed securities.  Changes in
assumplions about these factors could affect the reported fiair value of finuncial instruments.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)
Estimuates and assumptions (continued)

Impaivment fosses on loans and advances

The Group reviews ils individually significant loans and advances s each statement of financial position date (o
assess whether an impairment loss should be recorded In the consolidated income statement. In particular,
judgement by management is required in the estimation of the amount and timing of fulure cash fMows when
determining the impairment foss. In estimating these cash flows, the Group makes judgements aboul the
borrower's financial situation and the net realizable value of collateral, These estimates are based on assumptions

about a pumber of factors and actual resulis may differ, resuling in future changes to the allowance,

Loans and advances that have been assessed individually and found not 1o be impaired and all individually
insignificam loans and advances are then assessed collectively. In groups of assets. with similar risk
characteristics, to determine whether provision should be made due o incurred loss events for which there is
objective evidence but whose effeets are not vel evident, The collective assessment takes account of data from the
loan portfolio (such as credit quality, levels of arrears, credit utilization, lean to collateral ratios ete,),
concentrations of risks and economie date (including levels of unemplos ment, real estate prices indices, country
risk and the performance of different individual groups).

Deferved fix assels
Deferred 1ax assets are recognized in respect Lo tax losses 1o the extent thit it is probable that taxable profie will
be available against which the losses can be utilized. Judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred

tax assets that can be recognized, based upon the likely timing and level of fulure taxable profits, together with
future tax planming strategies.

Pensions ohllgation

Thie cost of the defined benefit pension plan is determined using an actuarial valuation. The actuarial valuation
involves making assumpiions abowt discount rates, expected rates of rewrn on assets, fure salary increases,
mortality rates and [ulure pension increases. Due to the long-term nature of these plans, such estimates are
subject to significant uncertninty.

4 GROUP INFORMATION

The consolidated financial staternents of the Group comprise the financial statements of Byblos Bank SAL apd
the following subsidiaries:

Ferivnrage Frinipal Cowmpry af
by gl vwmessiip ety (eRrranarkag
241 J0if
H "

Branking sctivities throagh its bead alfice in Brussels

Bablas Ak Eunope 84 CL R 9395 (Belgium}and rwe brarches in Lomdon and Paris Belgium
Adoms [njarance and Rémiurdnse

Co (ADMRYSAL LR ] 6300 lnuuraece Lebanan
Adoriz Brokerage House SAL 10000 10000 lnszance biohersze Libasicn
Hyblon Invest Tank SAL 99.59 968 Inveszment anking Lebanon
Bybilos Band Afnca (4] 56,56 5686  Commersial Barking Sudan
Byblos Bank Syna sS4 (%) £9.37 5987 Cemmezsial Banking Surin
By Bark Armenia C1SC THY 0 6500  Cemmersisl Rinkmg Anremik
Adcais Insurinoe and Reinsurane

{ADIR) Syrie Th.00 To0d  Insuramce Syria
Byhins Rank RIN SARL Eh.6T G667 Harking scovities Deonocrag

Republof Conga

1*) Eltictive 31 December 20046, (he Crroup deconsalidated Byblos Bank Syria § A and Byblos Bank Africs since 1t no longet meets the
acvounting critenia for conselidalion
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5 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

Acquisifion af ownership (nferesi in Bomgue Pharaon & Chiha SAL

Buring 2016, the Group acquired 100% of the voling shares of Bangue Pharaon £ Chiha SAL, an unlisted bank
aperating in Lebancm, for a total consideration of LL 148,732 million. Banque Fharaon & Chiba SAL was
engaged in providing a wide range of banking services to its customers through its Head Office and branches
loeated in Lebanen. The acquisition was accounted for under the acquisition method. The consolidated finaneial
stutements include the results of Bangue Pharaon & Chila SAL for the six-month period from 30 April 2016, the
acquisition date, until 31 October 2016 when the assets and liabilities of Banque Pharson & Chiha SAL were
merged with the assets and lahilities of Byblos Bank SAL. From 30 April 2016, the date of acquisition. il 31
October 2016, Bangue Pharaon & Chiha SAL contributed LL 2,524 million to the consalidated net profit of the
Group. If the acquisition had taken place at the beginning of the yvear 2016, consolidated net income for the year
would have increased by LL 2,491 million.

The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired arising as a1 30 April 2006, the date of acquisition,

W

Fair vafye

recognised
an acgriisiiion
LL million
Assels

Cash and balances with central bank 90,604
Due from banks and financial instiwnions 27,139
Financial assets a1 fair value through profit or loss 794
Met loans and advances to customers ot amortized cost 135,165
Debinors by acceplances 1,228
Financial assets al amorlized cost 106,564
Froperty and eguipment 520
Assets oblained in setlement of debt 47
Chher assels 2030
464,091

Liabilities
Deposits from customers at amortized cost (307,863)
Dreposits trom related partics al amortized cost (37,899
Engagements by acceplances {1,228)
Other labilities (7,734)
Provisions for risks and charges (2,138)
{356,862)
Total identifiable net assets 107,229

LL miffion

Acquisition percentage 100%%
Fair value of net assels acquired (107,229)
Consideration paid 148,732
Excess fair value of soft loan (*§ (73,159)
Additional expenses to be incurred upon acguisition (note 36) 44,083
Goodwill arising on acquisition 12,427
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Byblos Bank SAL
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2016

5 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS {continued)

Acquisition of mwnership interest in Bangue Pharaon & Chiha SAL (continied)

(*} On 20 October 2016, the Central Bank of Lebanon approved the merger of the assets and liabilities of Bangue
"haraon & Chiha SAL and, in this respect, granted the Group two loans with favourable terms compared to the
muarkel. In accordance with the Central Bank of Lebanon®s approval, the difference between the fair value of the
loans and the proceeds received amounting to LI 73,159 million should be allocated by the Group 1o cover the
expected costs that will be incurred as a result of the merger, As al 31 December 2016, the Group allocated the
excess received against the below costs:

LL witlion

Impairment of goadwill 29,076
Credit losses 27,094
Employvees indemnities 16,989
Total —Tﬁ

During 2016, the Group wrote-off the remaining carrying amount of goodwill ameunting to LL 12427 million in
the consolidated statement of income.

Ot of the total consideration paid, an amount of LL 11005 million was deposited in an escrow account, the
purpose of which is o indemnify the Group from losses incurred by Bangue Pharaon & Chila SAL as a résult of
unrecarded or undiselosed liabilities, shorfall of provisions for loans and advances to customers and court cases
brought against Bangue Pharaon & Chiha SAL before the closing date of 30 April 2016, As a1 31 December 2016,
the unrecorded losses Incurred by Bangue Phoraon & Chiha SAL as a result of the above amounted to L1 5,247
million awd were paid from the escrow accounl. The remaining balance of the cserow account amounting o L1
5,758 million {note 36} will be released 1w the sellers during the year 20017 unless additional unfisreseen liabilities
refating Lo the period before the closing date are incurred by Banque Pharaon & Chiha SAL.

Transaction costs of LL L6100 million were expensed and included in “Other operating expenses™ in the
consolidated statement of income.

LL wriflion

Cash paid {148,732)
Wet cash acquired with the subsidiary £5,133
Net cash outflow (83,599

Capital increase in Byblos Bank Armenia CISC

Oin & April 2016, the Extraordinary General Assembly meeting of Byblos Bank Armenia CISC resolved to increase
Byblos Bank Armenia CJSC's capital by an amount of LL 49,629 million in which the Group fully participated, As
o result of this capital increase, the Group's ownership interest increased from 65.00% 1o 88.06%.

Acquisifion of EBRD share in Bytos Bank Armenia CISC

Effective 24 June 2016, European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (EBRD), holders of 8,53% non-
contralling interests of the subsidiary Byblos Bank Armenia CISC, exercised the pul oplion granted by Byblos
Bank SAL which resulted in the Group acquiring an additional 8.53% interest in the voling shares of Byblos Bank
Armvenia CISC, Increasing its ovwnership interest to 96.59%, A cash consideration of LL 6130 million was paid to
the non-controlling interest sharcholders. The carrving value of the additional interest acquired was L1 4,800
million. As the Group accounts for such pul eptions through partial recognition of non-controlling interests, this
transaction did pot have an impact on non-controlling interests in equity, The difference between the cash
consideration paid to non-controlling shareholders and the carrying value of additional interest acguired amounting
to LL 1,330 million is recognized within equity.
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5 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

Acqirisition af OF 1Y share in Byblos Bank Armenia CISC

Effective 20 July 2016, Opee Fund for International Development (OFID), holders of the remuining 3.41% non-
controfling interests of the subsidiary Byblos Bank Armenia CISC, exercised the put option granted by Byblos
Rank $AL which resulted in the Group acquiring an additional 3.41% interesl in the voting shares of Byblos Bank
Armenia CISC. inereasing its ovnership interest to 100%. A cash consideration of LL 2,432 millicn was paid wo
the non-controlling interest sharcholders. The carrying value of the additional interest acquired was LL 1,921
million. As the Group accounts for such pul oplions through partial recognition of non-contralling interests, this
transaction did not have an impact on non-controlling interests in equitv, The difference belween the cash
consideration paid to non-contral ling sharcholders and the carrying value of addiienal interest acquired amounting
to LL 531 million is recognized within equity.

& MATERIAL PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES
Financial information of subsidiaries that have materia) non-controlling interests are provided below:

Proportion of equity Interests held by non-controlling interests:

2016 2015
% %

Name
Byblos Bank Africa (*) 43.14 43,14
Adonis Insurance and Reinsurance Co, (ADIR} SAL 36.00 A6.000
Byblos Bank Armenin CISC . 35.00
Byblos Bank Syria S.A. (%) 40.13 a0.13

(*) Effective 31 December 2016, the Group deconsolidated Byblos Bank Syria S.A. and Byblos Bank Africa
sinee it niv longer meets the accounting eriteria for consolidation,

I'bhe summarized financial information of these subsidiarics are provided below. This information is based on
amounts before inter-company €liminations:

Summarized income statement for 2016:

Bibfos  Adonls Insirance  Byblos Beak Byllos

Bank  and Réinsiance Armenia Bawk Syeio

Africa Co. {ADIR) SAL CISC 5A.

LE mififan LE. miltfon L weliffon LE miifion

Netb inlereat income 4,807 10,618 4,345 1,959
Net fee and commissian ingome 877 3,084 168 9239
Net gain from Oinangial instouments at fur value through profivor loss 213 143 138 30937
(iher operaling income 128 19,413 I3 Wi
Met credit Nosses) gains 1,010 - (2,135) 4,044
Total aperaling éxpenses {2,988) (11,6510 i3, 160 {16,916)
Imeome tas expense (897} (1,737 - {996)
Prafit (oss) for the year 3,150 19,867 451) 0,077
Aturvbutahle 1o noe-controlling intensts 1,359 7152 - 8,057
Dividends paid ip non-contoelling intenests _ . _J:FI'II'I - -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2016
6 MATERIAL PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Suimmarized income stalement for 2015:
Bybles  Adoms farerawce  Hvblos Bank

Rank and Refnsuraiee Armenia Byflar Bank

Afrfea T fADIR) SAL CJISC Sawir S 4

LE mallion L militon LL million LL withian

Wetimerest ncome G824 LNl 1637 3626

el fee and commession ifeome 1220 2997 153 2,165

Wet pein from financial instruments at fair value thiough profit or loss 500 - 215 36,783

Other eperating Income 339 i7.55%9 12 109

Net credit {losses) gains (5,351) - {4.220) & 116

Toda) nperating expenses (7.279) (11,253 {4.545) (18,821)

Income Lix expanse [IRARY [H67 ) (E18] (824)

Peofit {loss ) Tor the year {1,840} 17,525 (6.797) 23154

Attribauatle o non-conralling iness (1873 6,309 12,579 11,300
Brdends paid o non-contralling interests 2,11 1704

Summarized statement of financlal position as at 31 December 2016:

Adanis
Insaraice ond Hyblos
Reinsurance Bank
Co. fADNR) Arienia
SAL CISC
LL mithion  EL million
Cash and balances with central bank s fi 43,097
[Fue frem banks and Ninancial institutions 17179 12,220
Balunces with Parent and Group entilics 153,055 1,290
Finuncial assets at faic value through prolit or loss 37088 -
Wet loans ad advances at amonized cost 4,875 69,125
Financial assets al anwortized cost 156,694 64,470
Property and equipment 1612 1917
Other azsgls 56,297 4491
Due 1o hanks - (85,637}
Deposils al pmortized cosd {234,383) (91.544)
(nher Hahilaies (121614) (31,50
Toal equity 1,806 65,595
Adtributable o pon-controlling mierests 29,491 .
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G MATERIAL PARTLY-OWNER SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Summarized statement of Nnancial position as at 31 Decenmber 2015;

Cash and balomees with central bank ¢
Due from banks and fimancial nstitniions
Balances with Parent and Group enlilies
Fimancial assets ot fair value through prafit or loss
Net loans amd advances al amortized cost
Finarcial assets al amorized cosl
Property and equipment

Cither assels

Pue o hanks

D to Parent and Group éntities
[eposiis at amomzed cost

Onher Hahibities

Torl eqguity

Agtributable to non-controlling interasis

Summarized cash flow information for the year ended 31 December 2016:

Operating
Invgsting
Financing

Netingrease (decrease) in cash and cush equivalents

Summarized cash Nlow infoomation for the year ended 31 December 2015;

Operaling
Trwesting
Finarcing

Nt increnss (decrease) in cash and eash equivatenis

Adanis Hyhlos
Insurance and Bank
Byblox Bank fyhlos Bank  Hemsirance Co Armenia
Africa Svria 8.A, fADIR) SAL CIsC
LE wnediton LI milfien L mifiton  LE miflion
7367 791 Y 29,801
4,963 &T.712 31 M85 16,493
44,650 BO.058 130,359 8314
. - 235,517 £
B2 044 74,582 4,583 56,009
18469 7704 140,732 13,034
15027 4858 2085 3065
| HE2 19810 51,879 1,862
{34.551) (40,047} - (%559
(41,021 (60.618) - -
(106,718) {148.611) (103,334} (849,145}
{12.544) (15,529) (113,343} (8,405}
16,273 61,710 70,711 17,099
11,864 25968 33491 -
Byblos  Adonis fniwtance  Byblos Bank Hyblas
Bank  and Refnsirance Armenia  Bank Syria
Afrlea  Co. (ADIR) SAL CIisC 54
L8 weltiin EE miliion LE milllion LE mififlen
1611 14274 (61,534) 1223
(11,125 {5,202} an 1,406
16,4200 {5,161} 71,351 .
T 1393 fill 10,7% 5629
Myblos  Adonis Innmance Bybian Sank
Bank i Ranunrance Abmienin  Byblos Bank
AHea o (ADIR SAL CUSC Byria S,
L million LI millicn LL mitiion LE willicn
{4917 27.526 12 863 (47, 718)
164158 (3H4676) {76} 6910
(23,6723 13,450 7,432 5
{12234 {10600 .29 ; {40 508
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2016

1 SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organized into three operating segments based on products and services
as follows:

Retall banking provides a diversified range of products and services to meet the personal banking and consumer
fimance needs of individuals, The range includes deposits, housing loans, consumer loans, credit cards, funds
transfers, foreign exchange and other branch related services.

Corporate banking provides & comprehensive product and service ollering 1o corporate and Institulional
castomers, including loans and other eredit facilities, deposits and current accounts, trade finunee and Foreign
exchange operalions.

Treasury and capital markets is mostly responsible for the liquidity management and market risk of the Group
as well as managing the Group's own portfolio of siocks, bonds and other financial instruments, In addition, this
segment provides treasury and inw estment products and services 1o fnvestors and other institwtional custoners,

Management moenitars the operating resulis of its business units separately for the purpose of making decisions
gbout resource allocation and performance assessment, Segment performance is evaluated based on operating
profit or loss which in certain respects is measured differently from operating profit or loss in the Anancial
statements. Income taxes are managed on a group basis and are not allocated to operating segments.

Imterest income is reported net as management primarily relies on net interest revenue as performance measure,
not the gross income and expense amounts,

Transfer prices between operating segments are on an arms™ length basis ina manner similar W irnsactions with
third partics.

The following table presents net operating ineame. profit and total assets and liabilities information in respect of
the Giroup's operating segments:

Profit for the year information

2l
Tuu:lu:rdmi'
Kataif t'mpamre ru‘nkur
hanking Bunking PR thihier! Tubal
LI arilfion LI miflivn LA miflilon {1 willlion LL miliion
et interest income (evpense) 195018 123,250 54034 (&15) hLG AL
Mt Tee and commission iniome L5270 57408 aTi 5195 11407
e gaan from financial instroments b fur vadue though
prn.ﬁl. o lass - . 79,970 - THET0
N gun from sile of Fearcral asasts at Enortired cosl - - 417 599 - AT ea9
Dividend income foom fnsscisl sssen o Der vilue thraggh
other comprehensive ingome - - 4413 - LA
Other operating moome - - - 17,803 17,803
Wetcredit (losses) gains (13,043} 19,450 1,578 . 5915
Impairment leases on financie! im estmenty - - - 1459,6T6) {49,874)
Nef operaling intome 139,154 RO AR K38, 1:8 (1T An3) FROA3D
20
Frectiw ey arl
Retall Cerporan cupinal
hurking huenbing ke ibaw Tl
LL millicn Al milfion L miltom LL miliice LE widlian
ML interesl anoT 173 %01 115,851 RERE]] L k8314
Boet fee ard commission inoome 47,370 59,159 197 4919 121,551
Pues gain from financisl instrumenss a1 fair value through
profit or loss - . 67445 . 67,443
et gain from sale of finencisl assets At amormized cos & . B&;939 ' A6,95%
Dividend income from finencial eeeets ot fair value through
other (umplih(nm: LLOmE - " i 3B3 - § 383
4700 Bperalhg ioine - - - I EE] 10915
et ceediy (Fosaes) galas JUR R 20y EE R TH] - {47.308)
Net operating income NBALG 174,192 219454 18597 B10.05Y

41



Byblos Bank SAL
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7 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Fingnctal position infarmation

Total assels

Tata] lLabilities

Tongh nsseis

Total liekilites

P iCchar tngfudes all nombonibing acrhoniies

Geographic information

e
Teeaniery and
Retall Corparaie capital
banking banking Frnarrketi hker” Togal
L mvilifan L mwillion LEL million EL mitfion LL meillion
5L,711.947 S38.910 12,040,507 i1, 20D M, 373,580
bR R IR E] 1478042 LaThA 550,047 18,654,158
FR
Trranuey and
Retenl Carparaté eupei
Fanking tanking ke Lhibaes Todal
LE smillion L miliion LA mfen LE miflion L amifton
2,497,187 5181,338 T ga%, (08 405,624 19,934,410
EEETIRER | 369,021 1,727,610 $63,409 17,370,567

The Group operates [n three geographical segments, Lebanon, Europe and other countries. The following table
shows the distribution of the Group’s net operating income and non-current assets.

Twal operating incoms
Mt credit gains (losses)
Tmpairment losses on financial inyesimens
Nel operating income?

Non-current asselst

Total pperating incoms
et credit losses

Net operating income®

Mon-cuirent assets®

206
Lebanon Eurape il Toral
LE militan LL meittion LE miflion LE mitifan
916,503 37809 7,058 1,021,290
7,302 (3,345) 4,968 8915
{49,676) - {4676)
$73,919 34551 72,086 980,539
261,753 2614 19,377 290,774

2015
Lebanon Enrape Crher Total
LE mliion f.L milliar EL wiliion LE militon
365 601 In 438 B3 2K HRT. 467
(37 B4y (6.271) (3.786) (47,908}
527,752 30,165 82,142 610059
145234 10360 42030 297 61

! e operonng income 0 minhard i the geugaashivn! tegmeini di the bashy af the focodn of the bearg b duhiidiane roporubie for siportieg e recultyor

adianiing the fands

V Nomcurrénl susali’ coniiif of praperly dnal dgwipeent, iniorgible bty wad derin OMber geds forher tham faancial ihitresind dad deferead faeri
enpectid s Ky recavesad in mope dan beghod seamihi .-_rﬁ.'f the mparting date
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B INTEREST AND SIMILAR INCOME

20046 20135
LI miflion LL wwiflionr
Balonees with central banks 326,669 263,832
Due from banks and financial institutions 16,243 9.053
Loans to banks and financial institutions and reverse repurchase agreements
16,181 36.220
Financial assets given as collatera) 1,319 191
Loans and advances w custoniers al amortized cost 514,775 493,597
Loans and advances to related parties at amortized cost 1,628 1,869
Finaneial assets at amortized cost 758,097 684,325
1,545,922 1,489,087
9 INTEREST AND SIMILAR EXPENSE
2016 20
LL milflon LL million
Due Lo central banks 3,167 2,152
e to banks and financial institutions 26,136 21,502
Customers” deposits ot amortized cost 1,066,168 | 0647
Deposits from related parties at amartized cost 18,104 15715
et issued and other borrawed funds 3.06% LM
Sukordinated debt 3 480 k) k]
1,176,124 1,102,771
10 NET FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME
2016 2015
LL siffion LL miitlion
Fee and commission income
Lcans and advances 24,87} 23,513
Letters ol guaranice 13,584 15,857
Acceptances 5,004 5905
letters of credit 14,634 16.517
Credin cards 17,933 15,571
Domiciled bills 2524 2,503
Checks Tor callection 3,081 2,904
Maintenance of accounts 13,829 13,048
Transfers 8621 8973
Safe rental L210 1,168
Portfolio commission 2,989 2934
Commission on insurance related activities 9,474 9,124
Refund of banking services 12,958 12,206
Other commissions 3,318 4,201
134,122 134,515
Fee and commission ex pense (12,515) {12,564)
Net fee and commission income 121,607 121,951
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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11 NET GAIN FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2016 2013
LL nrlifion LE willion

Interest and similor tncome fram deht fnsienmenss

= Lehanese treasury bills 27125 11,350
- Certificates ol deposil issued by the Central Bank of Lebanon 27,991 1.479
- Foreign governmental debt securities 6 1
= {hher debt securities 18 79
55,160 12,912
{Loss) gain from sale af debi instriments
- Lebanese treasury hills (2,712) 1.821
- Certificates of deposil issued by the Central Bank of Lebanon (17,519) 274
- Foreign gevernmental debt securities 120 (35)
- Onher debt securities 39 L0
(20,082) 2,220
Unrealized (loss) gain from revadwation of debr instenmonis
- L.ebanese treasury bills 1061 (6. 145)
- Certiticates of deposit issued by the Central Bank of Lebanon (6,509 (175)
- Foreign governmental debt securities - 1B
- Oiher debt securities 4 127
{5,534) (6.155)
Net galn from debt instrunicnls 2954 8.977
Equity irstruments o
= Ciain {loss) from sale 204 (2471
- Unrealized gain lrom revaluatiom 1,807 953
- Dividend income 636 873
Met gain (loss) from equity instruments 2647 (943)
Linrealized gain fram revaluation of structural position of a subsidiary 30,662 35,547
Foreign exchange 21,908 13,862
Fair value of pul options on non-contralling interesls (4,791) -
79,970 67,443

Foreign exchange inconme includes gains and losses from spot and forward contracts, other currency derivatives
and the revaluation of the daily open trading position.
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12 NET GAIN FROM SALE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTIZED COST

The Group derccognises some debt instruments classified at amortised cost due 1o the following reasons:
- Deterioration of the credit rating below the ceiling allowed in the Group’s investment policy:

- Liguidity gap and yield mansgement;

- Exchunge of certificales of deposit by the Lebanese Central Bank;

- Currency risk management as a result of change in the currency base of depasits) or

- Liguidity for capital expendilures.

The schedule below details the gains and losses arising from the deérecognilion of these financial assets:

266 .

Girins Losses Net

LL million LL milfffo LE milfion

Lebanese treasury bills 186,220 (6,757) 279,463
Certificates of deposit issued by the Central Bank of Lebanon 136,003 - 136,003
Foreign govermmental debt securitics 528 - 828
Other debt securities 1,493 (38) 1,405
424,544 (6,845) 417,699

2013

Crains Losses Nef

L1 million LL madficm LL million

Lebanese treasury hifls 22311 (8] 22310
Certitivates of deposit issued by the Central Bank of Lebanon 38,551 - 58.551
Foreign governmental debt securities 19 - 19
Oiher debt securities 6,059 - 6,059
§6.940 (86939

During 2016, the Central Bank of Lebanon booght from the Group long-term wreasury bills and certificates of
deposit denominated in Lebanese Lira at prices significantly exceeding their fair values, These transactions were
available to banks provided that they are able to relnvest an anount eguivalent to the nominal value of the sold
instruments in Eurobonds ssued by the Lebanese Republic or Certificates of Deposit issued by the Central Bank
of Lebanon denominated in US Dollars and purchased al their fair values, The gains arising from such trades
amounted 1o LL 271,699 million from the Lebanese treasury bills portfolio and LL 130,539 million [tom the
Certificates of Deposit portfolio.

13 OTHER OPERATING INCOME

2016 2015

LE miflion LL milfion

Met gain from sale of assets obtained In settlement of debt 4,093 836
Rental income lrom assets oblained in seittement of debt 963 1118
Write hack of provisions for risks and charges (note 37 (b1} 3073 .
Other operating income from insurance related activities 16,901 15,141
{Mhers 2773 3820
27,303 20,935
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31 December 2016

B NET CREDIT GAINS {LOSSES)

Charge for the year.
Loans and advances to customers al amartized cost (note 25)
Balances with central banks (note 19)
Bad debts written of

Recaveries during the vear,
Loans and advances to customers {(note 25)
Balances with central banks (note 199
Linrealized interest on loans and advances 1o customers (nofe 25)
Financial assels ot amortized cost

15 PERSONNEL EXPENSES

Salaries and related charges

Social security contributions

Ronuses

Provision for end of service benefits (note 37 (a))

15 OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

Taxes on interest

Taxes and duties

Contribution to deposits guaranice fund
Rent and refated charpes

Professional fees

Telecommunications and postage expenses
Board of Directors” attendance fees
Maintenance and repairs

Electricity and fuel

Travel and entertainment

Publicity and advertising

Subseriptions

lLepal expenses

Insurance

Guarding fees

Primtings and stationery

Donations

Provisions for risks and charges (note 37 (b))
Others

2016 2005
LL miffion LE miifion
(29,736} {36,363)
- (35,620
(53) {137}
(29,789) (721200
33 A66 17,730
1,578 @
3670 4,911
- 1.571
38,714 I TRIE
8,925 (47.508)
2016 2015
LE miiflen L million
152,816 144,703
20,635 17,453
15,051 14,831
T.A85 3405
195,787 180,762
20106 2003
LL miflinn LL militon
3,299 3384
6,790 B.568
12,601 11,913
6,898 6,433
15,209 11,237
7457 7.639
956 1,020
16,673 15,532
58319 5,878
452 3,750
14,948 12,828
5,665 3.837
439 3,997
1,691 1,699
2,366 2175
3,203 ENER
2,460 3ATD
0,733 21,394
10,802 11,422
145,474 139,187
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17 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The components of income tax expense for the years ended 31 December 2006 and 2015 are as follows:

2016 2015

LL miiiffon LL writlion

Current income tax expense 103,846 48,041
Deferred tax related wo origination and reversal of temporary diffetences 056G 336
Onher laxes 9,917 4,506
114,719 53,083

The tax rates applicable to the parent and subsidiaries vary from (%4 to 40% in accordance with the income tax
laws of the countries where the CGroup operates. For the purpose of determining the taxable results of the
subsidiaries for the year, the accounting resulls have been adjusted for tax purposes. Such adjustments include
items refating to both income and expense and are based on the current understanding of the existing tax laws and
regulations and tax practices.

The compenents of operating profit before tax, and the differences between income Lax expense reflected in the
finaneial statements and the mmonnts calcalated al the Lebanese tax rate, are shown in the table below;

2016 2013

LL millian LL myiffion

Profit before tax 303,954 296,520
Income 1ax at Lebanese tax rate of 13% 54.593 -H.J'.Hi

fmpact af increase resuliing from:

Bifterent tax rates 5,156 3,915
Mon-deductible expenses 51,485 6,820
56,641 10,735
Imipact of deceease reswliting fram:
Revenues previoushy subject lo tax (2,789) 11,838}
Unrealized gain rom revaluation of structural position ol a subsidiary {4,509 13,334)
(1.388)  (7.17D)
Income tax lﬂﬁi& = 48.041
Effective income tax rate 18.583% |6.2ﬂ‘°;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2006

17 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

The movement of current ax labilities during the year is as follows:

Balance at | January

Charge for the year

[3eferred tnves related to deferred revenues (nole 36)
Acguisition of a subsidiary

Deconsolidiation of subsidiaries

Less tees paid:
Current year tax lability *
Prier years tax liahilities

Balance at 31 December (nole 36 (a))

2016 2045
LL mitfton LI million
37,724 50,219
113,763 52,547
22,402 -
2,783 .

I.] laﬁal -
175,304 102,766
(29,498) (26,384)
(24,876) (38,658)
(54,374) (65,002
120,930 37714

{#) Repretents taxes padd o0 imterest recgived from reasuny hills and central banks” certificates ol deposits

Deferred taxes recorded in the consolidated statement of financinl position result from the following ilems:

Fair value of financial instrumenis

Fair value of financial instruments
Carried forward taxable losses of a subsidiary

2l
Deferred tnx Deferred fax
assets flabifities
LL million LE mifition
593 4323

s
Deferved rax Beferved tax
avyeds Hubilities

LI million

35906

LL millicnr

3,273

3006

321
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18 EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share is caleulated by dividing the net profit for the year atiributable o ordinary equily holders
of the CGiroup by the weighted average number of ordinary shares oulstanding during the year.

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit awributable 1w ordinary equity holders of the
Group (after adjusting for interest on the convertible instruments net of tax) by the weighled average number of
ordinary shares oustanding during the year plus the weighted average number of endinary shares thot would have
been issued on the conversion of all the dilutive potential shares into ordinary shares.

The following table shows the income and share data used in the basic earnings per share caleulation:

2016 23

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the vear (*) 562,801,539 563022405
2016 2043

LL mitfion LE million

Net profit attributable to equity haldees of the parent 232,672 218,185
{Less): proposed dividends to preferred shares {48,480) (48.480)
Net profit atiributable to equity holders of the paremt 184,192 179,705
Basic camnings per share in LL 32722 319,18

(*} The weighted average number of ordinary shares adopted for the computation of basic eamings per share
takes into account the weighted average number of treasury shares.

Diluted earnings per share
The following table shows the income and share data used in the diluted earnings per share calculation:

204 2015
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic camings per share 562,891,539 563.022405
EfTect of dilution:
Converlible subordinated debt 117,200,000 117,200,040
Weighted average number of ordinary shares adjusted for the eftect
of dilution 680,091,539 GRO,222.403
2ila 2013
LL miffion LL million
Met profit attribuiable 1w equity holders of the parent 184,192 179,705
Interest on convertible debt 31,480 31,231
Less: income tax (4,722) (4,685)
et profit attributable w equily hoelders of the parent adjusted for the effect of o
convertible deht 210,950 206,251
Dilued eamings per share in L1 30,18 103,21

There were no ransactions involving ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares between the reporting date and
the date af the completion of these consolidated financial statements which would require the restatement of
carnings per share.
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19 CASH AND BALANCES WITH CENTRAL BANRS

26 20035
LL milfion LL milfion
Cash on hand 249,425 2611,252
Balances with the Central Bank of Lebanon:
- Currenl accounts 511,787 06,950
= Time deposits 7,707,705 5965933
8,219,492 6.672,883
Balances with Central Banks in other countries:
- Current aceounts 221,651 273,834
- Time deposits 38,845 15,482
= Provision for balances with Central Banks in other countries {a) {31,561) (35.4435)
228,935 253,871
Accrued interest receivable 85,40 449,231
TURT783092 7236237

fa)  Provision for halances witde Centeal Banks in other couniries

Movement in the provision for balances with Central Banks in other countries during the year was as follows;

il 2013

LEL mififan LL milfion

At | January 5,45 -
Charge for the vear {note 14) - 35620
Write-back during the year (note 14) {1,578) -
Foreign exchange (2,306) (175)
Al 31 December 31,561 35,445

Peavision for balances with Central Banks in other countries represents provision amounting to LL 31561 million as
at 31 December 2016 (2005: LL 3 1,546 million) against balances held with the Central Bank of Trag— Kurdistan:

thi  Obligatery reserves:

In accordance with the Ceniral Bank of lebanon's mules and regulations, banks operating in Lebanon are
required to deposit with the Central Bank of Lebanon an obligotory reserve caledlated on the basis of 25% of
sight commitments and 15% of term commitments denominated in Lebanese Lira, This is not applicable for
investment banks which are exempt from obligatory reserve requirements on commilments denominated in
Lebanese Lira, Additionally, all banks operating in Lebanon are required to deposit with the Central Bank of
Lebanon interest-bearing placements representing 13%% of total deposits in foreign currencies regardless of
natiire, Obligatory reserve reguirements for banks operating in Lebanon and the refaled covering lime deposits
and current ascounts with the Centeal Bank of Lebanon amounted to L1 2.650.875 million and LL 2,661,708
million respectively as al 31 December 2006 (2015 LL 2,610,080 million and 1L 2823076 millien
respectively),

Subsidiary banks and branches operating in foreign countries are alse subject W oblipatory resemnve réquirements
determined based on the banking ndes and regulations of the countries in which they operate. As of 31
December 2016, oblipatory reserve requirements for banks operating in foreign countries and the related
covering time deposits. current accounts and cash on hand amounted to LL 47.240 millien (2013: LL 106,711
il ek,
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i DUE FROM BANKS AND FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

Banks:

- Current accounts

= Time deposits

= Accrued interest receivahle

= Doubtful bank accounts

= Provision for doubtful bank accounts

Finaneial institulions:
= Current accounts

Registered exchange companies:

- Current accounts

- Doubtful exchange companies aceounts

- Provision for doutiul exchange companies accounts

Brokerage companies:
- Current accounts

Banbifid banks and registered exchonge companies

2016
LEL miftion

2043
LL meifiion

784,522 767,301
1,868,039 1,739,756
1,442 1,013
1,718 1,766
(1,718) (1.766)
2,654,003 2.508.070
2312 2,305
2006 2005

LL mififon

LL weillion

243 6,740
2,306 1,922
(2,306) (1,922
243 6,740

871 1,250
1,657,429 2,518,365

Following is the movement in the provisions for deubtfiu] banks and registered exchange companies during the

year:
26 23

Registered Registered

exchange exchings
Banks  companies Total Ranks COMKINES Tagal
LE muiflion LL meiffion LL milfion L mifiem LLnuflion LI milfion
Balance @1 1 Fanuary 1,766 1,922 1688 1038 1,922 3,960
Acquisition of o suhsidiary - 384 384 - . H
Exchange difference (48) - [48) 274 (2723
falance at 3] December 1,718 2306 4,024 1,766 1,922 3 688
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21 LOANS TO BANKS AND FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS AND REVERSE REPURCHASE

AGREEMENTS
2016 2015
LI mififon L willion
Loans 1o banks and financial institnions 941 167,932
Acerued interest receivable T8I H05
94,972 168,737
Discounted acceptances 108,915 91,738
Interest received in advance (533) {304)
108,382 91,434
Reverse repurchase agreements T60.411 B32.500
Acerued interest receivable im 4376
760,712 936,876
964,066 1,197,047

Reverse repurchase agreements held by the Group as at 31 December 2016 and 2015 comprise of the following:

M December 2016 Average
Balance Balawce  terest rte Collateral type Collmteral value
foiny  LE million % LL mitlion
LL 300,636,000 00,636 LWL BDL CDs 285,000
LSS 301,060 453,847 143 BDL CDs 452,250
AMD 1,899,950 5028 575 Armenian TBs 6,180
M December 2013 Average
Balance Balance  dwerestrate  Collateral npe Collateral value
{TH) LE milfion %5 LL mrillion
L'ss 618574 932,500 2.61 BDL CDs 934650

The Group has @ programme to purchase securities under agreements to resell (reverse repos). The Group has an
obligation to return the securities and the counterparly retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.
Consequently, the securities are not recognized by the Group, which instead record a separate usset under reverse
repurchase agreement reflecting the ransaction’s economic substance as a loan by the Group,

As of 31 December 2016, the Group had Certiticates of Deposit issued by the Central Bank of Lebanon with a
todal nominal amount of USS 300 million and L1 285,000 million and Armenion Treasury Bills issued by the
Armenian government with a total nominal amount off AMD (000} 1,980,896 bought from financial instiitions
under the agreement to resell them during the first hall of 2007 (2015 Certifivates of Deposit issued by the
Central Bark of Lebanon with a total nominal amount of USS 620 million bought from o financial instilwion
under the agreement W resell them during the lirst half of 2016),

MNel interest income on the reverse repurchase agreements amounted to LL 18,208 million for the year ended
3 December 2016 (31 December 2005: LL 22,573 million).
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i1 FINANCIAL ASSETS GIVEN AS COLLATERAL

2006 2015
LL million LE writfion
Treasury bitls mortgaged in favour of the Central Bank of Lebanon, at

amortized cost 211,387 1,387
Acerued interest receivalhle 1,657 18
224,044 1,405

The balance represents treasury hills pledged as collateral for loans obtained from the Central Bank of Lebanon
{note 32,

13 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The table below shows the fair values of derivative linancial inslruments, recorded as assets or liubilities,
together with their notional smounts. The notional amount, recorded gross, is the amount of a derivative’s
underlving asset, reference rate o index and is the basis upon which changes in the value of derivatives are
measured. The notional amounts indicate the volume of transactions owstanding at the year end and are nefther
indicative of the market risk nor the credit risk.

Credit risk in respect of derivative financial instruments arises from the potential for a connterparty to default on
its contractzal obligations and is. limited to the positive market value of instruments thal are {avorable to the
Group.

14 2073

Natfonal Natienal
Aszets  Elabilives g Assers Linkilities arend
LE mefltien  LL million LE million LL mititen LE mittion LL mitfon

Held for rading
Currency swaps 1,955 938 194,933 H4 L F 170,082
Forward farcign exchange contragts 2462 1,168 115,601 1,330 2053 236,306
44120 2006 30,554 1,544 2445 407,308

Forwards

Forwards are contractual agreements to huy or sell a specified financial instrament at a specific price and date in
the future. Forwards are customized contracts transacted in the over—the—counter market.

Swaps

Swaps are contractual agreements between two parlies o exchange streams of pavments over tme based on
specified notional amounts. in relation to movements ina specified wndertying index such as an imerest rate,
foreign currency rate or equity index.

In & currency swap, the Group pays a specified amount in one curreney and receives a specified amount in
another currency, Currency swaps are mostly gross—setiled,

Dervivative financial instruments held or issued for trading purposes

host of the Group’s derivative trading activities relate to deals with customers that are normally offser by
transactions with other eounterparties. Also included under this classification are any derivatives entered into for
risk management purposes that de not meet the hedpe accounting eriteria.
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24 FINANCIAL ASS5ETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LIOSS

20l 205
LL miflion LA areidlian
Oroted
l.ebanese treasury bills — Eurobonds 24,032 216,656
Debt securities issued by banks and financial institulions 1513 2440
Equity securities 40,065 35,669
T eesl0 254765
Liquated o
Lebanese treasury bills — denominated in LL 193,950 10,348
Certificates of deposil issued by the Central Bank of Lebanon -
denominated in LL 428,572 27,714
Corpaorate bonds - 3018
722,561 41,080
TR T2 295 845
25 NET LOANS AND ADYVARNCES TO CUSTOMERS AT AMORTIZED COST
2016 Miis
LL million LL million
Commercial loans 5,253,773 5. 197,877
Consumer loans 2,824,387 2,597.621
8,078,160 1,795,498
Less:
- Individual impairment allowances (158,278) (183,738)
- Callective impairment allowances (78,643) (131,448
- Unrealized interest (53.964) (BD.671)
7,787,275 7,399,641

Bad loans and related provisions and unrealized interest which fulfill cenain requirements have been transferred to
off financial position accounts. The gross balance of these loans amounted to L1 167,358 million as of 31

December 2006(2015: LL 118,539 million},

Movement of unrealized interest on substandard, deubtful, and bad loans during the year was as follows:

Toral
LL mitfion

80,671

26,155
7
{30,552)
{3,670)
{7,263)
12,612
(17,798)
(6,508)

I | |

Coprmercial Consumer

foans foans

LL miiflion LL miflion

Balunce at 1 January 79,172 1.49%
Add [less):

- Unrealized interest for the year 4,122 2,033

= Transter from off financial pesition 6 1

- Transtee to off financial position (30,552) -

- Recoveries fnote 14) (3. 160y (510)

- Amounis wrilten off 17,222) 41

- Acquisition of a subsidiary 12,612 -

= Dreconsalidation of subsidiaries (17,713} (85)

- Difterence of exchange {6,376) (22)

Batance al 31 December 51,089 2875

53,5964
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25 NET LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS AT AMORTIZED COST (continued)

2005
Commercio! Carnspmer
foans loang Towl
LL million LE million LL midTion
Balanee at 1 January 91217 243 97,462
Add (less):
- Unrealized interest for the vear 232007 1.623 24,830
- Tramsfer from oft financidl positian {49 . 661
- Transfer to off financial position {23,165} - (23,165)
- Recoveries (note 14) {4751 {160) (4.911)
= Amounts written off (4,003 [35) {4,038)
- Difference of exchange {9,994 (1T (1, 168}
Balance at 31 December T9am 1,499 80,671
Movement of the indivisdual impairment allowances during the vear was as follows:
2016
Cammercial Canstmer
iy loanx Total
LL milfion L miltien LL miflifon
Balance at | January 97,438 86,303 183,738
Add (less):
= Charge for the vear (note 14) 5717 18,768 24,485
= Amounts written off (2,530 (380) {2,910)
- Recoveries {note 14) (6,622) (7.184) (13.506)
- Transfer to off finemeial position (14,524) - (14,524)
- Transfer to collective impairment allowances (1.432) (8) {1,440)
= Aequisition of a subsidiarn 9224 - 9.1
= Decansolidation of subsidinries (19,336) (60D} (19,936)
- Ditference of exchiange (6,306) (247) (6,553)
Balance ot 31 December 61,626 96,651 158,278
Gross amount of loans individually determined to be impaired 115317 145,169 370,486
2043
Cemerelol Consmer =
lnans loans Tatal
LL mififion LE mifiion LL miflion
Balanee at 1 January 149,293 73,387 322,680
Add (less)
= Charge for (the vear {note 14) F1LASD 21463 32913
« Transfer from comimercial o consumer [64) tud -
= Amounts writien off (1.378) {343) (4,821)
- Recoveries (note 14) (10,634 (7.0591) 117,730y
- Transfer to off financial position (40,978) - (40.978)
= Transler from collective impairment allowances 6,704 493 7197
- Difference of exchange {13,953) {1.570) (15,523)
Batance at 31 December 97435 86,303 183,738
Gross amount of loans individually determined 1o be impaired 235616 132,748 366,364
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15 NET LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS AT AMORTIZED COST (continued)

Movement of the collective impaimment allowances during the year was as {pllows:

Balunge at | Fanuary

Add (lessh:

« Charge for the year (note 14)

« Recoveries (note 14}

« Transfer from individual impairment allowanees

= Trunsfer from provisions for risks and charges (note 37)
- Acguisition of a subsidiary

- Peconsolidation of subsidiarics

< Difference of exchange

Balance at 31 December

Balance at | Janwany

Add (lessh

« Charge fin the year (note 14)

= Transfer from commereial o consumer

= Transfer tn individual impaimment all owances
» Difterence of exchange

Balance at 31 Deceniber

26 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTIZED COST

Ouated
Lebanese treasury bills — Eurobonds
Foreign governmental debt securities
M securitics issued by banks and financial instibations
Corporate bonds

LUnigrenten!
Lebanese treasury bills ~ denominated in 11
Certificates of deposit fssued by the Central Bank of Lebanon -
denominated in LL
Certificates of deposit issued by the Central Bank of Lebanon —
EuroCDs
Corporate bonds
Certificates of deposit issued by banks and financial institutions

2014 =
Commrercial Consiemer
fourns feowns Toral
LE miifion LL miifiton LL mittfan
120,551 10847 131,448
41,235 L6 5,251
(19.660) - {19,660)
1,432 § 1440
1,532 - 1,532
798 19 17
(21,430} (26) {21,456)
{20,725} () £20.729)
66,730 11913 78,643
20
Commercial Crmsunidr
{oans foans Towal
L sillion L mitilion L1 maltion
137.27§8 10,857 148,133
3450 - 3450
{388) 358 =
(6,704} (493} {7.197)
(12 8R3) {33) (12.940)
120,351 [ETH 131448
2058 215

LI mitfion

LI miflion

2,099,538 2038.651
138,113 125,272
5477 225,215

635 5. 788
2,243,763 2,394,926
2,657,946 1.813,756
2,525,812 3,501,859
1,956,230 770,570
E 216

33,228 13,187
7173216 #.121,588
2416,979 HLS 6,514
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) FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR YALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2016 2005

LL milfion LL million

Quated shares 44,388 48,241
Unguoted shares 56,917 53,666
101,305 101,967

The tahle below details the financial assets o fair value through other comprehensive income as at 31 December:

b Qi3
Cumratative Crnntliive
Carrving  fuie vafiee  Dividesnd Carrving fairvaflue  Divedend
anrennt chinges imcoe il changes Igome

LL mftlion  LL milfion  LL mitffen Ll -mitlion L miflien  LL miflion

Unguoted shares:

Banque de I'Habitat SAL 19,213 24,025 548 26,647 21,459 462
Intra Investment Company SAL 17,591 4.367 - 17,591 1567 ]
Interhank Paymen Metwork (1PR) SAL 1,363 360 - I, 360 357 51
Arah Trade Financing Program LII8 hlh - 2118 fizts -
Tmpact Fund 123 - - 1,569 .

Others 4,195 33} - 43581 333

Cuoted shares:

Tordan Al Benk 44,388 (36,026) 1865 48,241 (32,173) 1,870

101305 (6,115 413 01,907 (4809 4,383

Dividend ncome amounted 1o LL 4,413 million for the vear ended 31 December 2016 {2015: LL 4,383 million)
and resulted from equity instruments held at year end (2013; the same).

8 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Furnfture
Mator and Advanpce
Butldings vehicles  equipment Deposite payments Total
LL million  LL mitfion LEL mifftlon  LL wftlion  LL mififen LL milfion
Cost:
Al January 2016 265,139 3135 236,161 68T 4131 300,253
Additons 7,083 227 18,091 hk 9,542 350101
Transfs - - 1009 159} {950 -
Disposals . {70] {949) - - (1.025)
Foctign exchange difference (13,649 {285) (5548 (%) - (19,450)
Deconsolwdation of subsidiaries (10,357) (213] 15, 148) - (19 (16,037)
At 31 December 2016 HEOG 1,788 3606 688 12,604 07,712
Depreciaion:
At L Jonuwory 2016 39894 2270 191,964 . . 254,128
Depreciotion dunng the year 6,438 297 15,690 - . 22025
Rebatad to disposals - {760 (583) - - (B35}
Foseign exchange difference {3,287) {3043 (5.031) - - (8,623)
Deconsoledation of subsidiaries (2,458) [T {4,056) = " 16,654)
AL 31 December 2016 60,587 2047 197,983 . : 260,617
MNet carrying value:
At 31 December 2016 187429 741 13,612 i 12,604 T 095
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28 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Cost:
Ar 1 January 2015
Additions
Fransfors
Disposals
Foreign exchange difference

A3 December 2015

Deprecimion:
AL Jomieaey 2015
Depreciation during the year
Related to disposals
Foresgn exchanpge dilference

At 3 December 2015

Net commyng valug:
A3 Decamber 2013

Furnitire

Maior aitd Advanee
Buildings velucles  equigment Lleposits  payinenis Tatal
LLmilfion L milfion Llomiilion UL mithion  LE williion LL nndlion
233194 1689 223,189 T3 1,546 471521
213,661 G3f 16,770 - 2805 45972
. - 313 (13 -
- (165) 969) . . (1,034}
{3714 (25} (3,740 (163 {7y (7,506)
265,139 1135 216,161 fik7 4,13 509253
54,564 23m 178,383 - 235,542
5872 178 17416 - 23,466
- {165) (801} . - {966)
34T (133) (3,234} * + (3.954
50,804 2270 191,961 . : 251,128
205,245 865 44,197 He7 401 255,125

The cost of buildings at 31 December 2016 and 2013 include the revaluation ditferences of properiies valued
during prior years in accordance with law 282 dated 30 December 1993, and approved by the Central Comminee

of the Bank of Lebanon.

Revaluotion differences on property and equipment reflected as revalustion reserve of real estale in equity
amaunted 1o LL 5,689 million as at 31 December 2006 (2015; the same) (note 43).

29 INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Cusl:

At 1 January and 31 December
Accumulated amortization:

At | January

Amortization expense for the year

At 31 December

Mel carrying value:
AL 31 December

2016 2013

LL miltion LL million
3303 2.303
1.810 1651

113 159

1,923 1410

350 493
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30 ASSETS OBTAINED IN SETTLEMENT OF DEBT

21{6 2013
LL million LL miflion
Cost;
ALl January 47,165 41,836
Additions 2,836 5.784
Disposals (1,543) {433)
Al 31 December 48,458 47,163
impairment:
At 1 January and 31 December {5,159) (5.15%)
Net carrying value: ==
AL 3 December 43,299 42,0
Advance payments received in connection with future sale transactions for the above assets amounted o LL
373 million as of 31 December 2086 {2015: LL 3,442 million) {note 36).
31 OTHER ASSETS
2016 2013
EL miftion LL mitlian
Obligatory deposity i 2150 15,365
Oiher asscls b 107,595 88,730
Deferred tax pssets (note 17) 03 3.906
110,438 108,001

a)  Obligatory deposits consisl of deposits al a percentage of the share capital of subsidiary banks that were
blocked at incorporation as a guarantée with the authorilies. These deposits shall be returned o the

subsidiary banks without any interest upon |iguidation of their activities.

by Other assets comprise of the following:

2016

LL mitfion

Prepaid rent 40
Printings and stationery 3415
Credit card balances due from customers 27,307
[nsurance premioms receivahle 4,365
Reinsurers” share of lechnical reserves of subsidiary insurance companies 41,025
Receivables from the National Soclal Sceurity Fund 12,361
Otler debit balances 15952
107,595

20f5
LL million

3,270

3,279
17,611

3,301
37,025
11,487
12.757

nE.730

— s
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32 DUE TO CENTRAL BANKS
2016 203
LL mififon LL million
Current accounts 2063 5,297
Time deposiis - 6,245
Loans dise 1o the Central Bank of Lebanon 326,754 103,515
Loan dug to the Central Bank of Ammenia 2.150 1,997
Acorued interest payahle 1,904 358
332,971 R TEXTE

Loans die to the Central Bank of Lebanon:

The Group signed u credit agreement with the Central Bank of Lebanon based on the provisions of Decision
no. 6116 dated 7 March 1996 relating Lo the facilities which can be granted by the Central Bank of Lebanon 1o
banks. The balance amounted to LL 176,622 million as of 31 December 2016 (2015: LL 102,128 million).
The Bank pledged as collateral against this halance eertificates of representation signed by the Bank’s
cuslomers.

During 2010, the Group obtained 3 loans from the Central Bank of Lebanon 1o finance customers alfected by
July 2006 war. These loans were originally granted in the amount of LL 8,810 million, out of which LL 1.893
million mawred during 2013 and L1 5,528 million motured during 2015, These loans are secured by the
pledge of Lebanese treasury bills amounting to LL 1,387 million included under financial assets given as
collateral as of 31 December 2006 (20135: the same) (note 22,

During 2016, the Group obtained 2 loans from the Central Bank of Lebanon 1o finance the merger of the
assets and |iahilities of Pangue Pharaon & Chiha SAL, These loans were originally granted in the amonnt of
LL 221000 million netted by a discoun of LL 72,255 million as at 31 December 2006 (2015: nily and are
secured by the pledee of Lebanese treasury bills amounting to LL 221000 million included under financial

assels glven as caollateral as of 31 December 2046 {note 22).

RE DUE TO BANKS AND FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

2016 20r5
LE mitfion LL militon
BETTER

- Current accounts 111924 81,337
- Term loans 164,177 165,484
- Time deposits 168,332 223,777
- Cash margins 153,710 32,810
- Accrued interest pavable 1,001 3131
600,144 356,739
Financial instiinions == =
- Current aceounts 7,018 3,644
= Term loans 121,784 149,286
- Time deposits IBATI 21.750
- Acerued interest payable 1449 1518
168826 176,198

Registered exchange companies. B
- Current aecounts 462 2,975
- Time deposits 4,558 7.024
- Acerued interest payable 15 19
Csms 10018
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33 DUE TO BANKS AND FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS (continued)

Brokerage instifdions,
- Current accounts
- Time deposits
- Accrued Tnterest payable

M CUSTOMERS' DEFOSITS AT AMORTIZED COST

Current accounts

Term deposits

Cash margins

Acerued Interest pavahle

35 DEBT ISSUED AND OTHER BORROWED FUNDS

Matarity

Bonds
Issie 2011 24/06/2021

Accrued intercst payable

2008
LL mifiian

2015
LE mitlion

o0 102

- 1 488

- 9

90 1.599
774,095 744,554
2016 203

LL million L million
3,244,752 321,519
20,891,474 20,176,258
1,151,475 L114.643
127,933 121,948
25,415,634 24,654,398
2016 2003

EL mriftion Li milfian
443,456 444,583
616 fil6
444,072 445,199

The Bank has underiaken not to use any of the proceeds of the fssue in Sudan, Syria or Democratic Republic of
Caongo. The Bank shall pay interest on the honds without deduction or withholding for taxes. The bonds are
redeemahble, in whole or in part. @ the option of the Bank at any time after the first anniversary of the issue date,
in the event of changes in the Lebanese tax law thay will resull in taxes on interest on the bonds in excess of the

current applicable tax rate,
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36  OTHERLIABILITIES

2016 2i13
LL miftion LE miffion
Accrued expenses e 19,015
Fixed assets suppliers 624 607
Linearned eemmission and interest 5,903 5.2
Cash margins related to companies under establishment 1,663 2,220
Insurance premiums received inadvance 354 3222
Puyables to the National Social Security Fund 2,065 1,851
Advance pavments linked to assets obtained in settlement of debt (note 30} 373 3442
Current tax liability (a) 133,493 50,771
Deferred tax liability (note 17) 4123 3273
Put aptiens on pon-controlling interests 4,7 18,263
Amounts o be incurred upon acguisition (note 5) 44,083 -
Escrow account (note 53 5,758 -
Deferred revenues (b) 126,682 -
Other creditors 34,998 19.629
399,813 147,567

fer) Cwrrent oo fiabilify
28146 2003
LL milfian LL millian
[ncome tax due (note 17) 120,930 31,7
Withholding tax on salaries 20 1.085
Withholding tax on interest carned by customers 6913 6717
Value added tax 527 396
Other taxes 1913 2.839
133,493 30,771

fhi Deferred vevemes

During 2016, the Central Bank of Lebunon issucd Intermediote Circular number 446 dited 30 December 2016
relating 1o the gain realized by banks from certain financial transactions with the Central Bank of Lébanen,
consisting of (he sale of finaneial instruments denominated in Lebanese Lira and the purchase of financial
instruments denominated in US Dollars, In aceordance with the provistons of this circular. banks should recognize
in the income statement, only part of the gain net of tax, caped to the extent of the losses recorded to comply with
recent régulatory provisioning requirements (refer to note 37), the impaiment losses on subsidinries and goodwill
recorded in accordance with IAS 36 and IFRS 3 respectively and the shortage needed to comply with the capital
adequacy requirements. Lebanese hanks may further recognize up to T0% of the remaining balance of the gain
realized net of tax in the income statement as non-distributable profits o be appropriated 1o reserves for capital
increase, qualifving for inclusion within regulatory Commen Equity Tier One.

The Group did not recognise in its consolidated income statement LL 126,682 million (net of 1ax) in gains realized
from certain financial transactions with the Central Bank of Lebanon, The related taxes amounting to LL 22,402
million were recorded directly in current tax liability (refer to note 17). The amount recorded as deferred revenues
qualifies for inclusion within regulatory Tier 2 Capital in accordance with the provisions of the ¢ircular,
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N PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND CHARGES

2016 2005

LL wiiftion LI milfion

Technical reserves of insurance subsidiaries 19,914 24,341
Emplovees” end of service benefits (a) 49,189 45,754
Other provisions (b} 126,287 31,443
275,390 171,538

fa) Lmployees” end of servive benefits

The Bank has two defined benefit plans covering substantially all of s employees. The [irst requires
contributions to be made w the National Social Securily Fund. The entitlement to and level of these end of
service benelits provided depends on the employees” length of service. the employees' salaries, contributions paid
to the National Secinl Security Fund and other requirements owtlined in the Lebanese Labor Law, Under the
second plan, no contributions are required 1o be made, however a fixed end of service lump sum ameunt should
be paid for long service employees, The entittement o and tevel of these end of service benefits provided
depends on the employees’ lengih of service, the employees” salaries and other requirements outlined in the
Workers" Callective Agreement.  End-of-service benefits for employecs al foreign branches and subsidiaries are
accrued for in accordance with the laws and regulations of the respective countries in which the branches and
subsidiaries are loeated.

Movement in the provision for employees’ end of service benefits during the year was as follows:

ito 015
LL miffion LL wiiflion
Balance at | Junuary 45,754 46,320
Costs charged o the incame statemens (nove 13}

Service cosls 4,360 4442
Past service cosls - (4,322)
Nel interest 1,925 3483
7,285 3405

Re-measuremeny losses (gatns) in other comprefiensive ineome;
Experience adjusiments 99 (474)
99 )
Acquisition of @ subsidiary 1,349 -
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries {753) -
End of service benefits paid during the year (3A87) 13,323)
Foreign exchange (1,058) (172
Balance at 31 Decomber 49,189 45.754
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» FROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND CHARGES (continued)

fua)

Enmplovees " end of service benefits feonminued)

Defined benetit plans in Lebanon constitute more than 83% of the Group®s retirement obligation, The prineipal
assumplions used in determining the end of service benefit obligations of these plans are shiewn below:

2016 2015
Economic assumpiions
Discount rate B.5% 8.5%
Future sulary increase 5.5% 5.5%
Future expected return on contributions 5.0% 5.0%

Bonus Last 2-years average

as a % of basic

Last Z-years averape
as a Yo of basic

Demographic assumptions
Hetirement age Earliest of 64 or completion
of 20 contribution years
None

2.0%

Earliest of 64 or completion
of 20 contribulion years
Mone

20%

Martality rate
Turnover rate

A quantitative sensitivity analysis #s a result of an increase/decrease of 50 basis points in the significant
assumplions as a3 December 2016 and 2015 is shown as below:

Fufure expected refun on

RS connd rate Futture saliry Incraase comtritiiions
crease decrease ficreate tecrease Increase decrease
LE militton LL million LL millton LL mifllonw LE aitfion LL willlion
Impact on net defined bene i
uhlignfions
W6 {1,397y 1,501 21954 {2,830 (1,425) 1,377
15 {1,246) 1,338 2647 12,509) (1.276) 1,236

The sepsitivity analyses above have been determined based on 8 methed that extrapolates the impact on nel
defined benefit obligation as a result of reasonable changes in key assumptions occurring al the end of the
reporting period.

by Other provisiuns
26 2005
LL wiflfon LI million
Excess provisions {note 36) (%) 102,480 -
Prowisions for contingencies 9,661 13,720
Provisions for legal ¢laims 4,513 10.254
Other 9,613 54649
126,287 IRETRTE!
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37 PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND CHARGES (continued)

(") During November 2016, the Central Bank of Lebanon isseed Intermediste Circular number 439 which
required banks operating in Lebanon to constitute collective provisions equivalent to 2% of consolidated risk
weighted |oans and advances to customers. As such, provisions for risks and charges as ot 31 December 2016
inelude an amount of LL 102,480 million in excess of the provisioning requirements of TAS 39 (2015 nil).

Mavement in other provisions during the year was as follows:

2016 23

LL milfion LL million

Al L January 3,443 9,035

Charge for the year 123,213 21,394

Acquisition of a subsidiary 1410 -

Write back during the year (note 13) (3073) -

Transfer to collective provisions on loans and advances {note 25) {1,532) -

Deconsolidation of subsidiarics (23,848) -

Foreign exchange (1,326) 1.014

AL3 1 December 126,287 ETETE
8 SUBORDINATED DEBT

e 2045

EL niition LL miflion

Mominal value 441,692 441,692

Unamortized discount (21,690 {24.455)

Acerued imerest pavable 163 163

420,165 417400

On 21 December 2012, the Bank signed a USS 300 million subordinsted loan agreement with an international
financial instituiion, whereby the latter acted as an issver of USS 300 million subordinated notes convertible into
Byblos Bunk SAL shares or GDR's according to the following terms:

Mumber of notes: 30,004

Note's issue price: LIS 10,000

Nate's nominal value: LSS 10,000

Date of issue: 21 December 2012

Maturity: 21 Pecember 2022, subject o the earlier conversion of these noles, in whaole

or in part, into Byblos Bank SAL shares or GDR's at a price of LSS 2.5 per
share or LISS 125 per GDR

Interest rate: Contractual interest rate of 6.5% pavable semi-annually.

Rights of holders: The notehalder has the right to convert all or portion ol the subordinated notes
into Byblos Bank SAL shares or GDR's a1 a canversion price of USS 2.5 per
share or USS 125 per GDR.

The convertible subordinated loan (net of subordinated notes held by a consolidated subsidiany) were recarded at
issuance as follows:

LL milfion
Neminal value of convertible bonds 441,692
Equity component (31,618)
Liability component 410,074

The equity component of the converible subordinated loan is recorded in equity under “non-distributable
reserves” (note 400,
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39 SHARE CAPITAL

o 2016 23
Noaf Share Share Noaf Share Share
shares capital  premfim shitres capital  premitum
LL mitfion  LL miftion L million LI mictlion
Conumon shares 565,515,040 684,273 129014 SHA SIS0 684,273 220014

565,51 5,040 684,273 229,014 565515040 6842731 229014

Preforred shares
- Series 2008 2,000,000 2,420 195,154 2,000,000 2420 295,154
- Series 2009 2,000,000 1420 295,929 2,000,000 2420 295929

4,000,000 4840 591,083 1,000,000 L840 591083

The capital of the Bank is divided into 369,515,040 shares of LL 1,210 cach fully paid {2013: the same).

Prefereed shares

i Series 2008 Preferred Shares
On 15 Avgust 2008, and based on the decision of the extraordinary general assembly held on 18 July 2008, the
Bank issued Series 2008 preferred shares, according to the following terms:

Number of shares: 2,000,000
Share’s issue price: LISS 100
Share’s nominal value: LL 1,200
lssue premium UISS (M) 195,790 {equivalent to LL 295154 million) caleulated in LSS a3

the difference between the total issue of LSS (D007 200,000 and the 1otal par
value of the fssue amounting to LL 2,400 million and afler deducting issyance
commission for the issue amounting o LSS (000) 2618,

Benefits; Nop-cumulative annual dividends of USS 3.00 per share, subject to the
availability of non-consolidated distribuable net protits.
Repurchase right: Redeemable (at a date subsequent to the approval of 2013 sccounts by the

general assembly) at the Bonk's option at the lssue price plus any declared
but unpaid distributions for all the years preceding the vear of the call, with
the condition that at |east 23% of the original number ot the preferred shares
are called each time.

Tin 206861, the par value of series 2008 preferred shares was inereased Irom LL 1,200 o LL L210.
il Sepies 2009 Preforved Shaves

On 4 September 2009, and based on the decision of the extraordinary general assembly held on | Augus| 2009,
the Bank issued Series 2009 preferred shares according to the following terms:

Number of shares: 2.000.000

Share's issue price: LS5 90

Share’s nominal value: LL1210

Issue premium : LISS (000} 188,313 (equivalent 1o LL 283,881 million) calculated in LSS as the

difference between the total issue of LSS ((00) 192,000 and the total par value
of the issue amounting w LL 2420 million and after deducting issuance
commissions of LSS (000) 2,082,

Benefits: Mon-cumulative annual dividends of USS 800 per share, subject to the
availability of non-consolidated distributable net prafits.
Repurchase right: Redeemable (at a date subsequent to the approval of 214 accounts by the

eeneral assembly) at the Bank’s option at USS 100 plus any declared but unpaid
distributions for all the years preceding the vear of the call, with the condition
that at least 25% of the original number af the preferred shares are called each
time.
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39 SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Listing af shires
As 0l 31 December the Bank’s shares were listed as follows;
2016 2015
Stock exchinnge Mo of shares Na af shares
Ordinary shares Beirut A02,135,490 302,605,340
Global depositery receipts {*) London SEAQ and Beirut 1,267,591 1,258,094
Preferred shares Beirul 4,000,000 4 OCND, (KD
(*) Global Depository Receipts (GDRs) can be fssued al a ratio of 50 Common Shares per one GIRR.
40 NON DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
Equaty
conponent of Resérve far
Reserves  converithle gemaral
Legal  for capital  subordinted Bernking Oilier
reserve. fNcrease ekt risks reserves Total
LEomifftan LL midiion Limifton  LLmillian DL weiflion LE miflian
Balance at | Juneary 2016 271477 65,105 618 ITLETD 175,714 H13,884
Approprigtion from retained eamings 23,138 3433 - 27982 7,49 61,822
Transfer to retmncd camings {1481} - - - (6S09) {84509
et loss on sale of ireasury shares - (118} - . - (18
Translation difference (10.504) - - (969 {14,345) {25818)
Balance ai 31 December 2016 182,650 68,420 31,618 198 583 162,049 843,320
Balanee a1 | January 2015 247366 61,790 EI N b 244,125 163,980 TAR BT
Appropriation from retained eamings 24511 3 - 28,590 11.734 08,168
Reclassication o distributable reseme . . - (1,131 - (1.131)
Met [oss on sale of reasury shares - 12} - - - (12}
Transtanen difference . . - (200 - {20}
Bulunce a1 31 December 2015 817 65,108 3618 27LSTD ATSTI4 815484

Legal reseinve

According to the Lebanese Code of Commerce and to the Code of Meney and Credit, the Bank is required 1o
transter 10% of their annual net profit to a legal reserve. In addition, subsidiaries and branches are also subject to
legal resecve requirements based on the rules und regulations of the counteies in which they operate. This reserve

cannot be distributed as dividends,

During 2016, the Group appropriated LL 23,158 million from 20135 profits o the legal reserve (20135 LL 24,511

million).
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40 NON DISTRIBLTABLE RESERVES (continued)

Reserves for capital fncrease

This. represents regulatory reserves constituted in accordance with cireulars issued by the Central Bank of
Lehanon and the Banking Control Commission. These reserves cannot be distributed as dividends anid comprise
the follewing:

2014 2015

LL mitfion LL miilfion

Reserve equivalent to gain on sale of assets acquired in setllement ol del 2,339 3676
Reserve equivalent [o provisions recovered 9,737 9,737
Reserve against assels obtained in settlement of deln 16,849 15,079
Reserve against realized gain from liquidation of fixed position 8870 8870
Ohhers 625 743
68,420 65,105

Reserve for general hanking risks

According 10 the Central Bank of Lebanon regulations, banks are required o appropriate from their annual net
profit a minimum of 0.2% and a maxinum of 0.3% of total risk weighted assets and off siatement of financial
position items based on rates specilied by the Centeal Bank of Lebanon to cover general banking risks. The
consolidated ratio should pot be less than 1,25% of these fsks at the end of vear ten (2017) and 2% at the end of
vear twenty (2027), This reserve cannot be distributed as dividends,

The appropriation in 2016 from the pratits of the year 2015 amounted 1o LL 27,982 million (2015: LL 28 5%
million).

Other reserves
Oher reserves consist of the following:

- During 2003, the Group transterred an amount of LL 31,077 million from retained eamings to other reserves
refated o the subordinated deb.

- Non-distributable reserves of subsidiaries approprigted from retained eamnings as required by the laws applicable
in the countries in which they operate. During 2006, the Group transfermed an amount of LL 4,781
million from retained camings o other reserves in this respect (2013 LL 9,039 million).

- According to BCC Cireular no 280 dated 2 Janvary 2015, barks are required to appropriate from their annual
profit 0.5% of performing retail loans up to 30 days past due (with certain exemptions) as at 31 Decentber 2079
with effect the year 2015, Acditionally, the Bank will appropriate an additional 0.5% every year until 2020,
During 2016, the General Assembly Meeting of the Bank allocated an amount of LL 2468 milllon as a reserve
for retail foans (2013: LL 2,693 million),

- Asof 31 December 2016, “Other reserves™ include reserves of LL 89,368 million maimained by the subsidiary
Byblos Bank Furope to meet several legal limits and requirements (2015 LL 87,451 million).

41 DISTRIRUTABLE RESERYES
2016 2115
LE miflion L million

General reserves 102,220 93,789
Other capital reserves 1,026 5422
103,246 99.211
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41 DMSTRIBUTABLE RESERVES (continued)

Ceneral reserves

The Group appropriates general reserves from its retained eamings 1o steengthen ils equity. The movement in

general reserves during the year was as follows:

AL January

Appropriation from retained earnings

Acquisition of additional nom-controlling interests
Reversal of put options on non-controlling interests
Impact from derecognition of non-contralling interests
Reclassification from non-distributable reserves

At 31 December

Other capital Feserves

Premium on capital increase of Byblos Bank Armenia CISC
Premium on capital increase of Byblos Bank Afvica

42 TREASURY SHARES

2016 2013

LL milfion LE million
93,789 521
5,629 2,047
(1,861) *
4,663 A

- a0

- 1,131

102,220 93,789
20146 2013

LE miillion LL milfion
1,026 1026

- 4,396

1,026 5422

Mowvement of treasury shares recognized in the statement of financial position for the years 2016 and 2013 was as

follows:

Year ended 31 Decenther 2006

Conron shares

Crlohal Depository Receipis

Mo, of shares

At 1 January 2016 2,151,137
Acquisitions of treasury shares 296,757
Sates of treazury shares {H15.812)
A3 December 2016 1,532,182

Totul treasury shares in L1 millon

Veor ended 31 December 2013

Amaunt
LSsia09)

3,797
494
{1,605)

1,686

Commne shitres

No, of sharex Amating
USSiton

B,6490 T8

151 b3l

T I T
A6l

Erlabel Depository Receits

Mo of sharas At

LIS8i000;

AL danuary 2005 20474240 3652
Acqusitions of treasury shares 25495 329
Sales of treasury shares {10 684 (184)
At 31 December 2013 2151.237 377

Tatal treasury shares in LL million
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13 REVALUATION RESERVE OF REAL ESTATE

2016 20135

LL miliion LL wilfion

Revalumion reserve accepted in Tier 1 capital 1.978 1.978
Revaluation reserve not aceepted in Tier 11 capital 3T 37
5,689 5659

14 CHANGE IN FAIR YALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR YALUE THROUGH OTHER

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Miwentent of the change in fair value of financial assets al fair value theough other comprehensive income during the

vear was as follows:

2016 25
LE miffion LI milfion
At T Januvary {7,961) {7,533)
MNet ehanges in fair values during the vear {1,306) (503)
Met changes in deferred 1axes 194 75
Difterence on exchange 8) -
Balance ut 31 December (9,081} {.?.961}
45 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
2016 J013
LEL miffion LL miflion
Cash and balances with central banks 2,087,238 2.129.12|
Due Irom banks and financial institutions 2,568,339 2410574
Loans 10 banks and financial institutions and reverse repurchase agreements 830,346 662,486
5,505,923 5,202,181
Less: Due to central banks 15,657) (13,723
Less: Due to banks and Ninancial institulions (413,154) (422,258)
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 5,087,112 4.766.200

46 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Parties are considered 10 be related if one party has the abiliy to contral the other parly or exercise significant
influence over the other party in making financial or operation decisions, or one olher pany conrols both, The
definition Ineludes subsidiaries, key management personnel and their close family members, as well as entities
controlled of jointly controlled by them.

A list of the Group’s principal subsidiaries is shown in nole 4. Transaclions between the Bank and Tts subsidiaries
meet the definition of related party transactions. However, where these are eliminated on consolidation, they are not
disctosed in the Group's financial statements.

Key munagement personnel are defined as those persons having authority and responsibility for planning. directing
and controlling the activities of the Group, directly or indirectly, including the Directors and the Officers af the
Giroup,
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46 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Loans to reloted parties, (ah were made in the ordinary course of business, {(b) were made on substantially the
same terms, ineluding interest rates and eollateral, as those prevailing ol the same time for comparable
fransactions with others and (c) did not involve more than 2 normal risk of collectability or present other
intavorable featurcs,

Related party balances included in the Group's consolidated statement of financial position are as follows as of
31 December;

31 December 2016 3 December 2013

Ney Key

munagemanl mimagemint
personmel Chiher Toral perivnnel Gfier Total
LE mitfon  LE milition L millien Lfomithen  LE millton LL mifion
Bue from banks and fivancial msttutions - L] Wi LT . 1,803 1,503
Lioans and sdvances 6577 1,137 0,714 5948 29,327 35278
[3ug o banks and Binanceal instlutions - 93,383 93,353 . 44489 44,453
[ posits 104431 161596 366,027 142153 283,566 425749
Dbt issued and other bomowsd funds 977 937 1,954 LER] 85 1,970
Subordinated debt 368 17,756 18,124 77 18,165 18,542
Guaraniges recelvad 6,796 5176 12,072 6,062 12910 18972
Guaraniees given &0 41 03 50 28 108
Cermmitments (including eccepiances) 1,535 2.09% F034 | 403 6451 TR

Related party transactions included in the Groups consolidated income statement are as follows for the vear
ended 31 December:

31 Decembar 2016 A December 2015
HHGTIEg eRten | Rl
persoiinel Orfer Toral personnel Chlfver Teral
L mififon  EL millien  LE wiittion LEondloon UL million 1L swdihom
Interest income on due from banks and
linarcial fpstiistions i 429 419 . - -
Interest income an lozns and advances 342 1,186 1628 it 1,330 1,569
Interest expense on de posis 6,781 11,323 18,104 5477 7038 15,718
Interest expense on due Lo banks and
financial institutoons - 1,459 1,459 . 1580 1,580
Iriterest expenss on debt ssued and oihier
barrowed funds (53 4.3 136 (] ] 138
[nterest expense on subordinatad debi 4 1,141 1.165 5 1167 1152
Rent expense - M s - 544 44

In addition 1o the above, the Group entered inlo an agreement with the International Finanee Corporation (1FC)
whereby the Jatter makes available a non-committed trade fNnance guarantee facility o the Group up to LSS 50
million, As at 31 December 2016, puaraniees issued by 1FC amounted to LL 27,677 million (2015: L1 1,639
milllem),

Compensation of the Key Management Personnel of the Group
2016 2015
LL mittion L million

Short-term benetits’ 12,774 11984

! Shart-term benefiis comprise of wlaries. bonutes, profii-sharing, attendance fees and other chart-term benafits to Yey management
! o 7 I8 £ &
persenne!,
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47 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES, COMMITMENTS AND LEASING ARRANGEMENTS

Credit-related commitments and contingent liabilities
To meet the financial needs of customers, the Group enters jnto various commitments, puarantees and other
contingent lighilities, which are mainly credit-related instruments including finaneial and other puaranices and
commitments to extend credit, Even though these obligations may noet be recognised on the statement of financial
position, they do contain eredil risk and are therefore part of the overall risk of the Group, The table below
discloses the nominal principal amounts of credit-related commitments and contingent liabilitics. Nominal
principal amounts represent the amoeunt at risk should the contracts be fully drawn upon and clients detaull, As a
stenificant portion of guarantees and commitments is expected to expire without being withdrawn, the total of
the nominal principal amount is not indicative of future liquidity requirements.
2016
Banks Crstemers Totafl
LL pillion LL million LL miltian

Guarantees and contingent Habilities

Financial guarantees - 217,934 217,934
Other guarantees 176,854 819,799 996,653
176,854 1,037,733 1,214,587

Commitments
Documentary credils 159,909 185,773 345,682
Loan commitmenis - 2,979,622 1,979,612
159,909 3,165,395 3325304

) 25

Buaiiks Crstamers Fotal
L mitlion LE mitlion LL miflion

Guarantees and contingent liabilicies

Financial guaraniees - 205,966 205,966
{Mther guarantees 276,315 BB3.162 1161477
176315 1,091,128 1.367.443
Comniitments -
Documentary credits 238,008 150,647 388.655
Loan commitments - 2,335 807 2355807
238,008 2506454 2744462
Gitrraniess

Guarantees are given as security to support the performance of a costomer o third parties. The main types of
gunrantees provided arc;
*  Financial guarantees given to banks and fnancial institwtions on behall of customers to seeura loans,
overdrafis, and other banking facilities; and
#  Other guarantees provided Include mainly performance puarantees, advance pavmen! guaraniees and
tender guarantees,

Dociimeriary credits
Dacumentary credits commit the Group (o make payments to third pariies, on production of documents, which
are wsually reimbursed immediately by customers,

Lacur commitmients
Loan commitments are defined amounts (unutilized credit lines or undeawn porlions of credit lines) against
which ¢lients can borrow money under defined terms and conditions,
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47 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES, COMMITMENTS AND LEASING ARRANGEMENTS
{continued)

Investment commitments

During 2016 and 2015, the Growp invested in funds pursuant to the provisions of Decision ne, 6116 dated 7
March 1996, In accordance with this resalution, the Group can benelit from Facilities granted by the Central
Bank of Lebanon 1o be invested in startup companies, incubators and aceelerators whose ehjects are restricted to
supporling the developnient, suceess and growth of startup companics in Lebanon or companics whose objects
are restricted 1o investing vendure capital in starlup companies in Lebanon, These invesiments have resulted in
future commitments on the Group of LL 3,952 million as of 31 December 2016 (2015: LL 6.057 million),

Legal elaims

Litigation is a ¢ommon oceurrence in the banking industry due to the nature of the business undertaken. The
Grroup has formal controls and policies for managing legal clalms. Once professional advice has been obtained
and the amount of [oss has been reasonably estimated, the Group makes adjustments o accowtt for any adverse
effects which the claims may have on its financial standing. At vear end, the Group had several unresolved legal
clnims, Based on advice from legal counsel, management bebieves that legal cloims will not resull in any
financial loss o the Group,

Lease arrangements

Operaring leases — Growp as lessee

The Group has entered into commercial leases on premises, These leases have an average lite of between five
and ten years, There are no restrictions placed upon the lessee by entering into these leases.,

Future minimum lease payvments under non-cancellable operating leases as w1 31 December are os follows:

2016 2015

LL miftion LL willion

Within one year 3,546 kel )
Afier one year but not more than five vears 9,333 10,581
More than live yeuars 9977 11,491
22,856 25,289

Other contingencies

Certain areas of the Lebanese tax legislation are subject to different interpretations in respect of the taxability of
certain tvpes of financial iransactions and activities. Fiscal years from 201210 2015 are currently being reviewed
by the Department of Income Tax, the cuteome of which cannot be presently determined. Fiscal vear 2016
remains open o review by the tax authorities. Manogement believes that the effect of any such review will not
biave a material effect on the consolidated financial statements.

48 ASSETS HELD IN CUSTODY AND UNDER ADMINISTRATION

2014 2135
LL mfifion LE miflion
Assets held in costody and under administration 3,068,782 3020838

Assets held in costody and under administration

Custody is the safekeeping and servicing of securities and other financial assets on behall of clients.
Adminisieation includes the provision of various support functions activities incheding the valuation of portfolios
of securities and other financial assets on behalf of clients, which complements the custody business,
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49 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The fair values in this note are siated at a specific date and may be different from the amounts which will
actually be paid on the maturity or selilement dates of the instrument. In many cases, it would not be possible
realize immediately the estimated fair values given the size of the portfolins measured. Accordingly, these fair
values do not represent the value of these instruments o the Group as @ going concem,

Financial assets and liabilities are classitied according 0 A hierarchy that reflects the significance of observable
market inputs. The three levels of the tair value hierarchy are defined below,

Quoted markel prices — Level 1

Financial instruments are clpssified as Level | if their value is observable in an active market. Such instruments are
valued by reference o unadjusted (uoted prices for identical assets or habilities in active markets where the quoted
price is readily available, and the price represents actual and regularly occurring market ransactions on an arm’s
length basis. An active market is one in which transactions occur with sufficient volume and frequency to provide
pricing information on an ongoing basis.

Valuation technique using observable inputs — Level 2

Fimancinl instruments classified as Level 2 have been valued using models whose most significant inputs are
observable in an aclive market. Such valuation techniques and moedels incorporate assumptions about factors
ohservable in an active market that other markel participants would use in their valuations, including interest rate
yvield curve, exchange rates, volatilities; and prepayment and defaults rates,

Yaluation technique using significant unobservable inputs - Level 3

Financial Instruments are. classilied as Level 3 if thelr valuation incorporates significant inputs that are not based on
observable market data (unobservable inputs). A valuation lnpul is considered observable if it can be direcily
observed from transactions in an active market, or if there is compelling external evidence demonstrating an
execulable exit price. Unobservable input levels are generally determined based on observable inputs of a similar
nature, histarical observations or ather analytical technigues.

Fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group's financial assets and labilities carvied at fair value:

2016

Valuatfon techiigies

Quoted Observable  Unabservable

miarket price inpuits inpeis
Level | Level 2 Lavel 3 Tomf
LL miitfon LL miftion LL mifitionr  LE mitlion
Assets:
Derivative finanoal msinunents:
Cummency swaps - 1,958 . 1,958
Forward foreign exchmnge contracts - 2,462 - 2462
Finangial wssets at fair vilue theough prolit or loss:
| ehanese tremsury hills 24,032 293,990 - dig022
Certiticates of deposit issued by the Central Bank of
Lehanan - 428,572 - 428,572
Dbt securities 1zsued by banks and fineneial
inslifutions 1513 - - 2518
Equity securitics 40,065 - - 40,065
Financial assets at fairvalue theough othier
comprehensive mcome 14,388 - 56,917 104,305
Liabilitics:
Derivative lnancial instruments:
Cumency swaps - 438 * 233
Forward foresgn exchange contracls - 1,168 - 1,168
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Fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s financial assets and Habillties carvied at fair value
{eontinued):

1A

Valuarion techivigues
Lhiated (hservable  Unabservable

markel price H frgis
Level | Leovel 2 Level 3 Toral
L mnition LA mifiion LL millian  LL naillion
Assels
Derivative financial instomsnts
Cumency swaps - 34 - 314
Forwand fhreign exchange contracts - 1,530 - 1,530
Financial assets at fair value throwgh profitor loss:
Lehanese treasury hills 116,650 10,348 . 227,004
Centificates of depostt tssued by the Central Bunk ol
|ebanon - 27,714 . 27,714
Debt secwnties fsued by banks and  (inancial
institions 2440 . . 2440
Comporate bonds . 3018 - 3018
Equity securilics 35.66% - - 35,66
Financial assets o Tair value through olher
comprehensive meome d8.2410 - 33,666 101.807
Liabilities:
Merividive Anancial instramsnts:
Curency swaps - 30 = 192
Forward foreign exchange coniracls - 2,053 - 2,053

There were na transfers between levels during 2016 (2015: the same).

Assels and liabilities carried ac fair value using a valuation technique with significant observable inputs
(Level 1}

Derlvafives

Derivative products are valued vsing a valustion technique with market observable inputs, The most frequently
applied valudtion techniques include forvard pricing and swap moadels, using present value calculations, The
models incorperate varivus inputs including the eredit quality of counterparties, loreign exchange spat and
forward rates and interest rate curves,

Government bonds, certificates of deposits and offter debi securifies

The Group values these unguoted debt securities using discounted cash Mow valuation models where the lowest
level input that is significant 1o the entire measurement is observable in an active market, These inputs include
assumplions regarding current rates of interest, implied volmilities, credit spreads and broker statements.

Assets and liabilities carrvied at fair value using a valuation techniqoe with significant unobservable inputs
{Level 3)

Eqrinty shores af now-listed entitfes

The Group’s sirategic investments are generally classified at fair value through other comprehensive income and
are nol traded in active markels. These are investiments in private companies, for which there is no or only
limited sullicient recent information to determine lair value. The Group determined that cost adjusied to reflect
the investee’s financial position and results since initial recognition represents the best estimate of fair value,
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49 FAIRVALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS {continued)

Reconeiliation of fair value measurement of financial assets in unguoted equity shares:

2016 2043

LE miflion LE wiittion

Balonce at | January 53,6660 47,732
Additions 2,133 3,715
Deconsalidation of subsidiaries (578) -
Re-measurement recognized in other comprehensive income 1,696 2,219
56,917 C 53.666

Comparison of carrying and fair values for financial assets and Nabilities not held af fair value:

The fair values included in the table below were caloulated for disclosure purposes only, The fair valuntion
technigues and assumptions described below relate omly 1o the fair value of the Group's finaneial instruments not
measured al fair value, Other institutions may use differem methods and assumptions for their fair value
estimations, and therefore such fair value disclosures cannol necessarily be compared from one institution 1o
another,

2016 T -
Fair Carryling Faur Carmvng
virtfue varlire verlie vitfue

LE mifttion  LL wiiflion L1 miffion LI mifion

FINANCIAL ASSETS

Cash and balances with ceniral banks 4783092  B.TH3,092 T.236,237 7,236,237
Duge from banks and finoncial institulions 14657419 2657429 2518365 L1865
Loans to banks and finencial institu ions and reverse

repurchase agreement 963,963 964,066 1,197,149 1,187,047
Financial assets aiven as collateral 115,168 224044 1,399 1,405
el limns and advances to customers al amorized codt 7,787,038 7,787,275 T.397 Rl 7,399 641
Mel Toans and advances to related pastjes al amorized cost 20,714 20,714 35,275 35275
Financial assets ol amortized cost

Lebancse treasury bills 4,733,450 4757484 61,920 5852 407

Cerfificales of deposit jssued by the Ceniral Bank of Lebanon 453510 4482042 4,350,572 4374429

Foreipn povemmental debt securities 142,680 138,113 130,537 125,272

Dehi securities issued by banks and fnancia instnions 5330 5417 225,708 15215

Corparate bonds 635 635 fi,165 6,004

Cerlificates of deposit issued by banks and financial

institutions 332467 33,128 331,096 13187

FINANCLAL LIABILITIES
[Due to centeal banks 332971 332971 117,412 17412
et banks and financial mstiuions 774,095 774,055 744,554 14,554
Customers” deposits at amoritzed cost 15488342 25415431 LTI 163 24654304
Deposits from related parties ol amorifeed cost 371577 366,027 430,493 425,749
Dbt issued and other borrovwed funds 442,01 444,072 447 460 445,199
Subordinated deht 409,989 20,165 417 400 417,400

Assets and liabilities for which falr value is disclosed using a valuation technique with significant
observable inputs (Level 2) and / or significant unobservable inputs (Level 3)

Deposits with banks aod foans and advinces fo binks

For the purpose of this disclosure there is minimal difference between falr value and carrying amount of these
financial asseis as they are short-term in nature or have nterest rates that re-price frequently. The fair value of
deposits with longer malurities are estimated using discounted cash Nows applying markel rates lor
counterparties with simlilar credit quality.

0
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49 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Govermment honds, certificates of depasits and ather debf secuelties

The Group values these unguoted debt securities using discounted cash flow valuation models where the lowest
level input that is significant to the entire measurement is observable inoan active market, These inputs include
assumptions regarding current rates of interest, implicd volatilities, credit spreads and broker stalements,

Loans and advances fo cusiomers

For the purpose of this disclosure, in many cases. the fair value disclosed approximates carrving value because
these advances are shart-term in nature or have interest rates that re-price frequently. The falr value of Toans and
advances to customens with long-term maturities is estimpted using discounted cash flows by applying current
rates for new loans granted during 2006 with similar characterisiics,

Deposits fram banks amd casiomers

In many cases, the fair value disclosed approximates carrying value because these lipancial labilities are shon-
term in nature or have interest rates that re-price frequently. The fair value for deposits with long-term
maturities, such as time deposits, are estimated using discounted cash flows, applying either market rates or
current rates for deposits of similar characieristics,

Debi issiced and other borrowed firnds and subordinated debt
Fair values are determined using discounted cash flows valuation models where the inputs used are estimated by
camparison with quoted prices in an active markel For similar instruments,

2016

Valuation rechnlgies
Onoted Observable  Unobservable
ket price fmpurs fnpiits
Level | Level 2 Level 3 Toml!
EL miflion LL enititon LE eefflion LL mfliion

Assets for w hich fair values are disclosed:

Cash and balances with cemral hanks 249,425 §,533,667 - 8,783,092
e From banks and Nnancial institutions - 1657429 - 1637429
[Loans 1o banks and financial institulions ud reverse

repurchase agreement - 963,963 - 963,963
Financial assets given 85 collaeral - 215,168 - 225,168
Met loans and advances to customers ol amorlized cost - - 7,787,138 7,787,138
Nel leans and advances o related partics at amortized codl - - 2,714 T
Financial assets at amortized cost

Lebanese reasury bills 1045535 1687915 = 4733450

Certiticates of deposit jssued by the Central Bank of

Lebanon - 453500 - 4535

Foreign govemnmental deb secunties 142,680 - - 142,680

Debt securities 1saued by banks and financial institufions £330 - - 5,436

Corporate bonds 419 216 . 635

Certilicates of deposil issued by hanks and linancial

institutions - 207 - 33,267

Liakilities Tor which fair valoes are disclosed:
Dwe ta central banks - 3azan - 3329701
Due to banks and Nnancial insutunons . 774,095 - 774,095
Customers” deposits ol amortized cost - 25,488,342 - 25,488,342
Deposis from relited parties al amortized cost - 12,577 = 372577
[reht issued and other borrowed findds - 442941 - 442,941
Subordinated deb - 405,989 E 409,989

17
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FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

2043

Vaduatian techuigues
Chaied OQhigrvable  Unobservable

Market price lregrndy frpies
Level § Leval 2 Lovel Togal
LE mdlion LE nrilfion L mllvom L wrnidion
Assets for which L values are disclosed:
Cash and balonces with central banks 160,252 6,975 985 3 7,236,237
e feom hanks and tinancial mstiutions - 2518365 3 2,518,365
[Loans 1o banks and finaneial instiutions and reverse
repurchase agreement - 1197140 SR WL BT
Financidl ass¢ls given s collatesal - 1,399 B 1.39%
el loans and advances wo customers ai amortized cost . - 7397800 7387801
et loans and advances 1o related partees st amortized cost - . 15,275 35,275
Financiol assets st amorized cost:
Lebanese treasury bills 2,000,050 IBS1ET0 ~ 5861910
Certificates of deposil issued by the Cemral Bank of
Lebanon - 1,350,572 - 4,350,572
Foreign governmental debl securiies 130,537 - - 130,537
Dbt securnities isstied by hanks and financial inslitulions 15,708 . - 225,708
Corporate bonds 5,849 216 - 6,063
Centificates of deposit issued by hanks and financial
institutions - 33,096 - 33,095
Lisbilines for which fur valees are dis closed:
e to central banks = 117412 - 117,412
Due o hanks and financial instilulions - 744,551 - T44,554
Customers” deposits gl amortized cost - 2718163 . 24,718,143
Deposits from relaed paries a1 amorized cost . 430,493 - 430,493
[3eht issued ond other horrowed fund s . 447 460 - 447 460
Subordingted debs . 417,400 - 417400

S0

5.1

RISK MANAGEMENT

INTRODUCTION

Risk is inherent in the Group's activities, vet it is managed through a process of on-going identification,
measurement and monitoring, subject W risk limits and other controls. This process of risk management is
critical to the Group's continuing profitability and each individual within the Group is accounable for the risk
expisures relating to his or her responsibilities, The Group is exposed 1o credit risk, interest rate risk, lyuidity
risk and markel risk. 1t is alse subject to various operational risks.

The Group’s risk management process invalves identification, measurement, monitoring and comrolling risks w
ensure that

Individuals who take or mapage risks elearly understand i,

The organization’s risk exposure is within the limits established by the Board of Directors (Boardy;
Risk taking deeisions are in line with the business strategy and objectives set by the Board of Directors:
ke expected payolls compensate for the risks taken;

Risk taking decisions are explicit and clear, and

Sufficient capital is available to act asa bufter for risks taken,

The independent risk control process does not Inelude business risks such a8 changes in the enviromment,
technofopy and indusiry, The Group's policy is o moniter those business risks thraugh the bank’s siraregic
planning process.

8
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50 RISK MAKAGEMENT (continued)
s0.1 INTRODUCTION {continued)

Group risk management structure

The Board of Directars is primarily responsible for establishing / approving the Group's strategie direction and
approving the nature and levels of risk the Group is willing 1o take. The Board has established three committees
10 assist in carrying oul its responsibilities;

Risk, Anti-Money Laundering and Compliance Committee (BRC): It is primarily responsible to formulate the
risk appetite statement for the Bank through establishing a comprehensive set of internal risk limits and other
qualitative risk statements thal clearly defines the amount of risks the Board is willing to lake and those risks the
Board wishes to avoid, and monitars compliance to the risk appetite statement, BRC provides oversight of
Senior Management’s activities in managing capital adequacy, credit, market, liguidity, operational, Anti-Money
Leundering, compliance, reputational and other risks of the Group. The BRC also oversees ICAAP and approves
risk policies,

Auelit Committee: monitors the Group’s accounting practices and external reporting, and reviews the audit
reports covering the Group's operations and takes appropriate actions / decisions.

Remuneration, Nomination and. Corporate Governance Committee: énsures that the Group has coherent
remuneration policies and practices, and that proper suceession plans for board members and sepfor manngers
are in place. It is also responsible 10 make sure that corporate governance prineiples and the code of conduet are
well established at the Group to warrant (ke confidence of sharehotders, investors and stakeholders.

The above Board Committees are composed of mestly independent / non-exccutive members satisfying the
applicable best practice reguirements. In addition, the Board delegates its day-to-day risk management activities
to the Senior Management, through the olfowing diverse committees that have been established:

fxecutive Commifttee: acts under the supervision ol the Chairman e ensure execution of all strategic directives
stipulated by the Board and Lo propose new strategic projects and plans o the Board. Membership is assigned to
the Chairman/General Manager. the Head of the Group Consumer Banking Division, the Head of Group
IYinancial Markets and Financial Institntions Division, the Head of Group Commercial Banking Division, the
Head of Group Risk Management Division and the Head of Foreign Banking Unit,

Central Credit Committee fCCCH: s the highest credit anthority in the Group alter the Board. lis mission is 1o
review and approve high-value amount credit proposals, The imeral lending limit is set at 10% of capital, which
requires the joint approval of the Chaimman and the COC. Credit proposals exceeding the internal lending limit
are referred 1o the Board {or any delegated commiitee) for approval, The CCC delegates approval authority for
lower amount credit proposals 1o various sub-committees.

Assets and Liahilities Conpmittee (ALCO) which mission is (0 manage the statement of financial position in
compliance with the main objectives of the Group, in terms of growth, |liguidity and interest income. Its role
enconipasses the review, approval and implementation of the Group's sirategics regarding lquidity and imerest
rate, FX and rading setivitics through decisions on size and duration of mismatched positions and on pricing.

Risk Connnitive: whose task is to formulate and enforee guidelines and standards with regard 10 capital adequacy
and risk measurement and managenent. 1t also reviews reports and findings idemified by the Group Risk
Management and issues related to the implemenation of Basel 1/ B3asel U1 projects. The Commintee discusses
and approves the risk polices, the risk measurement tools such as rating and scoring, and risk-based processes
including stress testing, economic capital, and risk-based profitabilicy. It oversees the risk reports prepared and
ICAAP framework before submission 1o the Board,

The Group also established two other committees concerned with the risk mansgement and compliance, being:
The Operational Risk Management Commitice and the Compliance and Ami-Movey Lawndering Commitiee, The
Operational Risk Committee’s mission is w provide oversight for the Croup's operational risk funciion, the
processes and the systems developed 1o assess. monitor and mitigate operational risks. The mission of the
Compliance and Anti-Money Laundering Commiltee is to ensure that the Geoup is in compliance wilh anti-
money laundering laws and internationally administered sanction laws: and to oversee implementation of the
Group's KYC and sanction policies,
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S0 INTRODLUCTION (continued)
Group risk management structure (continued)

Cironp tnterial Awdic Division

The Group Internal Audit Division (GIA) is responsible for providing an independent, objective assurance and
consulting activity designed 10 add value and improve the Group’s operations. It helps the Group accomplish its
ohjectives by bringing a systematic disciplined and risk based approach 1o evaluate and improve the elfectiveness
of risk management, contral, and governance processes. Its role within the Group is (o ensure that adequate
internal controls are maintained and where wedknesses are identified, they are reported to Senior Management
and the Audit Committee along with recommendations (or improvement. The GIA assesses all new preducts and
procedures and changes in systems and reports its recommendations accordingly,

The GlA also ensures that the Group 5 in compliance with the rules and regulations in different jurisdictions
where the Group is operaling, the Central Banks and Banking Control Commission requirements, Board of
Birectors and management directives and implemented policies and procedures.

Rizk Management

The Group's risk management function follows the prudentiol rules and regulations set forth by the Hasel
Committee in the Core Principles for Effective Banking Supervision document (September 2012) and Basel
Capital Accord texts {Basel 117 111) 1o mcasure and assess the risks identificd under the pillars 1 and 11, Le. the
credit, operativnal, and market risks, as well as, the imerest rate risk in the banking book, the liquidity risk, and
credit concentration,

With repard 1o Basel recommendations relating 10 best practices in risk management and its objective of capital
measurement and capital adequaecy, the Group adopts a phased approach to take more sophisticated steps
towards eredit risk and make use of internal ratings based methodology - or IRB Approach’- to caleulate expected
ecredit loss and wltimarely capital requirements for eredit risk. In addition 1o the market risk capital charge, an
explicit capital charge for operational risk is being aceounted for,

As Tor addressing the capital management issue in the context of Basel 11, the Group develops anmually a
comprehensive [nternal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process ([CAAP) document, disclosing the risk appetite
statentent #nd covering all risks to which the Group is or may be exposed, as well as risk faclors emanating [rom
the environment in which it operates. Mild and severe siress scenarios and sensitivity onalysis are undertaken
within ICAAP to assess the sufficiency of capial and liquidity in sustaining the Group's operations and business
plans on the medium term.

The overall responsibility for the moniwring and the analytical management of the risk is effectively assigned to
the Group Risk Management division (GRM). The GRM reports to the Chairman and General Manager through
the head of the GRM division, Risk issues and reports are submitted to the Board regularly through the Board
Risk, Anti-Money Laundering & Complianee Commiitee.

The GRM has a dedicared team. Finaneial and Cperations! Risk Managemeni depaviment, that fulfils the
analytical part of risk management and is thereby in direet charge of identifying. measuring, monitoring and
controlling Pillar 1 and 2 risks faced by the Group. The depariment is split into three main functions:

Risk Policies and Analvtics that is responsible for the preparation and reporting of Basel 1| regulatory CAR
report, the development of siress {esting sceaarins, the write-up of risk reports and FCAAP docaments. 1L handles
as well the measurement of PDY {probability of default), LGD (loss given default), ECL (expected credit loss) and
UL {unexpected loss). The units develop and support risk-based prolitability measurements, risk measurement
als (retail scoring and commercial rating), and risk related palicies,

Asset-Linbility and Market Risk Monagement se1s the firm-wide framework necessary for identification,
measurement and management of market risk across the Group, including developing policies, procedures, and
risk measurement methodologies, Market Risk is also in charge of monitoring the Group’s limits reparding
liquidity. imerest rate risk, foreign exchange and securities investment positions, stress test and reporl on
breaches to Senior Managemen! and the Board of Directors.

&0
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50 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
500 INTRODUCTION {comtinued)
Risk Management {continued)

Operatinnal Risk Manggement is responsible (or establishing the necessary ramewark for idemifying, measuring
and managing eperational risk across the Group, ORM Unit has established the necessary tools enabling to derive
the risk profile of the Group, starting with spreading the risk colre through regular training. suppocting
operational risk evenls reporting and loss dmabase, conducting operational risk scenarios with the business
owners 10 foeus on the high risk arcas and the exposure W capital in a way to supplement the assessméent of the
regulatory capital charge, and developing a KRI program 1o establish KRIs that monitor the Group's exposure to
key tisks. ORM Unit facilitates the risk and control assessment {RCA) For the main Group processes and new
products’activities.

Risk Management Framework

The Risk Management Framework is based on a set of principles adopted by the Board through the Risk Charter.
These principles are being reviewed annually or upon need in order to be aligned with the changes related to the
internal and external environment of the Group. The set of basie principles thm governs the risk monagement
framework of the Group are developed based on the following:

Business Line Accouniability: Business lines are accountable for managing the misks associated with their
activities and establish wlerances for risk taking. The secountability exists notwithstanding the presence of any
support functions dedicated to risk management activities,

Srrategic Level Risk Manugement, encompasses the sk management  functions performed by Senior
Muanagement and the Board. It includes defining the Group's risk appetite, formulating strategy and palicies for
managing tisks and establishing adequate sysiems and controls to ensure that the Group's ageregate risk profile is
within aceeptable tolerance tevels,

Analptical Level Risk Maragemen, encompasses the risk manngement, within the suthority delegated by the
Strategic Level o identify. measure, monitor and report the risks taken by the Group in a consistent manner
across all business lines and operational units,

Tactical Level Risk Management, encompasses risk management activities performed by individuals who take
risk on the Group™s behalf such as the (ront office and loan erigination funciions.

The Risk Charter is complemented by risk specific policies and procedures enabling the unification of the risk
culture and practice. Risk monagement is applied through the implementation of these risk palicies ¢ limis
approved by the Board and that are put in place by the risk management function in coaperation with the business
lines, Monitoring of individual risks is handled upon the initistion and renewal of the risk through a clear decision
making process documented fna wrilten procedure,

50.2 CREMMT RISK

Credit risk is the risk that the Giroup will incur a loss because its customers or counterparties fail w discharge
their contractual obligations. The Group manages and controls credit risk by setting linits on the amount of risk it
is willing to accept for individual borrowers and for geographical and industry concemrations, and by monitoring
exposures in relation w such limis.

Credit initiation

Targel markets and customers and products’ strategy are identified in the vearly business plon deriving from the
medium term plan. They are submitied 10 and discussed with management and the Board by different business
lines, The process of initiating and approving credit proposals is governed by the Group's Crediv Policies and
Procedures Manual (CPPM). CPPM consolidates the principles for the credit origination and follow-up process
based on early wamning signals, and includes the credit committee approval authorities, the roles and
tesponsibilities of credit personnel, the credit administration function, and the structuring of credit puckages,

Conmtierciol Jendmg is handled by the Commercial Division which oversees the business origination related (o
corparate customers, middle market and international lending. The assessment of a credit reguest requires an
evaluation of the borrower’s creditworthiness through an in-depih analysis of series of financial, management,
business and market eriteria translated into an overall credit risk rating. This assessment process is applicable 10
both new and existing elient,
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S RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

0.2 CREDIT RISK (continued)
Credit initiation {continued)

The Consumer Banking divisien is responsible 1o design and implement the strategy and document the program
for consumer loans, housing leans, revolving credit cards, small business loans and Kafalat-guaranteed loans,

The Financial fustitution department (FI) is o separate business line that sets the steategy for banks limits and
manages the relationship with banks, The function is determined by liquidity targets and by profit generation
through a dynamie vet diversified trade finance business.

Credit approval

The review ol credit proposals is assigned to the credit risk analysis team within the GRM division, acting
independently from the origination units, Every non-retail Tending transaction is subject o a tharough risk
assessment by the credit risk analysis team prior o being submitted to the approprinte approving authority.

The credit risk analysis team is organized Into live departments. servicing each a different business segment
{corporate, international. middle market. fnancial institutions and retail). In the case of retail lending, risk
assessment oceurs first at the level of the product design and is followed-on with a post-approval review on a
sampling basis. The primary function of the risk analysis team is 1o ensure that the extension of credit is
consistent with the Group®s risk acceptance criteria and CPPM.

Loan Tollow up and monitering

Each business line manager whe originated the loan remains vested with the responsibility of monitoring the
exposure and reviewing the file on an annual basis or more frequently i needed. Annual reviews consist of a full
update of the credit package and follow the samne process as the initintion of the loan,

Outstanding loans are subjeet as well 1o a constant momtoring by the GRM division based on a series of repons,
The gim of such menitering is © ensure problem recognition, and 1o follow-up on the prompt and remedial
management of spotted deteriorations in borrowers® financial positions, value of collateral and related sector /
industry. Early warning signals ure derived from a set of system generted reports,

Impairment assessment
For accounting purposes, the Group wses an incurred loss model for the recognition of losses on impaired
financial assets. This means that losses can only be recognised when ohjective evidence of a specific loss event
has been observed. Triggering events include the following:

*  Significant financial ditficulty of the customer,

A breach of contract such as a default of payment.

*  Where the Group grans the customer @ eoncession due bo the customer experiencing financial diffieulty,

s It becomes probahle that the customer will enter bankruptey or other finaneial recrganisation,
#  Observable data that sngeests that there is a decrease in the estimated fulure cash Nlows related 1o the
foans,

The Group has an established policy W measure and allocate provision against the incurred and the expected
eredil loss (ECL) that are inherent to the portfolio. The framework covers the impaired and non-impaired credit
partfolion A specific provision is allocated against impaired eredits hased on the net present value of estimuted
future eash (lows while abiding by a minimum provision rale based on days in arrears o ensure that impaired
loans are sufficiently covered at all time regardless of collateral. A collective provision is allocated against the
nan-impaired loans following the use of credit risk raling and scoring systems along the measurement of credit
components: PD (probabillty of defoult), LGE (Joss given default), and EAD (exposure at default) leading 10
measure ECL against (he non-impaired loans, The Group has put in place an action plan o enhance its credit
analvtics” setup to meet the mew IFRS 9 dmpalement standard, Coneurrently o ils internal eredit risk
mensurement and provision allocation framework, the Group is in full compliance with BDL circular §1 and
BCCL circular 280 regarding the allocation of specific and collective pravisions and general reserves apainst
loans,
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Byblos Bank SAL

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2016

50 RISK MANAGEMENT {continued)
52 CREDRIT RISK (continued)

Credit related commitments and finanecial guarantees are assessed and provisions are made inoa similar manner as
tor loans.

Derivative financial instrimeins
Credit risk arising from derivative finoncinl instruments is, at any time, limited w those with positive fair values,
as recorded on the statement of financial pasition.

With gross—settled derivatives, the Group is also exposed to-a settlement risk, being the risk that the Group
honars its obligation but the counterparty fails to defiver the counter—value,

Credit-related commitments and finaucial guarantee risks

The Group makes available to its customers guarantees which may require that the Group makes payments on
their behalland enters into commitments 1w extend credit lines to secure their liguidity needs, Such commitments
expose the Group to similar risks 10 loans and are mitigated by the same control processes and policies.
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Byblos Bank SAL
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2006

S0 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
50.2 CREDIT RISK (continued)

Collateral and other credit enhancenents

The amount and type of collateral required depends on an assessment of the credit risk of the barrower. Guidelines
are implemented regarding the aceeptability of types of collatersl and valuation parameters, Managemenl requests
additional collateral in accordance with the underlying agreement, and monitars the market value of coblateral
abained during its review of the adequacy of the allowance for impaimment losses. The main ypes of collateral
olained are as follows:

Securities:

The balances shown above represent the fair value of the securities.

Lerters of crediv / guarantees:

The Group holds in some cases guarantees, letters of eredit and similar instrumems from banks and financial
institutions which enable it to clalm settlement in the event of default on the part of the counterparty. The balances
shown represent the notional amount of these types of guarantees held by the Group,

Real estate feommercial ard restdeiiol)!

The Group holds in some cases a first degree mortgage over residential property ({or housing loansy and commereial
property (for commercidl loans). The value shown above rellects the fair value of the property Himited (o the refaed
miorlgaged amount.

Other:
In addition to the above, the Group also obtains from Qs clients proxy to morigage o residential or commereial
property, guaraniees from parent companics for loans to their subsidiaries, personal guarantees [or loans o
companies swned by individuals and assignments of proceeds and revenues, which are not reflected in the above
tahle.

Credit quality per class of financial assets
The table below shows the eredit quality by class of asset for all financial assets exposed 1o credil risk. based on the
Group’s internal credit rating system. The amourns presented are gross of impairment allowances,

MG
Nelther pasd due nor lmpaired
Hfigh Stamifard Past dire baet Individieeily
grinde grade ol denipalred impoired Fotal
LE millfian LI milfien LE eililan LL mifllar LE miliion
Balanees with central barks E,372,200 161,987 . 31,041 8,568,228
Diuz from banks and finaneial instiunons 1195741 461 698 - 4024 1.661,453
Levins 10 banks and fingrcial mstituticns and reverse
repurchass agreements T 164,845 . - 64,066
Financial assels given as collateral 224,044 - - - 124,044
Dervative financial instrments 4,420 - - - 4,420
Frnancil aceets af forvalse throsgh praft or foss.
| ehanese treasiiry bills 315,022 - - - 318,012
Cerificazzs of deposit issued by the Central Bank of Lebancn 418,572 . - . 418,572
Db sociarities izoed by barks and fnanctal institicos 1R . ; - 1,513
Net toan e moc sfvanoed fe oo ers ol amartised cosl;
Comnmezrcial loans 4831212 129,872 a7 A2 11507 2183773
Comsumet loans T AGD, 500 18,818 195503 145,169 2,823,387
Wel loans and advances 10 related panies sl armmirtized oost T - - - 20,714
[3ebiors by acceplances 193,501 30,082 - - 133883
Financ bl dsienn ol groenised ooy
Lehanese reasury bills 4,757,454 - - - 3757454
Certificates of deposit issued by the Central Bankof Lebaron 4 482,043 - - - 4,482,042
Feeeign govermmental debt sseuntes 65,6810 2419 - ¥ 134,113
[k securities s by banks ared firarcial iestifutions 477 - - - 5477
Corparase bonds 6358 & - * 635
Cenificates of deposit lssued by banks and  financial
mruons 3033 0,195 . . 33118
19,165 315 1,060,911 16{,! 75 405,551 308,054
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p}il_alns Bank SAL

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2016

K0 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
&0.2 CREDIT RISK (continued)

Credit quality per class of financial assets (continued)

203
_ Neither part e o fmpained.
High Standurd Pantdue bt Dfordually
g.ru-_lr gn.r.'h' Fien Jm;ul.l'ﬂ.l' J.'ulﬁanJ Tenasl
1L milfion L mitiion L millan L milfien LA midican
Balances with ceneral banks 6,769,552 205,008 - £ {] T.081430
Lo fiom banks and financial institutions 1.751.657 66728 - 1688 2.522.053
Loans 1o banks and financial institations and reserse
reputchate agresnsents 992,054 204,081 - - 1197047
Financial assels given as collateral 1405 - - - 1.405
Derivative financial indtmaments 1844 . . . 1.844
Financiol prigrs o farevalse thranggh profinor dos
lehanee treasury bills 2T 00 - - - 227.004
Centificates of depost issued by the Central Bank of Eehanon 27,714 - - . 22,714
bt secunities 1esued by banks and finanial indiations 2440 - - - 2449
Corposate bonds - REHE - - Jone
Mot domm it andd aefvamoes o cusiom e rg af amgrt Zed oot
Commercial loans 4,671,211 08093 B4955 3616 5197877
Consumef foans 1,165 098 13647 176,128 132,748 1.5G7.62)
Nei loans andd advances to related panies at amortized cost 35273 - - - 55,275
{3ehiors by acceplanies 231953 9352 - - 244,705
Foancial assets ol amantized cos
Lehanzse treasury bitls 5.852.407 - B - 852407
Certificaes of deposit issued by the Ceneral Bank of Lebanon 4,274,409 - - - 4274 430
Foreign goverunental debt securties Iz 93 560 - . 125,272
Deta secunitios imsued by hanks and finascal snngions 174,448 50,767 - - 115215
Corporate bonds 4,003 a7l . - 6,004
Cettificates ol deposit tssed by barks and financial
inszitutions - 3317 - - 33,187
173194597 1L603.734 261.083 401633 29.585,047
Aging analvsis of past due bul not impaired loans per class of fnancial assets:
2004
Less than 96 Ulro 130 Meare than
days days 181 days Tutal

LL meilfion LL mitttian LE miflifon LI mitllon
L eans and advances 10 customers a1 ankortized cost:

- Cammercial [oans 27474 21,486 17412 67.372
= Comsumer loans 194,922 1,897 3,084 199,903
122,396 24,383 0496 267,275
2013
Less than 90 @rde 130 More

days elays 181 days Total
LL willian LL miltion L il LI mithion

Loans and advances w customers gl amaortized cost
= Commercial loans 28,143 36,220 20,583 84,955
- {Consumer loans 171,735 1,879 254 176,128
199,578 38,108 2097 2601083
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Byblos Bank SAL

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2016

50 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
50.2  CREDIT RISK (continued)
Mapping to external credil rating

Flnencial assers

Lprns and advances (o cusiomers

Churracteristics
Regular and tmely pasment ol dues Adeguacy of cash
flows Timeby financial stztements. Suflicient collateral ¢
guaranies (if required)
Lack of decumeniation related to Bormower's activity

Credil worthy Bormower shawing weaknesses, insuMiceent /
inadequate cash Mows, highly leveraged; detenoration in

Extertial credit Supervivary
rafing rating
High grade Lebanese Sovarnsagn Hegular
AAA D A-
Fallow up

Standieed grode BRTE+and balow Foflew up and
unrsted regulanzition

Tndivadually impaired [mpaired Substndard

[rousbiful

Hiad

COOMIE SECtor or couniny where the facility 1s used,
conflict between pariners of ofther lawsuits; [oan
rescheduling since initiation; excess unlization above limi

Signals of weapacily torepay fom identified cash Mows,
Jubl fepaymients supposes the lguidation of gesdls !
collateral, necurent lale paymants, late interests, losses

Incurmed for over 3 years

Full repawrment 1s questiened even after asset liguidatmon;
pecount stagration and inability Lo repay restruciured loans,

Noor lintle expected inflows frem husingss or assels,

Bomower is unfeachable, insobvency status,

The classitication of loans and advances 1o customers and related partics at amortised cost in accordance with the
ratings of Central Bank of Lebanon Circular 58 are as follows:

Regular

Foltow up

Foltow up and regularization
Substandard

Doubiful

Bad

Collective mpainment

Regular

Follow up

Fallow up and regulursraiion
Substandard

Doubiful

Bad

Collective impairment

2016
(Frass tinrealised lmpairment Ner
halance interest aflowances bafusice
LL milffion LL milfion LL miition LL mlllfen
€,9700,892 . - 6,970,892
539426 - - 539,426
197,356 - - 197,356
£9.985 {3,757) . 64,228
199,512 (24,801} 150,995) 94,016
100,689 {23406} (77,183 :
S078. 160 (53.064) {158,278} THAS, 918
(78.643) . - (78,643}
7995517 (53,964) T158,278) BN TRIE

2003
Ciross Linrealised Tmpeirment Not
balance ilerest alfowmices heelrice
LL million LE mallion L wiifien L militon
6, 559 000 - - 6,589, 114
534,207 - - 534,207
305928 - ins 028
6380 {B40) . 5540
181,388 (13,226) 171,748} D6hA104
178,595 (B6_605) (11 1.950% -
7,795 408 (80,671 {1%3,738) 7331080
[131.448) - - (131 448)
7,664,050 (BET1) (183,738} 1109 641
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Byblos Bank SAL S o
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2016

A0 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
S0.2 CREDIT RISK (continuedd)

Renegotiated loans

Restructuring activity aims to manage customer relationships, maximize collection epportunities and, if possible,
avoid foreclosure or repossession. Such activities include extended payment arrangements, deferring foreclosure,
modification, lpan rewrites andior deferral of payments pending a change in circumstances,

Restrucluring policies and practices are based on indicators or criteria which, in the judgement of local management,
indicate that repayment will probably continue, The application of these policies varies acearding o the nature of the
market and the tpe of the favility,

2014 23
EL miflion LE million
Commercial loans M.517 T8.445

Analysis of risk concentration

The Group's concentrations of risk are managed by client/ecounterparty. by geographical region and by industry
sector, The maximum credit exposure to any client or counterparty as of 31 December 2016 was LL 120,630 million
(2013: LL 128,830 million) before taking account of collateral or other eredit enhuncements and nil (201352 nil) net
of such protection.

The following tables show the maximum exposure o credit risk for the components of the statement of financial
position, including derfvatives, by geography of counterparty before the effect of mitigation through the use of
netting and collateral agreements.

Geagraphic aralysis
2014
Lebunon Euwrope Ciliers Totaf
LI mfition  LL miltfen  LL miflfion  LEL milifen
Talances with central hanks 8,304,723 70,120 158,524 8531667
[Crue front banks and financial institutions 63,084 91078 L6EOGRT 2657420
Loans to banks and financial instiiutions dnd reverse repuichase
agreemants 780,495 48,103 135,468 A64,066
Financial assets given as collateral 234,044 - - 4,044
Derivative linancial instruments 1,935 210 1,565 4,420
Frevercial assers ai fair value theauwgh prrafit or loss:
Lebanese weasury bills ME.022 . - MR, 022
Certificates of deposil issued by the Central Bark of Lebanon 428,572 - - 428,572
Dbt securities issued by banks and limaneial instilutions 3 787 1,726 2513
Net fomis amf aivances fo customers et amariiced cost
Coammercial [oans 4,335,119 184,356 550,852 5,074,327
Consumer leans 2,576,999 42,708 93,241 LT12 948
et loans and sdvances to related parties at amortized cost 19,554 87 583 20,714
Debtors by scceplances 193,664 2,312 17,807 223,583
Froanotal assets af amartized cost:
Lebanese treasury hills 4,757 484 - < 4757484
Centificates of deposit 1ssued by the Ceniral Bank af Lebanon 4,482,042 - 4,482,042
Foreign govermmemal debt secunties - 138013 - 138,113
Diebi securilies issued by banks and financial institutions - 5477 - 5477
Corporate honds - 635 - 635
Cerificates of deposit 1ssued by banks and financial instiutions 33218 - - 33,128

26,513,565 1407186 2,650,833 30,581,584
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Byblos Bank SAL
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2016

0 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
50.2 CREDIT RISK {contimuedd)
Analysis of risk concentration (continued)
Ceagraphic aralysis fventinued)

Jiifa

Lehanan Enrape hhéis Frvtad
LEwmillien DL tfion  LLaither L mriflion

ralances with central banks 6722013 50050 203722 6975985
e from hanks and financial nsiiations 112,437 | DE3.743 1,322 183 2,518,365
Loans to banks and financial instilutions and reverse repurchase
AETECMENIE 942 430 35,001 bl R 1197047
Finaneinl assets given as collateral 1405 - - | 05
Dierivitive NMinancial instruments 1140 342 i6 |, 844
Finenelal asseis al fiir value through prafit e foss:
Lebanese treasury lls 227,004 - - 227,004
Cenificates of deposit issued by the Central Bank of Lebanon 2774 - : 27,714
Debt securities issucd by banks and financial institutions . 757 1,683 2,440
Corporate bonds . . 3018 3018
New boans and advimices to customers at armetized cost
Commercial lxans 4,020,708 134,142 45 869 4,900,719
Consumer [eans 23141,369 42,842 34,711 24984922
el loans and adyvances to related paries at amormzed cost 13,981 291 1,043 35,275
Drehitnrs by peceplonces 203,734 9544 a7 X, 05
Fimgneiod avsers af pmorlized con
Lebaiese teasuiy bills 5852407 - . 5852407
Centificates of deposit issued by the Central Bank of Lebanon 4,274,429 - . 4274429
Foreign governmental debl secunties - G2 581 12691 125,272
Dbt securities issued hy hanks and financeal institutions - 73,096 152,119 235215
Corporate bonds - an7 3097 . 004
Centificates of deposat issued by baziks and financial instiutions 35187 . * 33,187

24814058 1523796 2813103 29,150,957

50.3 LIQUIDITY RISK AND FUNDING MANAGEMENT

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group, though solvent, either does not have suflficient linancial resources available
o enable it to meet 15 obligations when they fall due, or can secure them only ot an excessive cost, The Group's
peicy with regards to the Hquidity risk management is cenmered on a conservative approach, whereby the liquidit is
managed strongly in nermal times and adequate liguidity buffers are maintained, in & way that enables the Group 1o
withstand a prolonged period of ligquidity stress,

Mel immediate cash and near cash in foreign currencies are held at sight in prime international banks 1 keep the Met
Immediate Liguidity above the defined tolerance level by the Board of Directors. at all fimes.

In September 2005, the Group has updated its Liquidity Risk Policy to include Liquidity Standards such as the
Liguidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) and the Met Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR), based on Basel 111 and own consenvative
assumptions, The LCR is kept well above the established internal minimum, ensuring that the Group maintains High
CQuality Liguid Assets (HQLAsY bath in local ond forelgn currencies, which allow the Group te cover more than
100% of a potentinlly stressed net outflow in a liquidity erisis based on severe internal estimates and haireuts, The
NSFR is designed to ensure that long tlerm assets are funded with at least a minimum amount of stable résources in
retbation 1o Their liquidity characteristics,

Mareover, the policy defined a set of Early Warning Indicators (EWIs) alomg with other liquidiey ratios and
monitoring toals that are continwously sereened by Senior Management and the Board of Direetors,
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Byblos Bank SAL

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2016

50 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

50.3 LIQUIDITY RISK AND FUNDING MANAGEMENT (continued)

The Group stresses the imponance of customer deposits as source of funds o fnance s lending activities, This
is monitored by vsing the leans to deposits rasio, which compare loans and advances to customers 4s a percentoge

of depaosits frem customers,

Loans to deposits

Year-enil
Maximum
Minimuny
Average

Analvais of fuiciol assets ond Nabifities by remaining contractid naturities
The table below summarizes the maturily profile of the Group's financial assets and liabilities a1 31 December 2016
and 2015 based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations. Repavments which are subject to natice are
treated as if notice were to be given immediately. However, the Group expects that many customers will not request
repayment on the earliest date the Group could be required to pay. The table does not reflect the expected cash Mows
thatare in line with the Group's deposit relention history,

Finangial assels

Cash and balances with cenrral banks

Due from banks and financial instiunsn

Loant 1o banks and financial institunions and reverse
repurchase agreemants

Finzrial assets given as collatecal

Prerivative finangia) instruments

Firanceal arets a1 Fain viadue thropgh profinor foss

et bnang and advances fo custormers at ametized cosl

Metloans and advancs fo relsted parties at amanized cosi

Debtors by acceptances

Financial assets a1 amortized cost

Financial assets &1 fals value throogh other compeehenaine
in<arme

Total undiscounted financisl assets

Financial Habilities

e 40 ceniral barks

[uz 1o baiks and firancial instioations
[Derivanve Tinancial instruments

Customess’ depoiits at amoriized cost
Diepasits frony relaned parties a1 amortized cost
Dt sssued and pther bormowed funds
Erpagerments by acceplances

Subordivated debt

Total undlcounted finaniial liabilities

Nel andiscounted fnane sl asseds | {Habilities)

24116

30.29%
30.29%
29.19%
29.69%

2013

29.64%
29920,
29.26%
29,5204

26

tpra lwld 3 mavrihs Feo § her
I meaath it o pear years fyedrs Total
LL miiffion L miiflon  LE miillign EE milion  LE mition  LE millicn
1,551,462 B4 L173EE3 3T02866 45954800 11,927,947
2148400 511,382 80,287 9,596 MY 2650838
96,334 24,350 97,578 17,845 © 9BE2EI
. - 17,351 64,161 136,652 318,105
1859 369 1,192 - . 4410
TR AT 178,433 1503 6310 L4153 R18d66
3,213,783 156,043 1ISEM LISAISE 1, T44150 R 73S 0N8
11,534 617 913 1,530 7,368 11,982
60,943 B7.316 63,108 12,516 - p13EE3
123,661 SE0066  LU6LA88  SI9N14D 5196700 12,240,155
. - U (] S TIE R 0 1T
7893417 LADRRIG 3966668 10468401 11,195467 3B007,750
1174 1,517 17343 I0460 245631 3upazd
341,787 74,087 121465 110,956 73778 RILOTO
1,606 (3] 431 ) . 3,108
1397680 3132430 5188030 3,250,301 454281 26,101854
138,818 5347 116,932 32,589 5416 403102
: - 658 554187 ~  SE5415
£1,343 47,316 63,108 12,516 - 113583
. 7,157 21,371 NS00 4473008 590,939
14524129 3411327 5720338 416093 L2811 19,000,193
(6,630,708} (1L008506)  (1,753,6T0)  TRSLADG 11067056 8926487
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31 December 2016

i RISK MANAGEMENT {continued)

50.3  LIQUIDITY RISK AND FUNDING MANAGEMENT (continued})

Amalvsis af financial assels o fiabiliies by remaining comvactial matarities (continued)

Finameial assets

Cash and balances with central banks

e from banks and financial institutions

Lo bo banks 2nd francial inenbations and reverse
repurchase agreemients

Finaneial azsety given as collateral

Derivative financial instrume s

Firaneial assets af fair value through profit or loss

Wit loans and advances (o cutkomens st amortieed cost

Wet loans and advances to related partics ot ammorthed cost

Deebbors by acdeptances

Finangial aszets ar amoized cosl

Financial assets ar fair value through other comprebaniv
LESE B

Total undiscounted linane ial assets

Financial Habitities

[ o centiad banks

D o banks and fimancial insiutions
Deérvative fEnancial instruznents

Customens” deposite ot amortieed cos

D posits from related partics st anoniedd cosl
b issued and other berrowed funds
Engagemants by aeceplinne

Subordinated debt

Toral undiscormed fnanceal nhilies

Nt undiseounted financial asets | Hahilines)

20

8 did Jmanths 1o 3 (her
| mainih nrsithy fir | yenr Jasfs 5 yvors Toral
T il EE milion Lo L milen LLdilien DL ewlifen
1.817,126 305,626 EOTRS9E  2A3E11T 0 3364410 0143878
2212385 158 783 & 400 £ REEE] 2518915%
Rl 94,147 531673 11,240 1,206,140
- - 1% 1,387 1ADS
771 E 136 - i 15814
bzl 3054 13115 126457 lin 1 o Adh 464
3195437 486,741 1,223,752 1871022 1369950 B 159011
18,682 14032 6,370 | 678 TAIR 36 55
94,842 et el i T5945 . E 244,705
178,996 N7, 533 1483336 6561230 5267321 13668417
- 10 807 inn.snt
BOBEDI0 LAW2A10 4414384 11219479 10314031 35339044
12,301 |42 |6,212 59,748 kL%l 122,040
3578348 67 738 103357 162 491 06,332 87,807
1,22 1,043 &2 - . 2445
140,040, 164 3075 002 4,531,504 3.0203.710 ADX0B0 25262 660
2RB,210 15 208 100932 42,2114 5152 455726
. . A a5E 116,630 460,412 G1E 700
D542 T4.217 73916 . - 244,708
- TAZ 21453 114821 498 395 642190
14.791473 3,146 261 5175140 3,529,787 1390698 1K 136363
(A0 TEAR9692  R023333 7303 8A2

16,705,533)  (LESAR20)

The wble below shows the contractual expicy by motarity of the Group’s contingent labilities and commitments.
Each undrawn loan commitment is included in the time band containing the earliest date it can be drawn down.

2008

Less ihan | Find Frof2 Hra s Mare than
i th miaiths mienihs pedars S yeurs Toral
EL mltilon L siftfen LL mitiion L milteni LL nrififomn LL miliifon
Financal guarantees - 63 14,711 103,093 62 217,934
Documeniary credils 211 166,831 145,585 13054 - 345,652
Copsmtments o lend 1079622 - - - 2979421
1999831 166898 260,296 116,147 62 3,543,238

2005

Less than | Fio d dwd2 Iios Aore than
e monihn mianths VRS 5 yeirrs Tl
LE orittion LL wiflion LL malliom Li miltion LE milison LL miffian
Financial guarantzcs B4 108,205 F5.R74 ik 205,966
Drocumentany credits 11,827 190,858 163 336 21034 - 388 655
Comnmiments to lend 2,355,807 - - . 2355807
2,368,458 190,458 272541 118908 fid _2.9SI}_EZB

The Group expects that notall of the contingent Habilities or commitments will be demanded before maturity.
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50 RISK MANAGEMENT {continued}
0.4 MARKET RISK

Market risk is defined as the potential oss in both on balance sheet and aff-balance sheet positions resulling from
maovements in market variables such as interest rates, toreign exchange rates and equity prices,

The market risk governance has been defined in the Security Investment Policy, which defines the roles and
responsibilities of the key stakeholders of market risk management, including the Board, the ALCO commiitee,
the business lines and risk functions,

It is the responsibility of the ALCO 1o manage the Group's invesiment portfolio under the terms of the Security
[mvestment Polies. While siriving 1o maximize portfolio performance, the ALCO shall keep the management of
the partfolio within the bounds of good banking practices, satisly the Group's liquidity needs, and ensure
complinnce with both regulatory and internally set limits and requirements,

The Group Risk Management division sets the framewark necessary for identification, measurement and
management of markel risk.

Interest rate risk

[nterest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will afTeet the fair values of the financial
instruments. The Group is exposed to interest rate risk as a result of mismatches of interest rate re-pricing of assets
and Habilities. The Group manages the risk by matching the re-pricing of assets and liabilities through risk
management sirategics. Positions are monitored on a daily basis by management and, whenever possible, hedging
strategies are used (o ensure positions are maintained within established limits. The Group measures interest rate
risk through applying varying scenarios of increase and decrease of market interest rates and assessing their impact
on net interest income (Eamings’ perspeclive) and eapital (Eeansmic Value perspective). In 2015, the Bank has
revised the interest rate risk policy o set new internal gap limits for local currency and foreign currencies. The
Group has prudentially set an intemal Pillar 2 capital charge against interest rate risk,

fnterest Fafe sensitiviny

The following table shows Lhe sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other varigbles
held constant, of the Group's income statement,

The sensitiviey of the income statement is the effect of the assumed changes in interest rates on the profit or loss
for a year, based on the Meating rate financial assets and financial liabilities and to the reinvestment or refunding
of fixed rated linancial assets and Habilities at the assumed rates, The change in interest income is caleulnled over
a l-year perind, The impact also incorporates the fact that some monetary items do not immediately respond 10
changes in interest rates and are not passed through in full, reflecting sticky interest rale behaviour. The pass-
through rate and lng in response time are estimated hased on historical statistical analysis and are reflected in the
pulcome.

2016 2013
Inerease Effect on net Effect on net
Currency In basis points interest fncome inferest income
LL million LE mitlion
LBP 50 basis paint {20,705) 22,793)
LS Dollar 500 basis point 1,165 1,326
Ewro 30} basis paimt {1,170y 1316)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANC IALET.*:TEMENTS
31 December 2016

50 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
a4 MARKET RISK (continued)
Interest rate risk (continued)

Diterest rate sensitivity fconttatied)

The Group's interest sensitivity position based on the contractual re-pricing date at 31 December was as follows:

2008
Nen
inferest
Lptad lied 3 months fras thier bearing
manih HONIAE fo f year yrars Syears items Total
LEmiititan  LLwmiton  LLmitfton  BLmitfon  LEpefttfen LL mithen  LL millfon
ASSETS
Cashand halances with central banks 38,665 221625 FI0025 1AM 411 3546721 06543 B,TRADOZ
e from banks and finangial instiutions 1,258,315 £19,850 79,746 9915 103 TER. A9 2657429
Lisans to banks and financial institutions and
MeNErse pepurchase agreements Ta5.622 54,237 05,962 17,696 - 549 964,066
Finaneial assets given as collatenl - . - 1,387 121,000 1,657 224,044
Derivative financial instruments " - - - - 4420 4,420
Firang ial asgats @l fair value through profinor lpss - < " - - TED, 172 TH,IT2
Net loans and advances 1o costomers &t amoided
(el 3112058 6942135 LITTASE LAT408) 146,275 183,372 7787175
Nt Joans and advances torefoted panies at
amoriized cost 11,807 1.277 237H 361 4,891 n7i4
Drebiors by goce plince - - . - . 113,683 213,583
Financial assets al amonized cost T9.781 412,023 T40.196  AAFLISD 4.509.200 135,524 2416979
Firaneial azsets at fair value thirou gh olher
comprehensive income - - - o - 101,305 101,308
Total 5,806,258 TA9247 4025680 TMMTI06  ES528.204  3265H18 30,972,379
LIABILITIES
Due to central banks 63l 1816 12,626 86,148 J6.433 4,067 33N
Due 1o banks and financial insoitutions TER.830 13379 13270 119,584 e, AT72 123,059 774,098
Drenvative finanen] instruments - - . . . 1,106 LG
Customers” deposits at amomized cost 1,262,765 R36856 4808957 3,158,136 376,972 LOTIEIN 25415634
Deposite from related parties ol amortized cost 104,927 8582 217,435 15712 1018 0,353 366,027
Db tssued and other bomrowed funds " . - 443,456 - Gl6 14472
Engagements by acceplances - - - = » 113,881 213,843
Subardinated debt N - ' - 420,00 164 420,165
Tol 11627203 321633 SITLEIS 38036 LO9EO0R6 3046066 27.976.953
2,945,426

Todal ntesest sensiivily gap (2730945 (LOI2.386) (1,146,160) -3,11519'.”] T A3 198 219,749
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L11] RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
50.4 MARKET RISK (continued)
Interest rate risk {continued)

fnierest raie sensitivity feontivmed)

2015
Non
nterest
Ligprad lra3 3 oty Frod her bearing
manth menths ta | year Fears Syears flewms Total
LI miition FLomithon  LEmitMen  LLmiMian  BL millioe  LLmillien DL million
ASSETH
Cash and balances with central banks 3934914 278,558 T39431 1732125 2607941 L263913 7216237
[ue from banks and financial institutions 1,426,515 198,624 Qg 799 B.247 203 TREOTT 2518365
Leans 1o banks and financal institutions and
reverse mepurchase agreements 564 B83 B3613 523 433 10,221 - 48717 L 197047
Fimancial assets given as collateril . . | 387 . I8 1.405
Dertvative fingncial instiments - - - - - 1,844 1,844
Financial assets at far value through prafitor foss - - . . - 295 845 205 845
Wet foans and advances to customers 3l amaonized
COsl 3,209,764 TR202 0 2330003 1,001,020 193,876 ey 7399040
Nt [oans and advances to related parties al
amortized cost 19,660 1.346 6,058 1.272 6,801 108 35275
Debtors by acceplances . - . - - 44,705 244705
Financial asseis at amorized cost 134.494 134765 QUe T3 A T0.06T 4352 685 57,700 10,516,514
Fimancial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income . . . . . 101,907 101 507
Twital 5940257 | 421038 4A15904 402653 7061306 2907727 29 548 78S
LIABILITIES
Due to central banks 481 1422 115 571048 17448 11,900 117412
Do b banks and financaal mstitutions 221929 fifh 164 111,731 138,667 £%.243 187,720 T4, 554
Dervalive financial instruments . . . - . 2445 2445
Custamers’ deposits at amortized cost 11,167 352 25997348 4651239 24956538 243893 2892948 24654308
Deposits from related parties at amegtized cost 250194 17,623 93.721% 215 548 2on 30,769 425749
Debr isaued and other borowed funds = - 5 - 444,583 a6 445,199
Engagements by acceplunices . . . . » 244,705 244,705
Subordinated deb E . & 3 417257 163 417400
Tatal |1 645596 IOREGST 4RGSR0 2007821 1237292 30N 2A4 27051852
Total interest «énsitvity gap (5.607739) (16612190 1240926) 4575132 5924204 [303539) 2496973

Currency risk

Foreign exchange {or currency) risk is the tisk that the value of a portfolio will fall as a resull of changes in
foreign exchange rates, The major sources of this type of market risk are imperfect corretations in the movements
of currency prices and Muctuations in interest rates, Therefore, exchange rates and relevant interest rates are
acknowledged as distinet risk factors.

In addition 1o regulatory limits, the Board has set limits on positions by curreney. These positions are monilored
constantly 1o ensure they are maintained within established limits.
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S0 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
S04 MARKET RISK (continueid)
Currency risk {continued)

Following is the consolidated siatement of financial position as of 31 December 2016 detailed in Lebanese Lira
(L1} and foreign currencies, translated into LL,

20148
Forelgn
cirrencles In Tatal

EL mitlian LI millfien EL millian
ASSETS
Cash and balances with central barks 1,621,537 6,161,555 8,783,052
e from barks and firancial institutions ELRE 1623582 1,657,419
Loans (o banks and financial institutions wnd reverse repurchase agreements J01,530 662536 964,066
Finzangial assets guven as callateral 114,044 - 224,044
Darivative financial instiuments 3943 177 4420
Financial assa1s ol fuir value through profin of lsss 721,562 66,610 745,172
Wet Inans and advances 1o customers st amonized cost 2071913 5715342 7787275
Wet toans-and advances o related parlies al amortized cosi 1,159 18,525 10,714
Dehtors by eoceptsnces . 123,853 111,883
Financial assets at anmonized cost 5,183,758 4233221 416,579
Financia! asse1s ot fair valee through olber comprehensive income 31470 6Y.RIS 101,305
Property and equipmeni 122156 24939 247,095
Imangible asiets 340 - 350
Asscts obiained in settlement of debi (8,353) 31,692 43,199
Orher assels B0, 506 19,532 110,438
TOTAL ASSETS . e

T 491,542 19,852, 049 31,373,591
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Thse to ceniral banks 330,552 2,419 332971
Duse to banks and Ninancisl insiutions 19,369 T44.726 TT4095
Deerivative financizl instrumenits 1.561 545 20106
Custormers” deposits al amorized cost 9,491, 450 15,923,754 A5 4156M
Dieposits from related parties et amartized cost 72,248 193,779 366,027
Drebit isaved and other Borrowed [unds - 444,072 144,072
Engagement by accepiances . 213,583 213,883
Other liabalitees 168,525 131,288 30813
Provestons for nisks and charges 162,139 13,251 275,390
Subordinated debe - 420,165 410,165
TOTAL LIABILITIES 10,456,274 18,197,882 18,654,156
EQUITY ATTRIREUTARLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
Share capital —comman sharnes 654,273 - 684,273
Share capital — prefemed shares 4,840 - 4,840
Share premium - common shares - 129,014 219014
Share premium « preferced shares » 591,083 591083
Nondistributable reserves 451,800 391,530 843,320
Distributahle resarves B4,178 19,071 103,246
Treasury shares . (5061 {5,161}
Retained eamings 68,067 (549 67,518
Revaluation reserve of real estate 5680 - 5689
Change {n fair value of financial assets al far value thiouzh other compeehensive
income 21,027 130,108) (9,081}
Mt resulis of the financial penod -+ prolii 42,408 190,264 131672
Foaredgn cuméncy translation feserves (65.341) - {65,041}
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 19,497 T 866 17,363
TOTAL EQUITY 1,326,433 1,395,000 2,719,435

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 11,782,700 19,590,452 31,373,391
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&0 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

S04 MARKET RISK (continued)

Currency risk (continued)

Following is the consolidated statement of financial position as of 31 December 2015 detailed in Lebanese Lira

{LLY ond foreign currencies, translated into LL.

204
Faregign o
CAFFENCies in Taral
LL milfica LI miltion LL miliion
ASSETS
Cashand batances with central hanks 1 606 60 5628630 7.236,237
Dhu from banks and finencial melifutions 19443 24718922 2518365
Loans to banks and financial institutions and reverse repurchase sgreemams 1333 1154714 L 197,047
Firancial asseis given as collateral 1405 - 1,405
Derivative financial instrements 1,320 E¥E | 1544
Firancial assets a1 (air value though profit or foss 33,02 257,783 295,845
M loans and adviarces 1o customers at amertized cost 1,815,180 3,584,401 7309641
Met loans and advarces o related parlies at amorized cost 2.2 33055 35275
ebtors by scceplances ({h 234 605 244,705
Firancial assets ot amortized cost 1317616 3,198 598 10,516,514
Financial assets al fair value through other comprehensive meame 18,50 13,016 101,907
Propeity und equipment 207,071 A& 034 155175
Intangible assels 423 - 493
Ascets obiained In settlement of debt (5, 248) 51,254 42 0046
(iher asseis 63,713 33158 108,01
TOTAL ASSETS ——l
I'1,121.400 18 833,010 19,954 410
LIABILITIES AMD EQUITY
Due o central banks 106,130 11.282 nr41z
Due o banks and financial institutiens 18 460 116094 T4 554
Derivative financial instruments 1,897 548 2445
Customers” depasits at amonized cost 9616,252 [ 5,038 146 14,654 398
D posits from related parties ot amosticed cos 101,929 323E20 425749
[Debt bssued and oiher bamowed funds . 445159 445199
Engagement by acceplances L] 244,605 244,705
Onher Habilities 87,711 50,556 147,567
Provisions for risks and charges 144645 26,593 171,538
Subordinated det - 417,400 417400
TOTAL LIABILITIES 10,077,424 17,293 543 27,370,967
EQUITY ATTRIBUTARBLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
Share capital - commen shares 684,273 fE4273
Share capilal — preferred shares 4,840 3 4840
Share prémium - common shares - 229014 229,014
Share premium — prefermed shares . 300081 591 083
Non distrbutable reserves 606, %08 INRATh B15 884
Disinbutable rescrves T8, 547 10,664 99211
Treasury shares . {6,807 (52073
Relained earnings 48 590 13,242 il B32
Revaluation reserve of real estate 5689 - 3689
Change in fmrvalae of Mirancial assets 41 f&ir value through other comprehensive
ingome 18,863 [26,824) (7.561)
et results of the financial penod - profis 210125 1 8,060 228185
Foreign curmency ranstalion ressmves (193,842} - (193.842)
NON-CORNTROLLING INTERESTS 254597 46,545 12,042
TOTAL EQUITY 1,489 450 1,093,553 2583443
TOTAL LIABILITIFS AND EQUITY 115665914 18,387 496 29934310
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L] RISK MANAGEMENT {continued)
50.4 MARKET RISK (continued)
Currency risk (continued)

Crane 'S SEHSHIVIEY ta clirvency exchange rates

The tahle below shows the currencies 1o which the Group had significant exposure at 31 December on its
monetary assels and liabilities and its forecasted cash flows. The analysis caleulates the effect of a reasonably
possible movement of the vurrency rate against the Lebanese Lira, with all other variables held constant, on the
income statement (due 1o the potential change in fair value of currency sensitive monetary assets and liabilitics)
and equity {due to the impact of cwrrency translation gainsosses of consalidated subsidiaries). A negative
amount reflects a potential net reduction in income while a positive amount reflects a net potentlal increase,

2016 2013
Chantge bn - Effect on profit Effect on Effect on profit Effect an
Currency cirrency rafe hefore tax el before fax aqrity
% LL miftfen LE miflion LEmiltion 1L miilion
LS Dollar 1 191 - 671 -
Furo i1 (2) 1,261 a7 1,285

Equity price risk

Fauity price risk is the risk that the fair value of equities decreases as a result of changes in the level of equity
indices and individual stocks. Equity price risk exposure arises from equity securities classified at fair value
through profit or loss and ot fair value theough other comprehensive income, A 5 per cent increase in the value of
the Group’s equities &1 31 December 2006 would have increased other comprehensive income by LL 2,219
millien and net income by LL 2,003 million (20015: LL 2,412 million and LL 1,783 million respectively). An
equivalent devrease would have resulted in an equivalent bul opposite impact.

Frepayment risk
Prepayment risk is the risk that the Group will incur a financial loss because s customers and counterparties
repay or request repayment carlier or later than expected, such as fixed rate mortgages when interest rates fall,

Market risks that lead to prepayments are nol material with respect 1o the markets where the Group operates.
Accordingly, the Group considers prepayment risk on net profits as not material after considering any penalties
arising from prepayments.

505  OPERATIONAL RISK

Operational risk is the risk of loss arising from inadequate or failed internal processes, people, systems, or from
external events (including tegol risksy. When contrals il 1o pecform, operational risks can cause damage to
reputation, have legal or regulatery implications, or lead to financial fesses.

To reduce operational risk, the Group has developed an Operational Risk Management framework with the
objective of ensuring that operational tisks within the component of the framework Is a set of core operational risk
risk policies designed to ensure thal eperational risk has proper governance, and that it is maintained at an
acceptable level with a controlled and sound operating environment. The operational risk publications and
puidelines were placed on the Bank's intranet site for quick access and referrals. The critical operational risk
issues were handled by a separate Operational Risk Committee which meetings are attended by business lines
Senior Managers including the Chief Risk Cificer and the General Manoger.
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&0 RISK MANAGEMENT {continued)
50,5 OPERATIONAL RISK {continued)

The framework for managing and comm]ling operational risks encompass various tools including Risk and
Control Assessment (RCA)Y operational risk event reporting and loss database monagement and key risk
indicators (KRIs), The RCA is performed by each business and support unit to identify key operational risks anid
assess the degree of effectiveness of internal contrals. Inadeguate controls are subject 1o action plans thal will help
track and timely resolve deficiencies. This teol is subject 10 a proactive approach to minimize operational risk
loss, This is reflected in the aperational risk assessment of new products/activitica’syslems, protective information
security and Business Continuily Planning, granular risk analysis for its operating/existing activities, and
CONlINUOUS AWAreness sessions.

Operational risk events are elassified In accordance with Basel standards and include significant incidents that
nuay impacl the Group's profits and reputations for further mitigation and aveidance. As 1o key risk indicators,
they are being established to facilitate the operational risk monitoring in a forward looking manner with pre-
defined escalation triggers. The Group gives particular attention (o preventive measures when it comes (o
aperational risk management and has established comtinuing training and awareness pragrams o fulfill them.

Ihe Greup's operational risk mitigation program invelves botl husiness continuity management and insurance
managentent progran, whereby the former is seb (o oversee the business continuity of essential business service
during unfareseen events mainky husiness discuption and system failures evenls - with enterprise wide impact -
along with nmural disasters and terrorism! vandalism events. As to the latter the Group purchases group wide
insurance policies o mitigate significant losses. These policies cover fraud, property damage and general liability,
and Director™s and officers” lability.

51 MATURITY ANALYSIS OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The table below shows an analysis of assets and liabilities analvsed according to when they sre expected to be
recovered or settled.

0l
i Phan 0 mmonihi Fhoer [T meanths
Ly o et 3 monihs Fin§ iher

e TR R AT I menth manthe bel yedr Yatal et LETTH Tersl Tadal
ASSETE
Cash and bialarces with ceccnal Sanks BEATERE  EMGANT ATA 4] RAGLELS TMALE BEEEA6T SR194T3 8783000
Tras fepen barks and fawndial tnstitoticng TOATAYE 510,464 a9 247630 9,856 o L] 978 1657410
Loyt Baek s and Enangial Hsritociosa grd revere

reparchEse amsammin T, 182 LERET] P02 F45.470 19,654 - 17494 551085
Pimsngial aseets giver as colecersl - - 1450 1,68 1,487 131008 132307 FRENOT]
Denvarive-financial irsirumenis 1A58 I 1,003 4410 - - 4 4410
Finsngial abgets o fir viles through profic of loss T3AM 165,524 107 505 435518 10L987 LT 350 648 TERITE
Wt lowrs mnd adh amces o oustome s @ erarived gl HI0pE9 410629 b3, 145 S48 50 1R L AT 8 ANHLASD T TRTETA
Mot lowns end edvanaes 1o rel aoed parive a0 wmontioed o 11,530 6l Hil 11943 1,084 717 T 1a.T1d
Dwbtors by scgeprinces &0.24) 21AL6 63,108 1003467 IL51& - 15518 115,543
Eanandigl asspty o amohised cosd 9558 ASR0AS FIEAN 1,258 516 FA0LIAT  ASIS061  RIEIAY  FA1AATH
Faranala! assatn al Tile valud thresgh cahit compriehmane

] - - - - - 101, 502 101 340k 100,308
Property ard equipmers - - - - - PR R J47,0E TS
Iramsgibile masets - - - - - LLL 50 RET]
Assets obtined In sl of dibil - - - - - a1 4110 45,340
Crhar Basels 1335 = LR B3ATT - 21060 IS TH0,438
TOTAL ARSETS TALLA0E  BIMY 440 BIRAEET 13 ROTHID THERINE W00LTA 1816577 3IATasE
LIABILITIES
[hue o gorrad barks 1AM P | L3202 18455 745 116643 EIERLH 33297
Do b ban'ss mnd finandaal intuniees 33RAT6 T3,7TE 174, BEE 258,039 119,584 &6.471 I 56,056 T4
Dreri i v fieancial mstruedegs L4 &9 a3 BT . . E FRTS
Cusbocrtrs dopasii ol armsitinsd cos 13786913 BATOSSE 4RGN 4N DLATEOSN 155008 ATy AEMLEEL IR 583
Diepeaith froe velsed partins o assrined cost (RIS #1031 2107 804 381,358 13712 LT 14.70%  Msdrt
Dbt rwued and olter borrowrd furds a N &4 #16 440,556 . [TRw LY wanTy
Engegernents by secephances [ ER BT 36 AN [ 211,567 1L818 . 11214 113483
Ocher Hakelities 21145 1847 1B5.60 I ALE 126,843 3,508 16545 309813
Pravisions for nsks and tharges = - - - ] 118 A 184 175350
Subardinaded debe - 153 408 i - 9.5 05 020,168
TOTAL LIABILITIES 14,382381  J3ERGSE SSAT.R09 DN DERJAS JBEN0LT  LADLERL EIESSID Inecq Q%
1 (BARTATS  (LETE, 005 (244094  [N0,0ED 32 400000 BT99RAY 11THREE 2719435
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51 MATURITY ANALYSIS OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES {continued)

FTE]
L3t theaw 12 meachiy Cher £ monihs.
ipds 3 Fmecachy Jixd [har

hwionsn i L0 mdiliiag 1 ik b B d pear Tl e Fapar Tt Tezal
ASSETS
Caih and balvrces with central banks | 3a% ke 155849 WG| 1RAT 04 1,733,644 1AIS 53T 434017 T X IT
D i orn barks wd fosral lestittions 38R | 5E 50 34 23098 B8 ] £450  25]%95%
Leins o barks and fnascisl inatitors 2o revecse

iparch 8¢ agreetnm i S58.68] o3 80% 524340 0 | LEEAL (e ]} - L L] A A =5 T4
Finansial axiste giiven o colliberd - - |8 18 1,187 - 1,187 b 405
Derivatiove Fnancinl ingtrunigros 77 217 1346 [543 ) " . = L RCEE |
Fumancial ascets xt feir vaboe theoogh profit of ks ] 2,002 1,519 1,514 83,174 208157 291,131 2GRS
Net loars and @dvances to cusomers ab-amonired cass (AL et ] MY | RsA0r 4TEIER 1519227 1, |4557% LEASE0e 7369540
Wt Toars ard advinces by relited paries & wererconed oosh L 1,368 4,174 X701 1273 &, 800 BT 827
Dietetirs by sodephingts Gy 583 T T4 844 144504 & = 244108
Funsaial B3seis o wrmrlieed cost 175,459 184,507 QIR 340 ) 40254 4E00040 43T 2R RITRME 105165
Fararsana] iasets i Fuor valoe theoagh other compretentive

|P e . 5 & 1alsar B 507 100 #47
Progerty and squpment ! - P - 255115 254,125 355125
Entasigiisle sieets - . . . . 433 193 [1:}
Axsets obtoined in seitement of deby - - - . £2008 12,006 2006
Chber mesely 13164 1 B gad 3,001 1 18987 15,098 108000
TOTAL ASSETS ”E.EM,DJT LIS ESS 3636270 JA0I518F B.EAZIM  S7E3003F 1592027 250%Al
LEARDLITIES
Dres o gereral banks 12300 1422 9,153 207 LA akgar T 7412
P o baiks and finascial esiaemy 317001 &7, 11% 13514 517 64 1akGa] £5 245 IR0 45844
Penivative firarcial inscnienaris |24 1,143 oS 2455 - - - 2448
Cuiternerns’ deposits o mmastined 608 JOI1948  BDIITE BESSTAE 21 ERE94T LIA02E 250 40S  RSALAN) Ta45409
Deposcis from relsted parties az smonaed (o8 157,590 17,707 91,939 1A% 116 L3613 L] 6513 AZ5. 749
Edelit sgtond and other horrowed fnds - - a5 (153 # BL R 444,558 445,159
Engagements by ateepiances o542 THAT 75,5044 2H4.704 - - - 244708
Db Jabuliaies 7055 | 41 LEREL] e |8 26 £ 514 21,797 147,367
Prawsseond for riiks aedd dbisrges . . - - - 171 538 196,538 171438
Subood mated dabd * 6% ] &3 = 41737 217337 457409
TOTAL LIARILITIER VRN TS X EES325  F0150TH 2RA0r el TEARANT LAIAARR 4588 800 27300

Nel (BTA.736 (1575618 (FITESM (3577279 5 1EB.007 TITLANE BLEE0TD ZRERAMD

52 CAPITAL

By maintaining an actively managed capital base, the Group's objectives are 1o cover risks inherent in the
business, to retain sullicient fimancial strength and fexibility to support new husiness growth, and 10 meel
national and International regulatory capital requirements al all times. The adequacy of the Group’s capital is
monitored using, among other measures, the rules and ratios established by the Ceniral Bank of Lebanon
according o the provisions of Rasic Circular Mo 44, These ratios measure capital adequacy by comparing the
Group's eligible capital with its statement of financial position assets and of-balance sheet commitments at a
wiighted amount to reflect their relative risk,

During 2016, the Central Bank of Lebanon issued intermediary circular no. 436 by which it amended Basic
Circular 44 relmed to the minimum Capital Adequacy Ratios (CAR), These ratios are set o increase gradually
between December 2016 and December 2008 to reach 10.0%, 13.09 and 15.0% for Common Equity Tier 1
(CET1), Tier | and Tetal CAR respectively in 2018, including a capital conservation butfer of 4:5% in 2008, The
following table shows the applicable regulatory capital ratios from end of' 2015 1o end of 2018:

Common Tier | capital

ralio Tier 1 capital ratio Tuotal capital ratio
Year ended 31 December 20135 (*) 8.0% 1005 12.0%
Year ended 31 December 20016 (*) £ 5% 1105 14 0%,
Year ended 3 December 2017 (*) 9.0% 12.0% 14.5%
Year ended 31 December 2018 (%) 10.0% 13.0% L5005

*}  Include Capital Conservation Buller (CCH) This CCR, which will réach 4 535 of risk-weighted sssets by end of 2008 must be met
through Comimon Eguity Tier | capatal
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A2 CAPITAL {continued)
Risk weighted assets

As of 31 December 2016 and 2013, risk weighted assets are as follows:

Risk weighted assets

Regulatary capital

AL 31 December 2016 and 2015, regulatory capital consists of the following:

2016
LL miflion

2005
LL milfion

16,269,178 15,522,429

Tnclucing profit for the year fess

Exelwding profit for the year praposed dividends
2016 015 2016 2015
LL miffion L million LE milfian LL miltion
Commaon Equity Tier 1 capital 1,775,378 1.627,304 1,846,499 1,693,938
Additional Tier 1 capital 506,516 599,578 596,516 590,974
lier 2 capital 615,089 463,603 615,089 465,603
Total capital 2,986,983 2.692,885 3,058,104 2,759,519

Capital adequacy ratio

As of 31 December 2016 and 2015, capital adequocy ratio is ds follows:

Exelding profit for the year

fuchveding profit for ihe year fess
propared divicends

2016 2045 Xl 2043
Commaon Equity Tier 1 capital ratio 10,91 % 10.48% 11.353% 10.91%
Total Tier 1 capital ratio 14.58% 14,35% 15.02% 14.78%
Total capital ratio 18.36% 17.35% 18.80% 17.78%

_ ==

The Group manages its capital structore and makes adjustments fo it in the light of changes in cconomie
conditions and the risk characteristics of its activities. In order 0 maintain or adjust the capital strocture, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividend payment to sharcholders, return capital to sharchalders or issue capital
seeurities. Mo changes were made in the objectives, policies and processes from the previous yeors, however, they

are under constant seruting of the Board,
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53 DIVIDENDS PAID AND PROPOSED

2016 2015
L L wififon L4 milfion

Dividends paid during the vear

Equity dividends on ordinary shares 1.1 200 per share 113,103 113,103
Distributions to preferred shares — 2008 series USS 8.00 per share 24,224 24,224
Distributions 1o prefermed shares — 2009 serics: LSS §.00 per share 24,224 24224
161,551 161,351
Less: dividends en treasury shares {491) {448)
161,060 161,103

Praposed for approval et Annweaf Gemeral Assembly
(ot recognized as a fiahility as at 31 December)

Equity dividends on ordinary shares LL 200 per share 113,103 113,103
Distributions to preferred shares - 2008 series LSS 8.00 per share 24,224 24,224
Distributions to preferred shares — 2009 series: LSS 8.00 per share 24,224 24,22

161,581 161.551

54 COMPARATIVE INFORMATION

Certain deposits o related parties have been reclassified from “Customers’ deposits ot amortized cost™ (o
“Deposits from related parties al amortized cost” in the consalidated statement of financial position. Comparative
amounts of LL 4,033 million have been reclussified accordingly,
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